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PART I

Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the statements contained in this Form 10-K that are not historical facts are "forward-looking statements" which can be identified by the use of terminology such as
"estimates," "projects," "plans," "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "intends," or the negative or other variations, or by discussions of strategy that involve risks and
uncertainties.  We urge you to be cautious of the forward-looking statements, that such statements, which are contained in this Form 10-K, reflect our current beliefs with respect to
future events and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors affecting our operations, market growth, services, products and licenses.  No assurances can be
given regarding the achievement of future results, as actual results may differ materially as a result of the risks we face, and actual events may differ from the assumptions
underlying the statements that have been made regarding anticipated events.  Factors that may cause actual results, our performance or achievements, or industry results, to differ
materially from those contemplated by such forward-looking statements include without limitation:

● Our ability to attract and retain management, and to integrate and maintain technical information and management information systems;
● Our ability to raise capital when needed and on acceptable terms and conditions;
● The intensity of competition; and
● General economic conditions.
 
All written and oral forward-looking statements made in connection with this Form 10-K that are attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their
entirety by these cautionary statements.  Given the uncertainties that surround such statements, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

ITEM 1.    BUSINESS

History

DecisionPoint Systems, Inc., formerly known as Comamtech, Inc. (the "Company”, “DecisionPoint”, “we”, “our” or “us”), was incorporated on August 16, 2010, in Canada under
the laws of the Ontario Business Corporations Act (“OCBA”).  On June 15, 2011, we entered into a Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) among the Company, its wholly
owned subsidiary, 2259736 Ontario Inc., incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada (the “Purchaser”) and DecisionPoint Systems, Inc., (“Old
DecisionPoint”).  Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, under Section 182 of the OCBA, on June 15, 2011 (the “Effective Date”) Old DecisionPoint merged (the “Merger”) into the
Purchaser and became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.  Prior to the Merger, Comamtech was a “shell company” (as such term is defined in Rule 12b-2 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)).  In connection with the Merger, the Company changed its name to DecisionPoint Systems, Inc., and the
Purchaser changed its name to DecisionPoint Systems International, Inc. (“DecisionPoint Systems International”).  On June 15, 2011, both companies were reincorporated in the
State of Delaware. 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Old DecisionPoint from its shareholders in exchange for 4,593,660
shares of our common stock, resulting in an exchange ratio of one share for every eight shares of common stock tendered (1:8).  We also acquired all of the issued and outstanding
Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares and Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares in exchange for 243,750 and 118,750 Cumulative Convertible Preferred
Shares, respectively.  Immediately after the Merger, there were 6,934,412 shares of our common stock outstanding and 243,750 and 118,750 shares of our Series A Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Shares and Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares outstanding, respectively.  In addition, we assumed all of Old DecisionPoint’s obligations
under its outstanding stock option plans and warrant agreements.
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The estimated fair values of the financial assets received and liabilities assumed from Comamtech in the Merger are comprised of the following as of June 15, 2011:
 

Cash  $ 2,361,742 
Note receivable   100,000 
Other receivables   1,488,850 
Other curent assets   150,545 
Accounts payable   (153,450)
     
Net asset value  $ 3,947,687 

 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on or before August 25, 2011, we were to have an audit performed on the balance sheet of Comamtech as of June 15, 2011 (the “Opening
Balance Sheet”).  Prior to August 25, 2011, we prepared a statement (the “Purchase Price Statement”) setting forth our good faith computation of the shareholders’ equity of
Comamtech as of August 15, 2011.  During August 2011, both parties accepted the Purchase Price Statement and agreed to forego an audit.

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, if the final shareholders’ equity balance reflected in the Opening Balance Sheet was less than $7,233,000, then the shareholders of Old
DecisionPoint at the date of the Merger were entitled to receive, on a pro rata basis, common shares according to a schedule set forth in the Merger Agreement.  The final
shareholders’ equity balance reflected in the Opening Balance Sheet was $3,947,687 (see table above) and as a result, we issued the maximum number of additional common
shares of 487,310 to the Old DecisionPoint shareholders on September 30, 2011.  These shares were included in total common shares issued and outstanding as of the Effective
Date of the transaction.  This had the effect of reducing the exchange ratio from one for every eight shares tendered (1:8) to one for every seven point two three shares tendered
(1:7.23273).  The additional common shares have been accounted for as a reduction in the exchange ratio for all of our other securities, including the preferred stock, stock options
and warrants to purchase shares of our securities.

As a result, after the adjustment to the exchange ratio, we had acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Old DecisionPoint from its shareholders by exchanging
36,749,286 of Old DecisionPoint common shares for 5,080,970 shares of our common stock and by exchanging 975 and 380 shares of Old DecisionPoint Series A and Series B
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares, for 269,608 and 131,347 shares of our Series A and Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares, respectively.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements present the previously issued shares of Comamtech common stock as having been issued pursuant to the Merger on June 15,
2011, in exchange for the net assets of Comamtech totaling $3,947,687 as consideration received.  The shares of common stock of the Company issued to Old DecisionPoint’s
stockholders in the Merger are presented as having been outstanding since the original issuance of the shares.  Further, the exchange ratio, as adjusted above, has been retroactively
applied to all share, weighted average share, loss per share, and stock option and warrant disclosures. 
 
DecisionPoint has one wholly owned subsidiary, DecisionPoint Systems International.  DecisionPoint Systems International has two wholly owned subsidiaries, DecisionPoint
Systems Group Inc. (“DPS Group”) and CMAC, Inc. (“CMAC”).  DecisionPoint Systems International acquired CMAC on December 31, 2010.  CMAC was founded and
incorporated in March 1996, and is a logistics consulting and systems integration provider focused on delivering operational and technical supply chain solutions, headquartered in
Alpharetta, Georgia.

DPS Group has two wholly owned subsidiaries, DecisionPoint Systems CA, Inc. and DecisionPoint Systems CT, Inc.  DecisionPoint Systems CA, Inc., formerly known as
Creative Concepts Software, Inc. (“CCS”) was founded in 1995 and is a leading provider of Enterprise Mobility Solutions.  Enterprise Mobility Solutions are those computer
systems that give an enterprise the ability to connect to people, control assets, and transact business from any location by using mobile computers, tablet computers, and
smartphones to securely connect the mobile worker to the back office software systems that run the enterprise.  Technologies that support Enterprise Mobility Solutions include
national wireless carrier networks, Wi-Fi, local area networks, mobile computers, smartphones and tablets, mobile software applications, middleware and device security and
management software.  DecisionPoint Systems CT, Inc. formerly known as Sentinel Business Systems, Inc. (“SBS”) was founded in 1976 and has developed over time a family of
powerful enterprise data collection software solutions, products and services.  The combined company is a data collection systems integrator that sells and installs mobile devices,
software, and related bar coding equipment, radio frequency identification (“RFID”) systems technology and provides custom solutions and other professional services.

Following the Merger, the business conducted by us is now the business conducted by Old DecisionPoint prior to the Merger.
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Overview

DecisionPoint is an enterprise systems integrator that provides mobility systems integration and supply chain systems integration, as well as traditional scanning and mobility
hardware solutions.  We design, deploy and support mobile computing and wireless systems that enable our customers to access enterprise data at the point of decision whether
they are on the retail selling floor, warehouse loading dock or on the road making deliveries.  These systems generally include mobile computers, mobile application software, and
related data capture equipment including bar code scanners and RFID readers.  We also provide professional services including consulting, proprietary and third party software and
software customization as an integral part of our customized solutions for our customers.  Our supply chain systems integration offerings include Warehouse Management Systems
(“WMS”), Transportation Management Systems (“TMS”), Enterprise Resource Planning Systems (“ERP”) as well as legacy systems.  We operate in one business segment.

We deliver to our customers the ability to make better, faster and more accurate business decisions by implementing industry-specific, enterprise wireless and mobile computing
systems for their front-line employees, inside and outside of the ‘four-walls’.  It is these systems which provide the information to improve the hundreds of individual business
decisions made each day.  The “productivity paradox” is that the information remains locked away in their organizations’ enterprise computing system, accessible only when
employees are at their desk.  Our solutions solve this productivity issue.  As a result, our customers are able to move their business decision points closer to their own customers
who in turn, drive their own improved productivity and operational efficiencies.

We accomplish this by providing our customers with everything they need to achieve their enterprise mobility goals, starting with the planning of their systems, to the design and
build stage, to the deployment and support stage, and finally to achieving their projected Return On Investment (“ROI”).  Our business designs, sells, deploys and services voice
and data communications products and systems for private networks and wireless broadband systems for a wide range of enterprise markets, including retail, transportation and
logistics, manufacturing, wholesale and distribution, as well as other commercial customers (which, collectively, are referred to as the “commercial enterprise market”).

Many of our software and systems integration projects are required to stabilize the customer’s existing environment in order to fully capture the intended functionality of the
software application.  Examples of this include Configuration, QA Testing, Volume and Regression Testing as well as Process Improvement and Engineering.  Our team of
experienced resources engages with the customer to provide a “current state” analysis as well as a “future state” roadmap that provides valuable data to executive management to
make critical business decisions.
 

DecisionPoint Offerings
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We deliver a solution that typically consists of a combination of the following:

● specialized mobile computers
● a wireless network infrastructure (or the use of a national wireless carrier)
● specialized mobile application software
● integration software to our customers’ existing enterprise systems, and
● a range of professional services needed to make it all ‘work’
● industry and/or software specific consulting and integration services.

We employ a highly talented and experienced staff of consultants (both in-house and on a contract basis), architects, engineers, and support personnel to guide our customers
through this process to success.

During the business cycle our highly experienced professionals will:

● consult with customers about their business needs
● design the overall enterprise mobile solution to fit the needs
● build or acquire the software needed for the solution
● acquire the wireless and mobile computers needed
● deliver the services to deploy it all, and
● support the system after it has been installed.

Bringing mobile computing to the front-line enterprise worker is orders of magnitude more challenging than delivering similar technology to the consumer.  Unlike the individual
consumer, a business enterprise has significant performance, reliability and security requirements.  In addition, any system must be integrated with the complex enterprise systems
already in place.  Therefore, we must possess the required knowledge and be able to manage a myriad of technical details and nuances to achieve our customers’ desired outcome.

We have developed an ‘ecosystem’ of partners which we bring to every customer situation.  The standout partner in this ecosystem is Motorola Solutions, Inc. (“Motorola
Solutions”) for which we consistently are one of the nation’s top Value Added Resellers (“VAR”).

We provide Enterprise Mobility Solutions to our customers that include hardware and software as well as consulting and solution design, technical and programming services, and
software and support services.  Our hardware suppliers include companies such as Motorola, Zebra Technologies Corporation, Datalogic Scanning, Inc., Intermec Technologies
Corporation, and Datamax — O'Neil, a unit of Dover Corporation.  Software suppliers include companies such as AirWatch, CXT Software, Verifone GlobalBay Mobile
Technologies, Inc., Xata and Wavelink Corporation.  Hardware and software products can be purchased either directly from the manufacturer or from wholesale distributors of
technology products such as Ingram Micro, Inc., ScanSource, Inc. and Blue Star, Inc.  Product availability from suppliers and wholesale distributors can be subject to short term
delays of 30 to 60 days due to significant demand changes, and at times we may have exposure to potential longer term limited product availability due to product recalls or natural
disasters such as the recent tsunami in Japan.  Such product availability issues do not generally affect our ability to compete in the marketplace; rather it may affect our ability to
deliver our solutions on a timely basis.  We purchase most of our hardware from Motorola Solutions since they are the industry leader for ruggedized mobile scanner hardware and
related accessories which they manufacture, but we have the ability to purchase hardware from other suppliers such as Intermec.  Our agreements with suppliers have different
terms than our competitors and as such, we do not want our competitors to have any knowledge of those terms and conditions as it would affect our ability to be competitive in the
market.

We do not engage in any research and development activities.

Major manufacturers and other top partners have come to depend on the VAR channel in order to grow their own businesses.  This is because they cannot cost-effectively
penetrate their target markets alone given the number and variety of ways their product is applied and because of the myriad of complex integration requirements.  They have come
to view their role as providing the best-of-breed wireless and mobile computing technology to the market and partner with us to extend their business.  This applies not only to
Motorola Solutions with wireless and mobile computing technology, but also to other high tech manufacturers who produce printers, labels, RFID and other technology products.

As our markets have grown and have become more sophisticated, we have grown both in size and in the nature and type of services offered.  As our customers come to depend
more and more on enterprise wireless and mobile computing to run their businesses, we continue to deliver and expand our services to keep those systems running.  We are actively
moving into the areas of enterprise managed services, consulting services and software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) to continue to deliver our value and build ongoing revenue streams for
the Company.
 
We continue to make investments in SaaS offerings in response to what we believe is a fundamental shift in our customers’ requirements.  And we are monitoring the results
closely.  In 2011, we increased our commitment to our Mobile Device Management offering through a new relationship with AirWatch as well as additional investment in
infrastructure and resources to expand our capabilities in this offering.  This expansion is directly related to the continuing growth we are seeing from our customers for this
service.  Customers have begun to realize that they do not have to own the entire end-to-end solution in order to reap its benefits.  In fact, there can be major cost savings for them
if they choose instead to receive part of the value of what we have to offer in a SaaS model.  We are a believer in this theory ourselves, as we are an avid salesforce.com customer.
Salesforce.com is one of the world’s largest SaaS companies.
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Acquisition of CMAC

On December 31, 2010, DecisionPoint International acquired CMAC, a supply chain consulting and systems integration firm focused on delivering operational and technical
solutions for enterprises.  Both CMAC and DecisionPoint are in the same vertical markets, and the acquisition was intended to broaden our professional services and software
integration.  Our combined teams work together to complement each other’s strengths.  The acquisition of CMAC also expands our data base of professional services contractors
who are available on an as needed basis, thereby enabling us to be more responsive and act more quickly to assist our customers.

CMAC is committed to improving its clients’ competitive position by developing operational excellence strategies and implementing best-in-class supply chain planning, execution
and automated technology solutions.  Its focus is on providing integration and implementation services for customer supply chain management applications ranging from WMS,
ERP, to TMS as well as others provides highly skilled resources to manage or augment customer project teams during the design, development and/or deployment stages.

CMAC’s professional services can be summarized as follows:

 
For over 15 years, CMAC’s experienced team has provided cost effective solutions to organizations in various industries and has evolved into a proven market leader.  CMAC has
standardized processes and procedures that allow for rapid deployment of integration and implementation solutions.  This methodology is designed for success and will aid us in
managing our customer deployments from the software selection process through the implementation and launch support phases.  Together our combined team aims to provide our
clients with highly experienced and affordable professionals using proven methodologies designed to achieve a quicker value realization.

CMAC has a Technology Center located in Alpharetta, GA that provides our partners and customers with an avenue to perform software solution demos and evaluations, end user
training, conference room pilots, hardware and software validation, and device management services.  In addition, the Technology Center is equipped with all of the latest wireless
network technologies to perform real-time testing and validation of software applications, hardware and network functionality and infrastructure.
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Marketplace

Industry

Over the past five years, the Enterprise Mobile Computing industry has standardized several key technologies.  This standardization has enabled the market to grow.  Examples of
this include the Windows Mobile, Android, RIM and iPhone operating system for mobile devices, 802.11 a/b/g “Wi-Fi” wireless local area networks, and robust nationwide
wireless carrier data networks such as T-Mobile, Verizon and Sprint.

This standardization has allowed mobile computing manufacturers to build product to these widely adopted standards, creating the opportunity to automate workers using these
standards.  These developments have created many opportunities for us to build enterprise wireless and mobile computing solutions for our customers’ needs.

Determining which enterprise wireless and mobile solutions we deliver to our customers highly depends on several key factors including the customer’s industry.  It requires that
we possess domain expertise in our customers’ industries.  It also requires business application software expertise, general industry and software specific knowledge and mobile
computing and wireless networking technical acumen.

The customer’s industry is very important because unlike generic wireless business applications such as email, the applications that we provide involve business processes which
are very specific to a vertical market.  An example is Proof-of-Delivery (“POD”).  In order for a POD application to deliver value it must not only be tailored to a specific industry
such as couriers, but it must also be tailored to each specific courier company depending on how they run their business process.

The key to delivering customer solutions profitably is for us to know where standardized system hardware and software components will deliver the required result and where they
cannot and therefore, more custom components need to be utilized.  This capability comes from our years of experience, our talented professionals and our highly developed
ecosystem of partners.

We provide a complete line of consulting, deployment and integration services, including site surveys, equipment configuration and staging, system installation, depot services,
software support, training programs and project management.

Current Market Environment

Over the last several years, we have been repositioning ourselves to focus more on providing higher margin consulting services along with customer-driven, mobile wireless and
RFID solutions rather than providing simply hardware and customized software as a reseller.  This is the key to increasing our profitability and is also a major point of
differentiation.  The acquisition of CMAC has been instrumental in this repositioning.  Small resellers and large catalog resellers simply do not want to, or cannot, provide the
types of custom, hands-on services needed to make these systems a success.  Our major ecosystem partners and Independent Software Vendors (“ISV’s”) recognize this and have
come to depend more and more on us to deliver the business value that their products enable.

By referring more end-user demand to DecisionPoint, partners can leverage our personnel and skills to provide customers with enhanced personal service.  With deep expertise
about specific customers’ operations and industry, resellers are very effective in promoting sales of key vendor’s products.  Today, a majority of Motorola’s sales of mobile
computers are through the sales channel in which we participate.

We benefit from other advantages by participating in this sales channel.  The industry leaders have established program rewards, such as favorable pricing structure incentives, for
those top-tier VARs, such as DecisionPoint, who invest in their programs and technologies.  As a result, we train our personnel, which differentiate us from other potential
competitors whose personnel may not have the same training as ours. Within our commercial enterprise market, we believe there continues to be long-term opportunity for growth
as the global workforce continues to become more mobile and the industries and markets that purchase our products and services continue to expand.  The markets in which we
compete include mobile computing products and services, enterprise wireless services, bar code scanning, RFID products and services and mobile network management
platforms.  Organizations looking to increase productivity and derive benefits from mobilizing their applications and workforces are driving adoption in this market.

Our strategy in our target market is to enable our customers to focus on their missions, not the technology.  This is accomplished by providing mission-critical systems, seamless
connectivity through highly reliable voice and data networks and a suite of advanced and/or custom applications that provide real-time information to end users.
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DecisionPoint Target Market(s)

The markets for enterprise wireless and mobile computing are very fragmented while also being extremely complex in nature.  But generally they can be characterized by the
following attributes:

1. Vertical market industries which require specific domain expertise.
2. Industries which track goods or deliver a service in the field (or both).
3. Industries which have a significant group of mobile workers, whether they operate primarily in one place or in the field.
4. Manufacturing operations where there’s real-time interaction between the shop floor employees and the management decision makers.
5. Manufacturing and assembly operations that are moving more and more to a Just-in-Time (“JIT”) operation where accurate data is critical.

In the commercial enterprise market, our approach is to deliver products and services that are designed to empower the mobile workforce to increase productivity, drive cost
effectiveness and promote faster execution of critical business processes.

Vertical Markets

The attractiveness of any vertical market depends directly on the size and nature of the problems which that market faces that can be addressed by enterprise wireless and mobile
computing.  Historically, retail, warehousing, and manufacturing were the largest industries.  Each typically had large amounts of goods in constant motion which needed to be
tracked.  In addition, each had a workforce which primarily operated in one place (i.e. a retail store, a distribution center or a factory).

Although these markets are still attractive for us and comprise a significant portion of our business, new markets are emerging which hold as great or even greater promise than our
historical markets.

Transportation, logistics and field services such as repair and maintenance, delivery and inspections are now emerging as great new markets.  This is primarily due to the arrival of
robust, national wireless carrier networks that can reach a field-based mobile worker almost anywhere they are.  The general term for this new group of markets is referred to as
“Field Mobility”.  Although it cuts across multiple industries and business applications, it has one common characteristic: goods are tracked or services are being performed by
field-based workforces, not workers operating in a single location under one roof.

Our Field Mobility Practice

We believe that the growth of Field Mobility based markets will be so significant over the next several years, that we have created a dedicated business practice to focus on it.  This
practice was established in 2008, with the express purpose of replicating our historical success with a new set of customers together with a new ecosystem of partners which
include three major wireless carriers; Verizon, Sprint and T-Mobile.  The carriers not only bring potential new opportunities but also have attractive programs which allow us to
earn additional revenue when we facilitate service of mobile computers and devices on their networks.  We currently have active projects with Verizon, such as Fleet Control.  We
also recently released bundled solutions and enhanced services that Sprint will be providing to customers on the Sprint bill.  These bundles and services include Proof-of-Delivery,
Inspection Services and Grapevine Push-to-Talk.

We are not alone in our expectations of growth for Field Mobility.  Motorola Solutions has demonstrated through its strong on-going support that it’s also counting on significant
growth as well.  They believe that as wireless carrier networks become ubiquitous, it will increase their market opportunity to put greater numbers of mobile computers into the
hands of entire groups of field-based workers who may have never had a mobile computer before.

Products and Services

Mobile Applications

We deploy mobile applications for a wide variety of business processes, depending on the industry.  Below is a brief overview of some of those applications by industry:

Retail Store: Stock locator, shelf price marking, markdowns, inventory control, physical inventory, merchandising, customer service and mobile point-of-sale (“POS”).

Warehousing and Distribution: Order shipping, order picking and packing, stock move and replenishments, product receipt and put-away, labeling, physical inventory and cycle
counts.

Manufacturing: Production count, work-in-process tracking, raw material consumption, Just-in-Time manufacturing requirements, quality control and assurance, lot/batch/serial
number control and scrap reporting.

Transportation and Logistics: Proof-of-delivery, commercial turn-by-turn directions, route optimization, cross-docking, returns and Department Of Transportation driver hours
of service and route logging.

Field Mobility: Field service and repair or wireless work order management, enterprise asset management, inspection, preventative maintenance, surveys, rounds and readings.
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Software

Unlike the market for standardized business software such as email or accounting, the market for enterprise mobile software is more customized.  One size does not fit
all.  Enterprise mobile software systems must support the specialized business processes in an industry-specific and sometimes customer-specific way.  For this reason, we utilize
several avenues to provide mobile software solutions that meet our customers’ unique requirements.

● Software sourced from specialized ISV’s.  The software produced by specialized ISVs is designed to fit a particular vertical market and application.  Even still, it must be
tailored to meet the needs of each customer and often requires integration to the customer’s enterprise system(s).  Depending on the requirements, this tailoring is provided
by DecisionPoint or by the ISV themselves under contract to DecisionPoint.  We have built a network of market and application focused ISVs specializing in Field
Mobility applications for this purpose.  In short, an ISV application, ruggedized mobile hardware, a wireless network, deployment services, and ongoing system support can
be delivered by DecisionPoint more effectively and with less risk than with any other combination of providers.

● When an ISV solution is not available, custom software can be created in-house using standardized programming platforms like Microsoft.NET® framework, Java™,
Android and Apple iOS.  These are used when there is simply no other “off-the-shelf” way to meet the customer’s requirements.

We have multiple software options available which gives us the ability to meet the customer’s total need at the best value to them.  We intentionally have made a point not to be
“married” to any single vendor, product offering and/or solution in order to be focused on the customer’s ultimate needs.

Professional Services

Our professional services offerings fall into one of three categories: business consulting, technical consulting and technical development.  Business consulting is where we engage
with our customer to help them understand the potential ROI of implementing mobile computing, or supply chain services as examples, for a particular business process.  Technical
consulting services help determine the technology to be used and how it is to be implemented.  We utilize our proven evaluation techniques, tools, and experience to recommend
the optimal technology solution that provides organizational, operational and system improvements to our customers.  We take advantage of our database and assessment
methodology to quickly identify viable solutions for client operations.  Once the solution is identified and selected, we apply our proven fast track “3D” (Define, Design, Deliver)
implementation methodology to insure project success.  Technical development includes actual software programming and configuration of the mobile computing, WMS and TMS
application solutions as well as interface software needed to connect to our customer’s existing back-office systems.

Our full suite of professional services allow for many “areas of engagement” with our customer base.  We can initiate and engage on an opportunity in several areas of the project
lifecycle.  The professional services listed below allow us to provide value to organizations regardless of where the customer is in their project evaluation/implementation or
rollout:

● Engineering & Material Handling ● Middleware Applications
● Facility Automation ● Site Surveys & Installation
● Supply Chain Strategy ● Change Management
● Six Sigma & Lean Six Sigma ● Resource Augmentation
● WMS/3PL Selection & Support ● Temp-to-Perm
● Call Center Outsourcing ● Contract-to-Hire
● Project Management ● Direct Hire
● WMS/ERP Implementation ● Team Services
● Transportation Management ● Work Flow Management
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Supply Chain Services

Supply Chain services include Pre-Contract, Pre Go-Live and Post Go-Live solutions.  Our project team will engage and manage the project from end-to-end, allowing the
customer resources to stay focused on their tasks.  Many of the services that we provide are listed below:

Pre-Contract Pre Go-Live Post Go-Live
Project Management CRP Execution Post implementation audit
Solution Design Training Documents System re-configuration
Application Study Job Aid Development Custom report design and development
CRP Script Development Training Execution EDI Interface design and development
CRP Configuration & Setup Software Configuration Issues documentation and management
Current State Design Technical Support Training and certification
Future State Design System Interface Development/Programming Satisfaction surveys/ process improvement
Mobility Readiness Evaluation Implementation Support Enhancement management/ implementation
ROI Targets/Worksheet Modification Specification & Design Multi-site rollout
Proof of Concept Design Testing Service Level Agreement
Host application requirements Vendor Management ROI Analysis
Device application requirements Custom Reports Ongoing Support

CMAC, along with one of our ISV Partners, offers Near-Shoring services for application development and host application programming.  Our partnership allows us to offer
extremely competitive resource rates for application development, scripting, code design, and custom application development.  This area has significant growth potential as more
companies are looking to move application development closer to their operations where the time zones and language barriers are not an issue.  We also have Tier 3 WMS ISV
partners for traditional WMS turnkey solutions as well as SaaS inventory management hosted solutions.

Rollout, Support and Management Services

These services involve installing a solution into the customer’s computer systems infrastructure (“implementation”) and then replicating that implementation out to all their
operating locations (“rollout”).  The rollout is critical because unless the mobile computing solution is rolled out across all operating locations, the desired ROI will most likely be
limited.

We offer a wide range of services in this category.  They include everything from assembling kits of everything needed for the system on a per location basis (“kitting”) to
providing logistical services for rollout (“staging”), to advanced exchange services for broken units in the field, to help desk support and to a self-service portal where a customer
can check the status of a service case or equipment repair.

For Field Mobility projects, carrier activation is a key service.  Activation is where we actually activate mobile computers and/or devices to run on the carrier networks.  Not only is
this a key service to complete projects, but it is also a source of revenue for us from the carriers when we activate mobile computers and/or devices to operate on the carrier
networks.

In addition, we offer staff augmentation services to customers that allow for shorter term projects or implementations, workflow management teams for cyclical business
customers, as well as contract-to-hire resources that engage on supply chain projects and can convert to a permanent position at the customer location, which helps significantly
with the knowledge transfer as well as capital knowledge base.  Contract-to-hire solutions have proven beneficial for customers to overcome workforce issues during hiring freezes
by allowing them to deploy solutions and then convert resources to full-time status upon expiration of the hiring freeze.

Finally, we are adding offerings in the managed services and SaaS categories.  Increasingly, customers want to outsource various aspects of operating and maintaining their
enterprise mobile systems.  We are providing various service offerings to remotely manage customers’ mobile computers and wireless networks as well as offer mobile software on
a SaaS subscription basis.

Hardware

Our hardware reseller sales strategy is designed to avoid competing for hardware sales based solely on low cost provider status.  Throughout the sales cycle, we are diligent to point
out to a customer that hardware is only one component of the complete solution they are looking for.  By bundling the software and services, mentioned above together with the
hardware, we position ourselves as the value-added solution provider.  This positioning differentiates us from the low-price, ‘discount’ hardware resellers who do not have this
capability.
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We offer the following types of enterprise wireless and mobile computing hardware on a cost competitive basis:

● Handheld and vehicle-mounted, ruggedized mobile computers
● 802.11 a/b/g wireless LAN (“Wi-Fi”) infrastructure
● RFID tag readers and related infrastructure
● GPS receivers
● Two-way radios
● Handheld bar code scanners
● Bar code label and RFID tag printers and encoders
● Ruggedized laptops for industrial environments

Consumables

We have extensive expertise in bar code and RFID consumables solutions.  We offer a full line of high quality labels, RFID tags, and printer ribbons to meet the demands of every
printing system.  We select the right components from a wide range of products on the market from both independent and original equipment manufacturers of printers and RFID
printers/encoders.  Matching media to the unique application is what makes the system work.  In addition, consumables are essentially a recurring revenue stream once a customer
has their system up and running.

Sales and Marketing

Customer Base

Our historical success has largely followed the broad adoption of enterprise wireless and mobile computing technology industry by industry.  As mentioned above, this adoption
pattern started with retail stores and moved backward through the retail supply chain into distribution and then manufacturing.  It also spread horizontally from the retail supply
chain into the supply chain of industrial goods as well.  Since the roots of DecisionPoint go back to the mid 1970’s, our customer base mirrors this fact as well.  Our products and
services are sold nationwide to a diverse set of customers such as retail, utility, transportation and logistics, manufacturing, wholesale and distribution and other commercial
customers.

A cross-section of our customers includes:

● Retailers in various categories and sizes, including “Tier-1” companies such as J. Crew Group, Inc., Liz Claiborne, Inc., PETCO Animal Supplies, Inc., Nike, Inc.,
Nordstrom, Inc. , and Grocery Outlet (Canned Foods, Inc.).

● Manufacturing companies such as Dade Behring (Division of Siemens), Mercedes Benz US International, Inc., BMW Manufacturing Company, KIA Motors
Manufacturing Georgia, Inc., Sargent Manufacturing Co. (Division of ASSA Abloy),  BASF Corp, Sanmina-SCI Corp, Orica USA, Inc., Timken Corp., Swiss Army
Brands, Smith & Wesson and pharmaceutical companies such as Pfizer, Inc., Johnson & Johnson and Bristol-Myers Squibb.

● Transportation, warehousing and distribution, including logistics companies such as Golden State Overnight Delivery Service, Inc., Ryder System, Inc., Exel, DHL Global
Mail, Inc., SAIA, Inc. and Frontier Logistics LP.

Now that the Field Mobility marketplace is starting to grow significantly, we are working with customers such as G4S, for security services for their patrol officers, Scientific
Games Corp., for their field service technicians, and Mobile Mini, Inc., a provider of mobile temporary storage facilities.  In addition, we are working with several automotive
OEM’s on a dealership application that has significant revenue and growth potential.  A common element of many customers in this marketplace is that they are new to mobile
computing and thus have limited staff or expertise to deploy and support such programs.  As such, DecisionPoint is an ideal partner for these customers in that our portfolio of
development, deployment and support services ensure the success of their mobile and wireless projects.

We aim to deliver the ‘whole solution’ to a customer, from solution design through support.  Our objective is to target markets that will permit the delivery of as many of these
products and services as possible, so as to maximize the profit opportunity while minimizing the costs of sale and delivery.

Thus, we seek to classify the type of end-user that it targets in order to quickly and cost-effectively put the right amount of resources on each sales opportunity.  The three main
end-user classifications are:
 
● Full Solution Customer - This is a customer that wants us to provide not only the entire solution from initial consultation and design, but also the ongoing support of the

system.  Such an end-user views the entire system as critical to its business and wants to outsource it to industry professionals.  This is the ideal customer for us, one that
understands and values the cost effectiveness of the entire solution and ongoing support of the system.

 
● Customer as their own integrator - The end-user sources all the parts and pieces of the system, programs it, installs it, commissions it and supports it.  In effect, the

customer is their own integrator, and wants to buy products and services only in a transactional relationship.  DecisionPoint limits its resources to provide these customers
with competitive product and service pricing.

● Hybrid Customer - Such customers have some systems integration capability themselves but have also recognized that “they know what they don’t know” and are willing
to contract for certain services as part of an enhanced transactional relationship.  A Hybrid Customer is attractive on a case-by-case basis depending on the circumstances of
the situation.

In each of the three scenarios above, we strive to position our professional services as a core value-added component to the customer.  Our ability to reliably test, configure, kit,
stage, and deploy large rollouts of mobile computers for specialized applications is a key service offering that enables our customers to realize the ROI they were expecting on
mobile computing in the first place.
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Sales and Sales Support

We support our business model using field-based teams of seasoned account executives with both pre- and post- sale systems architects who are experienced in all areas of
enterprise mobile computing.  Their focus is to develop customers’ enterprise wireless and mobile computing requirements in order to develop solutions for them and ultimately
close business for our product and service set that fulfills those requirements.

We fulfill the need for application software both in-house and through ISVs depending on specific customer need. ISVs like this model because they are generally looking for
sales, marketing and integration partners like us to expand their own reach.

We currently employ 57 people in our marketing, sales and professional services operation.  We have 3 marketing people, 20 sales people, all of whom are qualified in system
technology design, installation and integration.  They receive substantial technical support and assistance from 23 systems engineers and technicians and 5 software
engineers.  Supporting the sales effort are 6 sales administrators, who are responsible for the detailed order entry and for the inputting of the related data into our accounting
system.

Additionally we have access to an in-house database with several thousand contractors.

Geographically, the sales team is spread throughout the United States and can handle projects on a national and international basis from its East and West coast facilities.  When a
situation dictates, we may utilize independent contractors.

Sales System Support: SalesForce.com

We make extensive use of the salesforce.com customer relationship management (“CRM”) system to support our sales and marketing operations.  All business processes from
demand creation through closing orders are tracked using salesforce.com.  This includes the following business processes: marketing campaign management, lead generation, sales
opportunity and pipeline management, sales forecasting, sales territory and account management, and strategic account planning.

In addition, all professional services projects and time are tracked using salesforce.com.  These tools allow us to get a better understanding of project profitability which helps us
manage our key project resources.

Marketing Activities

We address our target markets through a combination of our own marketing activities, relationship selling and vendor-supplied leads.  The common aim is to establish our
credibility in the space, and then definitively demonstrate to the potential customer that we can tailor solutions to that customer’s needs.
 
Our seasoned sales team also provides many sales opportunities through past relationships and detailed domain knowledge of the operations of the top companies in the target
market space.  Given that enterprise wireless and mobile computing systems are a complex sale, it is very beneficial to have knowledge of how individual companies actually
operate, how they address IT systems issues, and how they buy and manage complex technology.  Our sales teams use such information to their advantage against some of the
commodity-type resellers in the space.

Vendor-supplied leads play a part in our success as well, in that vendors see it to their advantage to funnel sales opportunities to us thereby minimizing their selling costs.  They are
also willing to spend a sizeable portion of their discretionary marketing development budget for demand generation activities.

Our investment in our Field Mobility practice is generating wireless carrier sales and the establishment of a new sales channel.  We have established key wireless carrier
relationships with Sprint, T-Mobile and Verizon and are now seeing the fruit of our labor.

In 2011, we again increased our internal sales development function to support these carrier relationships.  Currently staffed by seasoned industry veterans, this function is to
continually cull all sources of leads and nurture them to the qualification stage where it makes economic sense for one of our account executives to get involved.

Realizing that statistics show that the vast majority of B2B activity today starts with an Internet search, we have invested in some forward-thinking tools and technologies to help
meet our future customers there.  We continue to invest in our website, www.decisionpt.com, and we also have a complete online, closed-loop demand generation tool to track and
manage leads to productively increase the sales pipeline.  This includes email marketing with closed-loop feedback as well as email campaigns that track recipient behavior after
their receipt in real time.  This allows us to convert them into active prospects at the exact time they are investigating solutions for their particular problem.
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Competition

The business in which we operate is highly competitive.  Continued evolution in the industry, as well as technological migration, is opening up the market to increased
competition.  Other key competitive factors include: technology offered; price; availability of financing; product and system performance; product features, quality, availability
and warranty; the quality and availability of service; company reputation; relationship with key customers and time-to-market.  We believe we are uniquely positioned in the
industry due to our strong customer and vendor relationships, our consultative and technological leadership and capabilities and our comprehensive range of offerings.

We compete with other VAR’s and System Integrators/engineering organizations (“SI’s”) in system design, integration and maintenance arenas.  However, as a Tier-1 reseller for
major equipment vendors including Motorola Solutions and Zebra, we encounter fewer than ten competitive Tier-1 VARs and SIs representing these manufacturers in the
marketplace.

We typically win business from such competitors based on our turnkey software engineering skills and one-stop-shop technical capabilities.  Recognizing us as a significant VAR
within its universe of Tier-1 partners, Motorola Solutions has granted us variable pricing applicable to specific major customers.  These price discounts give us an edge in the
marketplace through greater margin flexibility.  As a result, we do not typically lose contracts due to price sensitivity.

Large system integrators are seeking to move further into the segment in which we compete.  Competitors in this segment, may also serve as subcontractors to large system
integrators and are selected based on a number of competitive factors and customer requirements.  Where favorable to us, we may partner with other system integrators to make
available our portfolio of advanced mission-critical services, applications and devices.

We have identified the following ten companies as primary competitors in the VAR and SI spaces:

● Agilysys, Inc. (Nasdaq: AGYS) - Agilysys is a publicly traded NASDAQ company and is a distributor of enterprise computer system solutions with $640 million in
revenue.  One of their divisions provides services similar to those offered by us.
 

● International Business Machines Corp. (NYSE: IBM) – Although significantly larger than us, IBM seeks to deliver the same type of value proposition to the
market.  IBM is a very large organization; enterprise wireless and mobile computing are just one of a large set of competencies and services they provide to the
marketplace.

  
● Accenture plc (NYSE: ACN) – Accenture is a global management consulting, technology consulting and technology outsourcing company.  Their global headquarters are

in Dublin, Ireland.  It is the largest consulting firm in the world, as well as being a global player within the technology consulting industry.
 
● Sedlak Management Consultants – Sedlak is a supply chain consulting firm specializing in distribution consulting. They are a privately-held Cleveland, Ohio based

company, and have been in business for over 50 years.
  
● Peak Technologies, Inc. – Maryland based Peak is an integrator of Automated Identification and Data Collection (“AIDC”) equipment including wireless RF, network

and ERP integration solutions, enterprise printing, bar code scanning, mobile computing, and terminal and software technologies.  Peak was originally built up by current
DecisionPoint executives, CEO Nicholas Toms and CFO Donald Rowley, and was then sold to Moore Corporation (now RR Donnelley) in 1997.  RR Donnelley, as part
of its strategy to focus on commercial printing, sold Peak to Platinum Equity in December 2005.  Keystone Capital, Inc. acquired Peak in October 2011, from Platinum
Equity.  During December 2011, Peak acquired Washington based Ryzex, a mobile technology solutions company.
 

● Catalyst International, Inc. - Catalyst is a supplier of supply chain solutions on multiple technology platforms.  It is a certified SAP Services Provider, including wireless
enabling of SAP applications.  Catalyst is wholly owned by CDC Corporation (Nasdaq: CHINA), a NASDAQ traded company. CDC Corp. filed for Chapter 11
bankruptcy protection in October 2011.  The company announced in November that it had received notice from Nasdaq that it was being delisted for not filing its 2010
annual financial report.

● Stratix, Inc. - Georgia based Stratix is a substantial competitor of DecisionPoint, especially in the South Eastern part of the U.S.  Their customer base includes large
nationally based Tier-1 retailers, distributors, major commercial airlines and general manufacturers.  In December 2011, Stratix announced that Grey Mountain Partners
had acquired a majority interest in the company.

● Miles Technologies Inc. - Headquartered in Lake Zurich, IL, Miles is a service oriented reseller of bar code printers, wireless data collection devices, RFID and
consumables.  Miles is considered to be a niche player in the upper Midwest.

● Acsis, Inc. - Acsis is a SAP-certified global enterprise software company that automates supply chain operations with a platform, Data-Link Enterprise, which interfaces
with multiple types of equipment on the manufacturing/distribution floor, such as barcode and RFID readers.  In December 2005, Acsis was acquired by Safeguard
Scientifics, Inc. (NYSE: SFE), a NYSE traded company.  In May 2008 Safeguard announced that it sold Acsis to Saints Capital.

● Barcoding, Inc. – Maryland based Barcoding helps organizations streamline their operations with automatic identification and data collection systems (AIDC).  Clients
include manufacturing, distribution, healthcare and warehousing enterprises, as well as state, local and federal agencies.

  
● Other Competitors in the U.S. - Certain ‘catalog and online’ AIDC equipment resellers offer end-users deeply discounted, commodity oriented products; however, they

typically offer limited or no maintenance support beyond the manufacturer’s warranty (which generally results in slower repair turnaround time).  More importantly, as
end users have become increasingly dependent on VARs and SIs to provide platform design, integration and maintenance, end users typically do not place major
purchase orders with such resellers.

Employees

As of December 2011, we have a total of 68 full time employees and 1 part time employee.  We have not experienced any work disruptions or stoppages and we consider relations
with our employees to be good.
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ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

Our limited operating history as a public company makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future business prospects and make decisions based on those estimates of our
future performance.
 

Although our management team has been engaged in software development for an extended period of time and we began the operations of our current business in December
2003, we have only been operating as a public company with our current operations since June 2009.  We have a limited operating history in our current combined form, which
makes it difficult to evaluate our business on the basis of historical operations.  As a consequence, it is difficult, if not impossible, to forecast our future results based upon our
historical data.  Reliance on our historical results may not be representative of the results we will achieve.  Because of the uncertainties related to our lack of historical operations,
we may be hindered in our ability to anticipate and timely adapt to increases or decreases in sales, product costs or expenses.  If we make poor budgetary decisions as a result of
unreliable historical data, we could be less profitable or incur losses, which may result in a decline in our stock price.

The RFID industry is characterized by rapid technological change, and our success depends upon the frequent enhancement of existing products and timely
introduction of new products that meet our customers’ needs.

Customer requirements for RFID products are rapidly evolving and technological changes in our industry occur rapidly.  To keep up with new customer requirements and
distinguish us from our competitors, we must frequently introduce new products and enhancements of existing products.  Enhancing existing products and developing new
products is a complex and uncertain process.  It often requires significant investments in research and development (“R&D”) which we do not facilitate.  We do not have adequate
resources to invest in R&D that will keep pace with technological changes in our industry.  Even if we made adequate investments in R&D, they may not result in products
attractive or acceptable to our customers.  Furthermore, we may not be able to launch new or improved products before our competition launches comparable products.  Any of
these factors could cause our business or financial results to suffer.

Future business combinations and acquisition transactions, if any, may not succeed in generating the intended benefits and may, therefore, adversely affect shareholder
value or our financial results.  Integration of new businesses or technologies into our business may have any of the following adverse effects:

 ● We may have difficulty transitioning customers and other business relationships.
 ● We may have problems unifying management following a transaction.
 ● We may lose key employees from our existing or acquired businesses.
 ● We may experience intensified competition from other companies seeking to expand sales and market share during the integration period.
 ● Our management’s attention may be diverted to the assimilation of the technology and personnel of acquired businesses or new product or service lines.
 ● We may experience difficulties in coordinating geographically disparate organizations and corporate cultures and integrating management personnel with different

business backgrounds.

The inability of our management to successfully integrate acquired businesses, and any related diversion of management’s attention, could have a material adverse effect on
our business, operating results and financial condition.

Business combinations and other acquisition transactions may have a direct adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity, or on our stock
price.

To complete acquisitions or other business combinations, we may have to use cash, issue new equity securities with dilutive effects on existing stockholders, take on new
debt, assume contingent liabilities or amortize assets or expenses in a manner that might have a material adverse effect on our balance sheet, results of operations or liquidity.  We
are required to record certain financing and acquisition-related costs and other items as current period expenses, which would have the effect of reducing our reported earnings in
the period in which an acquisition is consummated.  These and other potential negative effects of an acquisition transaction could prevent us from realizing the benefits of such
transactions and have a material adverse impact on our stock price, revenues, revenue growth, balance sheet, results of operations and liquidity.

We expect that we will need to raise additional funds, and these funds may not be available when we need them or the additional funds may not be obtained on favorable
terms.

We believe that we will need to raise additional monies in order to fund our growth strategy and implement our business plan.  Specifically, we expect that we will need to
raise additional funds in order to pursue rapid expansion, develop new or enhanced services and products, and acquire complementary businesses or assets.  Additionally, we may
need funds to respond to unanticipated events that require us to make additional investments in our business.  There can be no assurance that additional financing will be available
when needed, on favorable terms, or at all.  If these funds are not available when we need them, then we may need to change our business strategy and reduce our rate of growth.
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Our competitors may be able to develop their business strategy and grow revenue at a faster pace than us, which would limit our results of operations and may force us
to cease or curtail operations.

The wireless mobile solutions marketplace, while highly fragmented, is very competitive and many of our competitors are more established and have greater resources.  We
expect that competition will intensify in the future. Some of these competitors also have greater market presence, marketing capabilities, technological and personnel resources
than our company.  As compared with our company therefore, such competitors may:

- develop and expand their infrastructure and service/product offerings more efficiently or more quickly
- adapt more swiftly to new or emerging technologies and changes in client requirements
- take advantage of acquisition and other opportunities more effectively
- devote greater resources to the marketing and sale of their products and services
- leverage more effectively existing relationships with customers and strategic partners or exploit better recognized brand names to market and sell their services.

These current and prospective competitors include:

- other wireless mobile solutions companies such as International Business Machines, Accenture, Sedlak, Peak Technologies, Agilysys, Acsis, Stratix and Catalyst
International

- in certain areas our existing hardware suppliers, in particular Motorola Solutions but also Intermec, Zebra and others
- the in-house IT departments of many of our customers.

A significant portion of our revenue is dependent upon a small number of customers and the loss of any one of these customers would negatively impact our revenues
and our results of operations.

We derived approximately 24% of our revenues from two customers in 2011.  We derived approximately 26% of our revenues from our two largest customers in
2010.  Customer mix shifts significantly from year to year, but a concentration of the business with a few large customers is typical in any given year.  A decline in our revenues
could occur if a customer which has been a significant factor in one financial reporting period gives us significantly less business in the following period.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, we had one customer within the healthcare industry that generated 16% of our total sales, and another customer within the
transportation/logistic industry that generated 10% of our total sales.  Any one of our customers could reduce their orders for our products and services in favor of a more
competitive price or different product at any time.  The loss of any one of these customers or reduced purchases by them would not have a material adverse effect on our business
as we would adjust our personnel staffing levels accordingly.

Our contracts with these customers and our other customers do not include any specific purchase requirements or other requirements outside of the normal course of
business.  The majority of our customer contracts are on an annual basis for service support while on a purchase order basis for hardware purchases.  Typical hardware sales are
submitted on an estimated order basis with subsequent follow on orders for specific quantities.  These sales are ultimately subject to the time that the units are installed at all of the
customer locations as per their requirements.  Service contracts are purchased on an annual basis generally and are the performance responsibility of the actual service provider as
opposed to the Company.  Termination provisions are generally standard clauses based upon non-performance, but a customer can cancel with a certain reasonable notice period
anywhere from 30 to 90 days.  General industry standards for contracts provide ordinary terms and conditions, while actual work and performance aspects are usually dictated by a
Statement of Work which outlines what is being ordered, product specifications, delivery, installation and pricing.

Growth of and changes in our revenues and profits depend on the customer, product and geographic mix of our sales.  Fluctuations in our sales mix could have an
adverse impact on or increase the volatility of our revenues, gross margins and profits. 

Sales of our products to large enterprises tend to have lower prices and gross margins than sales to smaller firms.  In addition, our gross margins vary depending on the
product or service made.  Growth in our revenues and gross margins therefore depends on the customer, product and geographic mix of our sales.  If we are unable to execute a
sales strategy that results in a favorable sales mix, our revenues, gross margins and earnings may decline.  Further, changes in the mix of our sales from quarter-to-quarter or year-
to-year may make our revenues, gross margins and earnings more volatile and difficult to predict.
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Our sales and profitability may be affected by changes in economic, business or industry conditions.

If the economic climate in the U.S. or abroad deteriorates, customers or potential customers could reduce or delay their technology investments.  Reduced or delayed
technology investments could decrease our sales and profitability.  In this environment, our customers may experience financial difficulty, cease operations and fail to budget or
reduce budgets for the purchase of our products and professional services.  This may lead to longer sales cycles, delays in purchase decisions, payment and collection, and can also
result in downward price pressures, causing our sales and profitability to decline.  In addition, general economic uncertainty and general declines in capital spending in the
information technology sector make it difficult to predict changes in the purchasing requirements of our customers and the markets we serve.  There are many other factors which
could affect our business, including:
 
● the introduction and market acceptance of new technologies, products and services;
● new competitors and new forms of competition;
● the size and timing of customer orders; 
● the size and timing of capital expenditures by our customers;
● adverse changes in the credit quality of our customers and suppliers;
● changes in the pricing policies of, or the introduction of, new products and services by us or our competitors;
● changes in the terms of our contracts with our customers or suppliers;
● the availability of products from our suppliers; and
● variations in product costs and the mix of products sold.
 

These trends and factors could adversely affect our business, profitability and financial condition and diminish our ability to achieve our strategic objectives.

Use of third-party suppliers and service providers could adversely affect our product quality, delivery schedules or customer satisfaction, any of which could have an
adverse effect on our financial results. 

We rely heavily on a number of privileged vendor relationships as a Tier-1, VAR for the Motorola Solutions Partner Pinnacle Club program, a manufacturer of bar code
scanners and portable data terminals; as an Honors Solutions Provider for Intermec, a manufacturer of bar code scanners and terminals; as a Premier Partner with Zebra, a printer
manufacturer, and O’Neil, the leading provider of ‘ruggedized’ handheld mobile printers.  The loss of VAR status with any of these manufacturers could have a substantial adverse
effect on our business.

We have not sought to protect our proprietary knowledge through patents and, as a result, our sales and profitability could be adversely affected to the extent that
competing products/services were to capture a significant portion of our target markets.
 

We have generally not sought patent protection for our products and services, relying instead on our technical know-how and ability to design solutions tailored to our
customers’ needs.  Our sales and profitability could be adversely affected to the extent that competing products/services were to capture a significant portion of our target
markets.  To remain competitive, we must continually improve our existing personnel skill sets and capabilities and the provision of the services related thereto.  Our success will
also depend, in part, on management’s ability to recognize new technologies and services and make arrangements to license in, or acquire such technologies so as to remain always
at the leading edge.
 
We must effectively manage the growth of our operations, or our company will suffer.
 

Our ability to successfully implement our business plan requires an effective planning and management process.  If funding is available, we intend to increase the scope of
our operations and acquire complementary businesses. Implementing our business plan will require significant additional funding and resources.  If we grow our operations, we
will need to hire additional employees and make significant capital investments.  If we grow our operations, it will place a significant strain on our existing management and
resources.  If we grow, we will need to improve our financial and managerial controls and reporting systems and procedures, and we will need to expand, train and manage our
workforce.  Any failure to manage any of the foregoing areas efficiently and effectively would cause our business to suffer.
 
If we fail to continue to introduce new products that achieve broad market acceptance on a timely basis, we will not be able to compete effectively and we will be unable
to increase or maintain sales and profitability.
 

Our future success depends on our ability to develop and introduce new products and product enhancements that achieve broad market acceptance.  If we are unable to
develop and introduce new products that respond to emerging technological trends and customers’ mission critical needs, our profitability and market share may suffer.  The
process of developing new technology is complex and uncertain, and if we fail to accurately predict customers’ changing needs and emerging technological trends, our business
could be harmed.

We are active in the identification and development of new product and technology services and in enhancing our current products.  However, in the enterprise mobility
solutions industry, such activities are complex and filled with uncertainty.  If we expend a significant amount of resources and our efforts do not lead to the successful introduction
of new or improved products, there could be a material adverse effect on our business, profitability, financial condition and market share.
 

We may also encounter delays in the manufacturing and production of new products from our principal suppliers.  Additionally, new products may not be commercially
successful.  Demand for existing products may decrease upon the announcement of new or improved products.  Further, since products under development are often announced
before introduction, these announcements may cause customers to delay purchases of any products, even if newly introduced, until the new or improved versions of those products
are available.  If customer orders decrease or are delayed during the product transition, we may experience a decline in revenue and have excess inventory on hand which could
decrease gross profit margins.  Our profitability might decrease if customers, who may otherwise choose to purchase existing products, instead choose to purchase lower priced
models of new products.  Delays or deficiencies in the development, manufacturing, and delivery of, or demand for, new or improved products could have a negative effect on our
business or profitability.
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We face competition from numerous sources and competition may increase, leading to a decline in revenues.
 

We compete primarily with well-established companies, many of which we believe have greater resources than us.  We believe that barriers to entry are not significant and
start-up costs are relatively low, so our competition may increase in the future.  New competitors may be able to launch new businesses similar to ours, and current competitors
may replicate our business model, at a relatively low cost.  If competitors with significantly greater resources than ours decide to replicate our business model, they may be able to
quickly gain recognition and acceptance of their business methods and products through marketing and promotion.  We may not have the resources to compete effectively with
current or future competitors.  If we are unable to effectively compete, we will lose sales to our competitors and our revenues will decline.

We are heavily dependent on our senior management, and a loss of a member of our senior management team could cause our stock price to suffer.
 

If we lose members of our senior management, we may not be able to find appropriate replacements on a timely basis, and our business could be adversely affected.  Our
existing operations and continued future development depend to a significant extent upon the performance and active participation of certain key individuals, including our Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Senior Vice Presidents and certain other senior management individuals.  We cannot guarantee that we will be
successful in retaining the services of these or other key personnel.  If we were to lose any of these individuals, we may not be able to find appropriate replacements on a timely
basis and our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
 
Our inability to hire, train and retain qualified employees could cause our financial condition to suffer.
 

The success of our business is highly dependent upon our ability to hire, train and retain qualified employees.  We face competition from other employers for people, and the
availability of qualified people is limited.  We must offer a competitive employment package in order to hire and retain employees, and any increase in competition for people may
require us to increase wages or benefits in order to maintain a sufficient work force, resulting in higher operation costs.  Additionally, we must successfully train our employees in
order to provide high quality services. In the event of high turnover or shortage of people, we may experience difficulty in providing consistent high-quality services.  These factors
could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our Net Operating Loss Carryforwards may be limited.
 

Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 382, annual use of our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited in the event a cumulative change in ownership of
more than fifty percent occurs within a three-year period. We have not completed an IRC 382 analysis regarding the limitation of our net operating loss carryforwards. When this
analysis is finalized , we may determine that our ability to use our operating loss carry forwards may be significantly limited on an annual basis.
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SPECIFIC RISKS RELATING TO OUR COMMON STOCK

We have not paid dividends on common stock in the past and do not expect to pay dividends in the future.  Any return on investment may be limited to the value of our
common stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  The payment of dividends on our common
stock would depend on earnings, financial condition and other business and economic factors affecting it at such time as the Board of Directors may consider relevant.  If we do
not pay dividends, our common stock may be less valuable because a return on your investment will only occur if its stock price appreciates.

There is a limited market for our common stock which may make it more difficult to dispose of your stock.

Our common stock is currently quoted on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board under the symbol "DPSI".  There is a limited trading market for our common
stock.  Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to the liquidity of any markets that may develop for our common stock, the ability of holders of our common stock to sell our
common stock, or the prices at which holders may be able to sell our common stock.

A sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock may cause the price of our common stock to decline.

If our stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the market price of our common stock could fall.  These sales also may make it
more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price that we deem reasonable or appropriate.

 
Our common stock is subject to the "Penny Stock" rules of the SEC and the trading market in our securities is limited, which makes transactions in our stock
cumbersome and may reduce the value of an investment in our stock.

The SEC has adopted Rule 3a51-1 which establishes the definition of a "penny stock", for the purposes relevant to us, as any equity security that has a market price of less
than $5.00 per share or with an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions.  For any transaction involving a penny stock, unless exempt, Rule 15g-9
requires:
 

● that a broker or dealer approve a person's account for transactions in penny stocks; and
● that the broker or dealer receives from the investor a written agreement to the transaction, setting forth the identity and quantity of the penny stock to be purchased.

In order to approve a person's account for transactions in penny stocks, the broker or dealer must:

● obtain financial information and investment experience objectives of the person; and
● make a reasonable determination that the transactions in penny stocks are suitable for that person and the person has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial

matters to be capable of evaluating the risks of transactions in penny stocks.

The broker or dealer must also deliver, prior to any transaction in a penny stock, a disclosure schedule prescribed by the SEC relating to the penny stock market, which, in
highlight form:

● sets forth the basis on which the broker or dealer made the suitability determination; and
● that the broker or dealer received a signed, written agreement from the investor prior to the transaction.

Disclosure also has to be made about the risks of investing in penny stocks in both public offerings and in secondary trading and about the commissions payable to both the
broker-dealer and the registered representative, current quotations for the securities and the rights and remedies available to an investor in cases of fraud in penny stock
transactions.  Finally, monthly statements have to be sent disclosing recent price information for the penny stock held in the account and information on the limited market in
penny stocks.

Generally, brokers may be less willing to execute transactions in securities subject to the "penny stock" rules.  This may make it more difficult for investors to dispose of our
common stock and cause a decline in the market value of our stock.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease our office and warehouse facilities under various operating leases.  Our corporate headquarters and sales operations, including sales administration, software
development, depot operation and the financial management are located in Foothill Ranch, California where we lease 7,500 square feet of office space at a monthly rental expense
of $11,763.  The lease expired in July 2011 and was renewed on the same terms and conditions for up to an additional year.
 
In addition, we lease 4,100 square feet in Shelton, Connecticut for our East coast sales and operations which expires in April 2015.  On November 1, 2011, we entered into a lease
agreement for 6,800 square feet in Edison, New Jersey, for 37 months at $5,500 per month.  We have a sales and administrative office located in Alpharetta, Georgia where we
lease 4,330 square feet for general office purposes.  The lease expires in April 2015.  In addition, we have a lease for 4,800 square feet in Alpharetta, Georgia for our technology
lab center which expires in April 2012.
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of business.  However, litigation is subject to inherent
uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm our business.  We are not currently aware of any such legal proceedings or
claims that we believe will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is currently quoted on the Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board under the symbol “DPSI”.  Until June 15, 2011, our stock was quoted on the Over-The-Counter
Bulletin Board Pink Sheets under the symbol “COMT.PK”.  On March 26, 2012, the last trade of our stock was at the price of $1.58 per share.  The following table sets forth the
high and low prices per share of our common stock for each period indicated.  These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and
may not necessarily represent actual transactions.
 

  High   Low  
       
First Quarter 2010  $ 2.96   $ 2.46  
Second Quarter 2010   3.13    2.30  
Third Quarter 2010   2.82    2.31  
Fourth Quarter 2010   2.80    1.70  
         
First Quarter 2011   3.24    1.50  
Second Quarter 2011   3.25    2.22  
Third Quarter 2011   2.50    1.85  
Fourth Quarter 2011   2.10    0.50  

Number of Stockholders
 
As of March 22, 2012, there were approximately 6,600 holders of record of our common stock.
 
Dividend Policy

Common Stock – The holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends if and when declared by our Board of Directors out of funds legally available for
distribution.  Any such dividends may be paid in cash, property or shares of our common stock.
 
Preferred Stock - The holders of the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, dividends at an annual
rate of 8% of the stated value.  Dividends shall be cumulative and shall accrue on each share of the outstanding Series A and B Preferred Stock from the date of its
issue.  Cumulative, undeclared dividends on our Series A Preferred and Series B Preferred Stock totaled $207,168 and $31,969 at December 31, 2011, respectively.
 
The holders of the Series C Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive cumulative dividends payable per share in arrears, on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31
of each year in the form of cash or preferred stock, at the election of a majority in interest of the Series C Preferred Stock.  The dividend rate, as adjusted from time to time on each
share of Series C Preferred Stock shall be as follows: 8% per share per annum on the stated value of $3.20 per share for the period from the date of its issue through the last day of
the sixteenth (16th) month after the date of its issue; 12% per share per annum on the Stated Value commencing on the first day of the seventeenth (17th) month through the last day
of the thirtieth month (30th) after the date of its issue; and 20% per share per annum on the stated value for each dividend period thereafter commencing on the first day of the
thirty-first (31st) month after the date of its issue.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time a breach event (as defined in the Company’s Articles of Incorporation) occurs, then
the dividend rate shall be 20% per annum on the stated value for each dividend period or part thereof in which a breach event has occurred or is outstanding.  The Series C
Preferred Stock shall, with respect to dividend rights, rank senior to all classes and series of the Company’s common stock and pari passu with the Company’s Series A and Series
B Preferred Stock.  Dividends totaling $90,592 were accrued and payable to holders of the Series C Preferred Stock at December 31, 2011.
 
We have not paid any dividends on our common stock since our inception, and it is not likely that any dividends on our common stock will be declared in the foreseeable
future.  Any dividends will be subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors, and will depend upon, among other things, our operating and financial condition and our capital
requirements and general business conditions.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
 
In December 2010, the Company established the 2010 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”).  The Plan authorizes the issuance of 1,000,000 shares of common stock. Pursuant to the
terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company assumed all of Old DecisionPoint’s obligations under their outstanding stock option plans.

Under the Plan, common stock incentives may be granted to officers, employees, directors, consultants, and advisors.  As of December 31, 2011, incentives under the Plan may be
granted only in the form of non-statutory stock options and all stock options of Old DecisionPoint that were assumed by the Company became non-statutory options on the date of
the assumption.

The Plan is administered by the Board of Directors, or a committee appointed by the Board of Directors, which determines recipients and the number of shares subject to the
awards, the exercise price and the vesting schedule.  The term of stock options granted under the Plan cannot exceed ten years.  Options shall not have an exercise price less than
100% of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date, and generally vest over a period of five years.  If the individual possesses more than 10% of the
combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company, the exercise price shall not be less than 110% of the fair market of a share of common stock on the date of grant.
 
Provided below is information regarding our equity compensation plans under which our equity securities are authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2011, subject to our
available authorized shares. 
 

Plan Category  

Number of
securities to be

issued upon
exercise of

outstanding
options,

warrants, and
rights   

Weighted-
average exercise

price of
outstanding

options   

Number of
securities
remaining

available for
future issuance

under equity
compensation

plans (excluding
securities

reflected in
column (a))  

  (a)   (b)   (c)  
          
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   701,963  $ 2.02   298,037 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   -   -   - 
Total   701,963  $ 2.02   298,037 

 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

None
 
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not applicable.
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ITEM 7.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We are an enterprise systems integrator that provides mobility systems integration and supply chain systems integration, as well as traditional scanning and mobility hardware
solutions.  We design, deploy and support mobile computing and wireless systems that enable our customers to access enterprise data at the point of decision whether they are on
the retail selling floor, warehouse loading dock or on the road making deliveries.  These systems generally include mobile computers, mobile application software, and related data
capture equipment including bar code scanners and radio frequency identification (“RFID”) readers.  We also provide professional services including consulting, proprietary and
third party software and software customization as an integral part of our customized solutions for our customers.  Our supply chain systems integration offerings include
Warehouse Management Systems, Transportation Management Systems, and Enterprise Resource Planning Systems as well as legacy systems.  We operate in one business
segment.

We deliver to our customers the ability to make better, faster and more accurate business decisions by implementing industry-specific, enterprise wireless and mobile computing
systems for their front-line employees, inside and outside of the ‘four-walls’.  It is these systems which provide the information to improve the hundreds of individual business
decisions made each day.  The “productivity paradox” is that the information remains locked away in their organization’s enterprise computing system, and historically, accessible
only when employees were at their desk.  Our solutions solve this productivity issue.  As a result our customers are able to move their business decision points closer to their own
customers who in turn, drive their own improved productivity and operational efficiencies.

We accomplish this by providing our customers with everything they need to achieve their enterprise mobility goals, starting with the planning of their systems, to the design and
build stage, to the deployment and support stage, and finally to achieving their projected Return On Investment.

We have developed an ‘ecosystem’ of partners which we bring to every customer situation.  The standout partner in this ecosystem is the Motorola Solutions, Inc. (“Motorola
Solutions”), for whom we consistently are rated one of its top Value Added Resellers (“VAR”) and which provides the vast amount of our re-sold products including bar code
scanners, battery’s charging stations and accessories.  We also partner with other top equipment and software suppliers such as Zebra Technologies Corporation, Datamax -
O’Neil — a unit of the Dover Corporation, in addition to a host of specialized independent software vendors such as AirVersent, AirWatch, Antenna Software, Verifone GlobalBay
and Wavelink.
 
We are focused on several commercial enterprise markets.  These include retail, manufacturing, distribution, transportation and logistics.  We are also increasingly focused on the
markets for these systems in the markets where there are large groups of field services workers.  These markets include maintenance and repair, inspections, deliveries, and other
specialized business services such as uniform rental.  This part of our business did not exist a few years ago.  But with the continued growth of the mobile internet, we expect to
add resources in this area in order to take advantage of the increasing opportunities.  We expect our customers to continue to embrace and deploy new technology to enhance their
own customers’ experience with business and improve their own operations to lower their operating costs and better service their customers.  Our expertise and understanding of
our customers’ operations and business operations in general, coupled with our expertise and understanding of new technology for equipment and software offerings enables us to
identify new trends and opportunities to implement new solutions to our existing and potential customers.

We have several offices throughout the U.S which allows us to serve any customer on a nation-wide basis.  We can provide depot services through our West and East coast
facilities.

We have recently seen indications that the major retailers are optimistic about the future economic climate which will translate into increased opportunities in our largest target
market.  Additionally, we are always keenly aware of potential acquisition candidates that can provide complementary products and service offerings to our customer base.

The Merger
 
On June 15, 2011, pursuant to the Merger, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Old DecisionPoint from its shareholders in exchange for 4,593,660 shares
of our common stock, resulting in an exchange ratio of one share for every eight shares of common stock tendered (1:8).  We also acquired all of Old DecisionPoint’s issued and
outstanding Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares and Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares in exchange for 243,750 and 118,750 of Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Shares, respectively.  Immediately after the Merger, there were 6,934,412 shares of common stock outstanding and 243,750 and 118,750 shares of Series A
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares and Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares outstanding, respectively.  Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, we
assumed all of Old DecisionPoint’s obligations under their outstanding stock option plans and warrant agreements.  Two of our directors retained their positions and the remaining
positions were filled by the directors and officers of Old DecisionPoint.  In connection with and upon the Effective Date of the Merger, we issued 153,883 additional common
shares as payment for a finder’s fee.  The shares were valued at $2.30 per share, the closing share price on the Effective Date, for total consideration of $353,931.  The finder’s fee
and other expenses have been accounted for as costs of the Merger in the accompanying consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity (deficit).  On November 8, 2011, we
entered into an agreement with the finder pursuant to which the finder returned all of the aforementioned shares of our stock in exchange for $250,000 in cash.  The agreement was
approved by the Board of Directors.  The value of the shares on the date of the agreement was $1.33 and as such, $204,664 has been recorded as treasury stock for accounting
purposes.  The remaining $45,336 has been reflected as a charge in the statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.  Other expenses related to the Merger
totaled $376,547.
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The estimated fair values of the financial assets received and liabilities assumed from Comamtech in the Merger are comprised of the following as of June 15, 2011:
 

Cash  $ 2,361,742 
Note receivable   100,000 
Other receivables   1,488,850 
Other curent assets   150,545 
Accounts payable   (153,450)
     
Net asset value  $ 3,947,687 

 
The other receivables are comprised of a $1,500,000 payment due from the sale of a business by Comamtech to a publicly traded company and another miscellaneous receivable of
$49,732.  The $1,500,000 receivable is due May 2012.  We estimated the fair value of this receivable by calculating the present value of the expected cash payment using a credit
risk adjusted interest rate of 4.6%.  The fair value of the receivable is $1,476,285 as of December 31, 2011, and is included in other receivables in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2011.
 
The note receivable represented approximately $4.4 million due from the sale of a business by Comamtech to a private company (“Empresario”).  The note was secured by the
assets of Empresario and was guaranteed by its principal shareholder.  To accommodate Empresario’s inability to perform, the note was restructured several times by Comamtech
prior to the Merger.  Empresario defaulted on the amended terms on August 10, 2011, and we sent Empresario a demand for payment.  At that time, Empresario had not been able
to secure a viable path for repayment and, based on all of the information available at the time, we had assessed the financial health and capitalization of Empresario along with its
claim paying ability as being very poor.  Accordingly, we estimated the fair value of the note receivable to be $100,000 as of the effective date of the Merger.
 
On September 2, 2011, we entered into a transfer and payment agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) among the Company, Empresario, and its sole shareholder.  Pursuant to the
Transfer Agreement, Empresario paid the Company $530,000, and we transferred to Empresario its right, title and interest in the Purchased Assets, as defined by the Asset
Purchase Agreement dated May 14, 2009, between Comamtech and Empresario (“the Purchase Agreement”).  The convertible secured debenture, dated August 10, 2010, between
Empresario and Comamtech, in the original amount of $4,411,186 was cancelled and terminated.  The guarantee, dated May 14, 2009, among Comamtech, Empresario, and the
sole shareholder, pursuant to which the sole shareholder guaranteed certain obligations under the Purchase Agreement, was cancelled and terminated.  Costs incurred to complete
the Transfer Agreement totaled $130,000, of which $100,000 was due to Robert Chaiken, a Director of the Company, for services related to negotiating the Transfer
Agreement.  Of that amount, $42,152 was paid in cash and on September 30, 2011, we issued Mr. Chaiken 26,906 shares of common stock valued at $57,848 as payment in
full.  The remaining costs were legal and other professional services to complete the Transfer.
 
The difference between the estimated fair value of the note receivable of $100,000 and the payment of $530,000, reduced by a $130,000 in costs to complete the Transfer,
approximated $300,000 and was recorded  as other income in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.
 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on or before August 25, 2011, we were to have an audit performed on the balance sheet of Comamtech as of June 15, 2011 (the “Opening
Balance Sheet”).  Prior to August 25, 2011, we prepared a statement (the “Purchase Price Statement”) setting forth our good faith computation of the shareholders’ equity of
Comamtech as of August 15, 2011.  During August 2011, both parties accepted the Purchase Price Statement and agreed to forego an audit.
 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, if the final shareholders’ equity balance reflected in the Opening Balance Sheet was less than $7,233,000, then the shareholders of Old
DecisionPoint at the date of the Merger were entitled to receive, on a pro rata basis, common shares according to a schedule set forth in the Merger Agreement.  The final
shareholders’ equity balance reflected in the Opening Balance Sheet was $3,947,687 (see table above) and as a result, we issued the maximum number of additional common
shares of 487,310 to the Old DecisionPoint shareholders on September 30, 2011.  These shares were included in total common shares issued and outstanding as of the Effective
Date of the transaction, as reflected in our Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2011.  This had the effect of reducing the exchange ratio from one for every eight shares
tendered (1:8) to one for every seven point two three shares tendered (1:7.23273).  The additional common shares have been accounted for as a reduction in the exchange ratio for
all other securities, including the preferred stock, stock options and warrants to purchase shares of our securities.
 
As a result, after the adjustment to the exchange ratio, we had acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Old DecisionPoint from its shareholders by exchanging
36,749,286 of Old DecisionPoint common shares for 5,080,970 shares of our common stock and by exchanging 975 and 380 shares of Old DecisionPoint Series A and Series B
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares, for 269,608 and 131,347 shares of our Series A and Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares, respectively.
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Business Combination

On December 31, 2010, we acquired CMAC, a supply chain consulting and systems integration firm focused on delivering operational and technical solutions for the
enterprise.  The purchase price of $3,150,000 consisted of $2,205,000 in cash and 452,097 unregistered shares of our common stock, valued at $945,000.  The value of the shares
was based on the average daily closing price per share of our common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on December 29, 2010.  The CMAC acquisition  enabled
us to increase our professional services and software revenue by enhancing our ability to deliver operational and technical supply chain solutions.  As anticipated, CMAC has
contributed to the improvement in our overall gross margin through its professional services revenue, and provided us with the additional resources to further grow our current
professional services revenue through its experienced staff of in-house consultants and data base of contract professional services consultants.

The operating results of CMAC have been included in our results of operations beginning January 1, 2011.

Pro Forma Disclosure of Financial Information

The following table summarizes our unaudited consolidated results of operations as of December 31, 2010 as if the CMAC acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2010: (000’s
except per share data)
 
Net sales  $ 66,492 
Net loss  $ (2,260)
     
Net loss per share - basic and diluted  $ (0.58)
     

Results of Operations

For comparison purposes, all dollar amounts have been rounded to nearest million while all percentages are actual.

Revenues were $58.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared to $56.2 million for the same period ended December 31, 2010, an increase of $2.1 million or
3.8%.  The increase in revenue was primarily due to the inclusion of the operating results of our CMAC subsidiary for the entire year and the improved product availability from
our principal vendor.

Although we have greater total revenues for the year, revenues from our business excluding CMAC’s revenue have declined by $9.2 million in 2011.  We have experienced
decreases in traditional mobility solutions revenue which has historically generated lower gross margins, while our professional services revenues have continued to grow.  While
the improved economic conditions in the U.S. which had begun in the first half of 2010, and continued throughout 2011 have had a positive effect generally, we have experienced
greater competitive forces in the market place within our core hardware business.  Major retail chains had deferred new technology implementation and delayed systems’
refresh.  Conversely, the current economic environment in 2012 has stabilized whereupon we are seeing greater renewed interest and more importantly, fundamental need to
implement new cost saving technology which will enable our customers to compete for the ultimate consumer spending in their retail stores.

Cost of sales were $46.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared to $45.4 million for the same period ended December 31, 2010, an increase of $1.0 million or
2.2%.

Our gross profit was $12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared to $10.9 million for the same period ended December 31, 2010, an increase of $1.1 million or
10.5%.  Our realized gross margin percentage has increased by 1.2% to 20.5% in 2011, from 19.3% in the comparable period of 2010.  The increase in gross margin is directly due
to the higher gross margin from professional services revenue from our business excluding CMAC for the full year in 2011.  We believe that we would have realized even better
gross margins had it not been for the very competitive environment for hardware sales across our entire customer base, as noted above.  Another factor which reduced our realized
gross margin was the integration of CMAC for the entire first quarter of 2011.  Additionally, we have continued our increased emphasis on cost control and improved utilization
and efficiency of our professional services personnel and related costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $13.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared to $9.6 million for the same period ended December 31, 2010,
an increase of $4.0 million or 41.5%.  The majority of the increase was due to the inclusion of our CMAC subsidiary’s selling and administration expenses for the entire period of
$2.4 million.  Additional increases in the year were from $0.2 million sales expenses.  Finance and administration expenses were higher due primarily to increased professional fees
and investor relations expenses associated with being a public company of approximately $0.2 million, $0.5 million increase in executive salaries and applicable payroll taxes
and $0.2 million increase in Director’s fees.
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Additionally, we have expensed approximately $0.2 million for a finder’s fee associated with the Merger as well as due diligence on a potential acquisition in the later part of 2011.

Interest expense, which is related to our line of credit, subordinated debt and our obligations with related parties, was $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011,
compared to $2.2 million for the same period ended December 31, 2010.  The $1.0 million decrease in interest expense was the result of lower associated interest expense and
charges related to our senior debt and a general decrease in the amount of borrowings under our debt agreements in 2011.  Further, our related party balances were reduced in 2011
and the commensurate interest rate was reduced from 25% to 12%.  In 2010, interest expense included $421,000 for amortization of deferred financing costs and $600,000 for
warrant expenses.  Our subordinated debt was fully repaid during 2010, and we ended 2010 with a line of credit and new term loan with our long standing financial institution that
has resulted in significantly lower interest charges and other costs of financing as noted above for 2011.  We had originally estimated this savings to be approximately $1.0 million
for 2011, which has been fully realized.

The change in other (income) expense, net to $(0.3) million of income from $1.1 million of expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, consists
primarily of expenses related to the June 2011 merger transaction that were expensed during 2010 of approximately $0.3 million and an additional $0.7 million of expenses that we
incurred relating to an acquisition that did not materialize in 2010.  During 2011, we satisfied our receivable from Empresario for a net gain of $0.3 included as ‘other income’ as
more fully described in the notes to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and Cash Flow

We have seen our revenue increase approximately 4%, due to the inclusion of the operations of CMAC for the entire year.  Our higher gross margin and increased selling, general
and administrative expenses due to inclusion of the results from CMAC for the entire year along with increased selling expenses, higher executive salaries, professional expenses
and investor relations expenses related to being a public company, a finder’s fee associated with the Merger and due diligence on a potential acquisition, all resulted in lower
operating income for the year.

We believe that our strategic shift to higher margin solutions with additional software and professional service revenues will improve our results through this improving economic
period.  As a matter of course, we do not maintain significant cash balances on hand since we are financed by a line of credit.  Typically, any excess cash is automatically applied to
the then outstanding line of credit balance.  As long as we continue to generate revenues, we are permitted to draw down on our line of credit to fund our normal working capital
needs.  As such, we anticipate that we will have more than sufficient borrowing capacity to continue our operations in the normal course of business unless unforeseeable material
economic events occur that are beyond our control.

In the last three complete years of operations from 2009 through 2011, we have not experienced any significant effects of inflation on our product and service pricing, revenues or
our income from continuing operations.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had cash of approximately $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively.  We have used, and plan to use, such cash for general corporate
purposes, including working capital.

As of December 31, 2011, we have negative working capital of $3.8 million and total stockholders’ equity of $2.5 million.  As of December 31, 2010, we had negative working
capital of $8.9 million and total stockholders’ deficit of $2.9 million.  At December 31, 2011, included in current liabilities is unearned revenue of $6.8 million, which reflects
services that are to be performed in future periods but that have been paid and/or accrued for and therefore, do not generally represent additional future cash outflow
requirements.  At December 31, 2011, included in current assets are deferred costs of $3.5 million which reflect costs paid for third party extended maintenance services that are
being amortized over their respective service periods, which do not generally represent future cash outflows.  The increase in the unearned revenue, offset by the deferred costs,
continues to provide a benefit in future periods as the amounts convert to net realized revenue.
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The  table below sets forth a non-GAAP presentation of our working capital position after taking into account the effect of the current deferred assets and liabilities and should be
read in conjunction with the attached consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

  December 31,  
(000's)  2011   2010  

       
Current assets  $ 20,342  $ 17,865 
Current liabilities   24,104   26,811 
         

Working capital - GAAP   (3,762)   (8,946)
Deferred cost   (3,469)   (3,563)
Deferred revenue   6,756   5,714 
         
Adjusted working capital - non-GAAP measure  $ (475)  $ (6,795)
 
2011 Financing

During May 2011, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which we issued a $4,000,000 Senior Subordinated Secured Note (the
“Note”).  Principal and interest at a rate of 12% was originally due and payable on August 31, 2011.  Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, on June 15, 2011, the consummation
date of the Merger, the maturity date of the Note was extended to May 31, 2012, and the interest rate was increased to 24% retroactive to the issuance date.  Total cash received
under the Purchase Agreement was approximately $3,700,000, net of fees.  In conjunction with and as a condition of the Purchase Agreement, we entered into an advisory services
agreement with the Note holder pursuant to which we paid $150,000 in cash on the effective date of the agreement and $80,000 in cash upon consummation of the Merger.  Upon
the consummation of the Merger on June 15, 2011, we issued 25,000 common shares as settlement of the $80,000 cash payment.  The fair value of the common shares of $2.30 or
$57,500 was recorded as equity, and the difference of $22,500 was included as a reduction in the loss on debt extinguishment as described below.
 
In June 2011, we entered into an Exchange Agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with the Note holder pursuant to which we issued 1,286,667 shares of its Series C Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series C Preferred”) with a fair value of $3.73 per share, or $4,799,268, in exchange for the surrender and cancellation of the Note and payment of
accrued interest of $117,333.  In connection with the Exchange Agreement, we also issued 505,000 shares of common stock on June 30, 2011, with a closing market price of $2.30
per share, or $1,161,500, for no additional consideration.  In addition, the Note holder received protective anti-dilution rights which entitles it to receive additional shares if at any
time we are required, pursuant solely to the Merger Agreement as described Note 1, to issue additional shares of common stock to the shareholders as is necessary for the Note
holder to maintain the same beneficial ownership percentage, on a fully diluted basis, as they had before any such additional shares were issued.
 
In September 2011, pursuant to these protective anti-dilution rights, we issued 105,700 shares with a value of $243,110.  The shares were valued at $2.30 per share, the closing
price of our common stock on June 30, 2011.  The expense related to the issuance of the shares was recorded as a loss on debt extinguishment in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.
 
Pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, we had a contingent obligation to issue up to a maximum of 500,000 shares of its common stock to the Note holder.  The contingency was
dependent upon the receipt by the Company of payments on the note receivable and other receivable acquired pursuant to the Merger with Comamtech.  The Exchange Agreement
defined certain thresholds for the amounts of these payments, the receipt of which would lower the number of common shares to be contingently issued on an incremental
basis.  Based upon the probability at the time, that the threshold amount expected to be received would result in no additional shares being issued, the fair value per share is
estimated to be $0.
 
In conjunction with the Exchange Agreement, we also entered into an agreement between us, the Note holder, and our Chief Financial Officer, (“CFO”).  Pursuant to this
agreement, we issued 128,667 shares of Series C Preferred and 49,000 shares of common stock to the CFO as settlement of $400,000 of accrued expenses and $11,733 of accrued
interest owed to the CFO.  In addition, the CFO was issued shares of common stock in an amount equal to an aggregate of ten percent (10%) of any additional shares of common
stock issued to the Note holder as described above.  We expensed $23,920 for the issuance of an additional 10,400 common shares to the CFO.  The shares were valued at $2.30
per share, the closing price of our common stock on June 30, 2011.  The expense related to the issuance of the shares was recorded as a loss on debt extinguishment in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.  In conjunction with Exchange Agreement, the interest rate on the balance of the
payable to the CFO was reduced to 12% per annum until such time as the annual dividend rate on the Series C Preferred is increased to 12% and 20% per annum as defined, at
which time the interest rate on the amount payable shall be increased to 16% and 25%, respectively.
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The Exchange Agreement was accounted for as a debt extinguishment as the exchange was effected by issuance of common and preferred stock that did not represent the exercise
of a conversion right contained in the terms of the debt at issuance.  We determined that the loss on exchange of debt was substantial by comparing the carrying value of the debt
extinguished to the fair value of the consideration tendered, and recorded $2,665,157 as a loss on debt extinguishment.
 
The loss was the result of the difference between the fair value of the consideration given and the carrying value of the senior subordinated secured note extinguished, as follows:
 
Fair value of consideration tendered in extinguishment    
Series C Preferred  $ 5,279,195 
Common stock   1,331,700 
Expense related to issuance of anti-dilution shares   267,030 
Expenses related to senior subordinated secured note   396,298 
   7,274,223 
Carrying value of debt extinguished     
Senior subordinated secured note and related accrued interest   4,117,333 
Related party accounts payable and accrued interest   411,733 
Advisory services payable related to senior subordinated secured note   80,000 
   4,609,066 
     
Total loss on extinguishment of debt  $ 2,665,157 
 
Credit Facility & 2010 Financing

In December 2006, pursuant to a Loan and Security Agreement (“Loan Agreement”), we obtained a $6.5 million line of credit, which provides for borrowings based upon eligible
accounts receivable.  In March 2009, pursuant to an Amendment to the Loan Agreement (“First Amendment”), the line of credit was renewed through March 2011, and the amount
available for borrowing was increased to $8.5 million.  We paid an annual renewal fee of $85,000.  Pursuant to the First Amendment, the rate at which interest accrues is prime
plus 4%, with a potential interest rate reduction of 0.50% based on future profitability.

In December 2010, the line of credit was temporarily reduced to $7.0 million in conjunction with a new Term Loan of $3.0 million with the same financial institution that
increased the Company’s overall credit facility with the financial institution to $10.0 million.  The Term Loan was used to acquire CMAC and repay all of our remaining
subordinated debt.  We paid a $60,000 commitment fee over the first six quarters of the loan and will pay a final payment of $60,000, or 2% of the principal amount borrowed, at
the earlier of the maturity date or date of prepayment of the Term Loan.  The Term Loan accrues interest at a fixed rate of 9% and $2.0 million was outstanding at December 31,
2011.  The amounts outstanding under the line of credit at December 31, 2011 and 2010 were approximately $4.0 million and $4.4 million with interest accruing in both years at
7.5%.  Availability under this line of credit was approximately $5.0 million and $2.6 million (subject to the temporary reduction in the credit line as described above) as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

In December 2010, in conjunction with our acquisition of CMAC, we issued 452,097 shares of common stock valued at $945,000 to the selling shareholders of CMAC.  We also
sold $380,000 of Series B Preferred Stock in December 2010.  These transactions contributed to the reduction of our stockholders’ deficit.

In February 2011, pursuant to a Second Amendment to the Loan Agreement the line of credit was renewed for an additional two year period and the amount available for
borrowing was increased to $10.0 million.  We paid an annual renewal fee of $100,000.  The overall credit facility with our financial institution was $13.0 million and reducing as
the term loan principal is repaid over the 36 month term.

In May 2011, pursuant to a Consent and Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the “Amendment”), the maturity date was amended to April 30, 2012, with the remaining
principal due on that date to be paid as a balloon payment.  The principal amount outstanding under the Term Loan accrues interest at a fixed rate equal to 9% per annum.  In
addition, a final payment equal to 2% of the aggregate amount of the Term Loan is due on the earlier of the maturity date or the date the Term Loan is prepaid.  This final payment
of $60,000 has been recorded as a discount to the Term Loan, which is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the Loan using the effective interest method.  In
September 2011, pursuant to a Limited Waiver and Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, the Loan Agreement was amended and certain covenants were replaced or
modified resulting in our being in full compliance at September 30, 2011.  In addition, the maturity date was extended to the earlier of the maturity of the line of credit (see Note 7
of the Notes to the attached Consolidated Financial Statements) or December 1, 2013, the original maturity of the Term Loan and the principal is due in equal installments with no
balloon payment.
 
We believe that cash on hand, plus amounts anticipated to be generated from operations and from other contemplated financing transactions, whether from issuing additional long
term debt or from the sale of equity securities through a private placement, as well as borrowings available under our line of credit, will be sufficient to support our operations
through December 2012.  If we are not able to raise funds through private placements, we may choose to modify our growth plans to the extent of available funding, if any, and
further reduce our selling, general and administrative expenses.
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Cash Flows from Operating, Investing and Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2011, net cash used in operating activities was $2.4 million.  Our net loss was $5.2 million in 2011, most of which was the result of non-cash
transactions during the year.  Specifically, we had a $2.3 million non-cash loss on debt extinguishment as it related to the exchange of the $4.0 million subordinated debt for
preferred stock and $1.3 million of other non-cash transactions such as depreciation and amortization, employee and non-employee stock-based compensation, and deferred
taxes.  Additionally, our cash position was positively affected by the net change in our unearned revenue of $1.4 million associated with increased deferred revenues and associated
costs.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, net cash used in operating activities was $2.5 million.  Our net loss was $2.2 million in 2010, of which approximately $2.0 million was
due to non-cash transactions such as depreciation and amortization, employee and non-employee stock-based compensation, and deferred taxes.  Additionally, our cash position
was positively affected by the $2.1 million decrease in accounts receivable.  Although accounts payable had increased by $2.6 million this was off-set by a $2.2 million reduction
in accrued expenses for the payment to the CMAC shareholders in connection with the acquisition.
 
Net cash used in investing activities was $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, and was related to the cash payment to the shareholders of CMAC in January 2011 of
$2.2 million offset by the $0.5 million collection of a note receivable in connection with the Merger in September 2011.
 
Net cash provided by investing activities was $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, from the assets net of cash acquired from the CMAC acquisition during
December 2010.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, net cash provided by financing activities was $4.2 million, primarily due to the $4.0 million in proceeds from sale of subordinated debt
and the $2.0 million of cash received from the Merger.  Cash used in financing activities was the result of $1.0 million of senior long-term debt repayment, $0.3 million of net
repayments on the line of credit, $0.2 million for the purchase of treasury stock, payment of $0.1 million for the Series C Preferred Stock dividend and $0.1 million of financing
costs.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2010, net cash provided by financing activities was $2.6 million, primarily due to $3.0 million of borrowings under the long term debt related to
the acquisition of CMAC, $1.8 million of net borrowings from the line of credit for operations, $0.6 million from the exercise of employee stock options, $0.4 million from the
issuance of convertible preferred stock, repayment of $2.8 million of subordinated debt and $0.4 million of paid financing costs and holding share liability.
 
Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods.  Critical accounting policies are those that require the application of management’s most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments, often
because of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain and that may change in subsequent periods.  In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, management has utilized available information, including our past history, industry standards and the current economic environment, among other factors, in forming
its estimates and judgments, giving due consideration to materiality.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.  In addition, other companies may utilize different estimates,
which may impact the comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in similar businesses.  We believe that the following critical accounting policies involve a
high degree of judgment and estimation:

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 

We have policies and procedures for reviewing and granting credit to all customer accounts, including:
 

 ● Credit reviews of all new customer accounts,
 ● Ongoing credit evaluations of current customers,
 ● Credit limits and payment terms based on available credit information,
 ● Adjustments to credit limits based upon payment history and the customer’s current credit worthiness, and
 ● An active collection effort by regional credit functions, reporting directly to the corporate financial officers.
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We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. These allowances are based on both
recent trends of certain customers estimated to be a greater credit risk, as well as historical trends of the entire customer pool. If the financial condition of our customers were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.  To mitigate this credit risk we perform periodic credit evaluations
of our customers.

Inventory
 
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market.  Cost is determined under the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.  We periodically review our inventory and make provisions as
necessary for estimated obsolete and slow-moving goods.  We mark down inventory by an amount equal to the difference between cost of inventory and the estimated market value
based upon assumptions about future demands, selling prices and market conditions.  The creation of such provisions results in a write-down of inventory to net realizable value
and a charge to cost of sales.
 
Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets  

Goodwill represents the excess purchase price paid over the fair value of the net assets of acquired companies.  Goodwill is subject to impairment testing as necessary, (at least
once annually at December 31) if changes in circumstances or the occurrence of certain events indicate potential impairment.  In assessing the recoverability of our goodwill,
identified intangibles, and other long-lived assets, significant assumptions regarding the estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of the respective
assets must be made, as well as the related estimated useful lives.  The fair value of goodwill and long-lived assets is estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation model and
observed earnings and revenue trading multiples of identified peer companies.  If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future as a result of changes in
strategy or market conditions, we may be required to record impairment charges for these assets in the period such determination was made.
 
Intangible Assets
 
We make judgments about the recoverability of purchased finite-lived intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may
exist.  Recoverability of finite-lived intangible assets is measured by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to
generate.  If it is determined that an individual asset is impaired, the amount of any impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the
impaired asset.
 
The assumptions and estimates used to determine future values and remaining useful lives of our intangible are complex and subjective.  They can be affected by various factors,
including external factors such as industry and economic trends, and internal factors such as changes in our business strategy and our forecasts.
 
Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method.  Deferred taxes are provided on an asset and liability method whereby deferred tax assets are
recognized as deductible temporary differences and operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences.  Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax basis.  Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.

Under the accounting for uncertain tax positions the Company has clarified the recognition threshold and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions
taken, or expected to be taken, on a tax return.  The impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more
likely than not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority.  An uncertain tax position will not be recognized if it has a less than fifty percent likelihood of being
sustained.  For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011, there was no recognition of material uncertain tax positions required.
 
Revenue recognition

Revenues are generated through product sales, warranty and maintenance agreements, software customization, and professional services.  Product sales are recognized when the
following criteria are met (1) there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred and title has passed to the customer, which generally happens at the
point of shipment provided that no significant obligations remain; (3) the price is fixed and determinable; and (4) collectability is reasonably assured.  We generate revenues from
the sale of extended warranties on wireless and mobile hardware and systems.  Revenue related to extended warranty and service contracts is recorded as unearned revenue and is
recognized over the life of the contract and we may be liable to refund a customer for amounts paid in certain circumstances.  This has not been an issue for us historically.

We also generate revenue from software customization and professional services on either a fee-for-service or fixed fee basis.  Revenue from software customization and
professional services that is contracted as fee-for-service, also referred to as per-diem billing, is recognized in the period in which the services are performed or
delivered.  Adjustments to contract price and estimated labor costs are made periodically, and losses expected to be incurred on contracts in progress are charged to operations in
the period such losses are determined.

When a sale involves multiple elements, revenue is allocated to each respective element at inception of an arrangement using the relative selling price method. Selling price is
determined based on a selling price hierarchy, consisting of vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE), third party evidence or estimated selling price.
 
 

30



 
 
Stock-based compensation
 
We record the fair value of stock-based payments as an expense in our consolidated financial statements.  When more precise pricing data is unavailable, we determine the fair
value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.  This valuation model requires us to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the
calculation.  These variables and assumptions include the weighted-average period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding, the volatility of our common
stock, the risk-free interest rate and the estimated rate of forfeitures of unvested stock options.  Additional information on the variables and assumptions used in our stock-based
compensation are described in Note 12 of the accompanying notes to our consolidated financial statements.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

There were no off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2011.
 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not applicable.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See Item 15 of this annual report for certain information which appears beginning on page F-1 with respect to the consolidated financial statements filed as a part hereof, pursuant
to the requirements of this Item 8.
 
ITEM 9.   CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.
 
ITEM 9A.       CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a)    Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have adopted and maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods required under the SEC’s
rules and forms and that the information is gathered and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer), as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management, together with our CEO and CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) as of the end of
the period covered by this report.  Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.
 
This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting.
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act.  Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that:

 1. Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
 2. Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that our

receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorization of our management and directors; and
 3. Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect

on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
 
Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011.  Based on this assessment, management concluded that we
maintained effective internal controls over financial reporting at that date.  In making this assessment, management used the framework set forth in the report entitled Internal
Control--Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO.  The COSO framework summarizes each of the
components of a company's internal control system, including (i) the control environment, (ii) risk assessment, (iii) control activities, (iv) information and communication, and (v)
monitoring.
 
(b)     Changes In Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the year ended December 31, 2011, management has made certain changes over internal control that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.  Specifically, we have addressed the following identified weakness as more fully described below.

IDENTIFIED MATERIAL WEAKNESS
 
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
 
We had identified the following material weakness during our assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010.  In the fourth quarter of 2010, we
had inadequate controls related to the financial reporting and closing process, primarily as related to certain inventory items in transit, accounts payable and vacation accruals.  Our
internal controls were not adequately designed in a manner to effectively support the requirements of the financial reporting and closing process.  This material weakness is the
result of aggregate deficiencies related to the preparation, review and approval of account analyses, summaries and reconciliations.  In addition, during 2011, management noted
certain additional errors as more thoroughly discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  These errors also related to the financial reporting process and were the
result of deficiencies in the review and approval of the financial statement presentation.  Due to the significance of the financial closing and reporting process to the preparation of
reliable financial statements, and the potential pervasiveness of the deficiencies to our account balances and disclosures, there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

MANAGEMENT'S REMEDIATION INITIATIVES
 
As part of our planned improvements to our financial reporting and subsequent to the issuance of consolidated financial statements for the year end December 31, 2010, we have
taken remedial measures to establish effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, including transitioning to a new payroll system in
order to properly account for our accrued vacation.  In addition, we have augmented our controls and processes in order to ensure that all inventory transactions are properly
accounted for.
 
In light of the identified material weaknesses, management, performed (1) significant additional substantive review of those areas described above, and (2) performed additional
analyses, including but not limited to a detailed balance sheet and statement of operations analytical review that compared changes from the prior period's financial statements and
analyzed all significant differences.  These procedures were completed so management could gain assurance that the financial statements and schedules included in this Form 10-K
fairly present in all material respects our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.
 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors and Executive Officers
 
Below are the names and certain information regarding the Company’s Officers and Directors:

Name Age  Position
    
Nicholas R. Toms 63  Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman
Donald W. Rowley 60  Chief Financial Officer and Director
Ralph S. Hubregsen 52  Chief Operating Officer
John E. Chis 55  Senior Vice President, Sales
Bryan E. Moss 45  Senior Vice President, Professional Services
Melinda Wohl 41  Vice President, Finance – Controller and Treasury
Roy A. Ceccato 53  Vice President, Finance – SEC Reporting and Compliance
David M. Rifkin 56  Director
Jay B. Sheehy 56  Director
Robert M. Chaiken 48  Director
Maydan Rothblum 38  Director
Marc Ferland 67  Director
Lawrence Yelin 68  Director

Set forth below is a brief description of the background and business experience of each of our executive officers and directors for the past five years.

Nicholas R. Toms, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

Mr. Toms became CEO of DecisionPoint as of December 2003, when an ESOP that he organized together with Mr. Rowley acquired DecisionPoint.  As a former corporate
finance/M&A attorney with Skadden Arps Slate Meagher & Flom, Mr. Toms is an entrepreneur and has been involved with middle market businesses for the past several
years.  He also serves as CEO of Cape Systems Group, Inc. (formerly Vertex Interactive, Inc.), a provider of warehouse management software systems.  In 1989, Mr. Toms
founded Peak Technologies where he served as Chairman, President and CEO.  In 1997, Peak was sold to Moore Corporation in a transaction valued at approximately $300
million.  In 1986, an investor group of which Mr. Toms was a principal, orchestrated the buyout of Thomson T-Line Plc, a publicly traded company based in London, England.
Mr. Toms is a graduate of Stellenbosch University (South Africa) in economics and law (LL.B) and New York University (LL.M).

Donald W. Rowley, Chief Financial Officer and Director

Mr. Rowley joined DecisionPoint in December 2003, when an ESOP that he organized together with Mr. Toms acquired DecisionPoint.  He has over thirty years of business
experience including top-level officer positions with both publicly traded and privately held companies.  Mr. Rowley has almost twenty years of experience, specifically in the data
capture industry, including working with Mr. Toms in founding Peak Technologies and serving as CFO.  He was previously Executive Vice President Strategic Planning at Vertex
Interactive, Inc. (now Cape Systems Group, Inc.) from 2000 to 2003.  Additionally, his AIDC industry experience includes serving as CFO of publicly traded Norand Corporation,
now part of Intermec, and as a consultant to Cerplex Group, a publicly traded company that provided depot computer and computer peripheral repair and logistics services.

Ralph S. Hubregsen, Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Hubregsen joined the Company in September 2011, as Chief Operating Officer.  From November 2010 until July 2011, Mr. Hubregsen was the Vice President of Worldwide
Channels at Symplified, a cloud security company that provides a SaaS-based single sign-on and identity access management solution.  From March 2009 until July 2011, Mr.
Hubregsen was the President of Venado Technologies, a company that he founded, and which is an integrator of innovative software and service solutions for large commercial
enterprise accounts, and Federal and State government agencies, where he was responsible for negotiating and managing several multi-million dollar contracts with a number of
Federal agencies.  Prior to that Mr. Hubregsen served as Vice President of Sales at MonoSphere, Inc., which he started in January 2006 until it was acquired by Quest Software in
December 2008.  In addition to founding Venado Technologies, Mr. Hubregsen founded the Saillant Consulting Group in 1998, which specialized in the delivery of content
management and document management solutions for large Fortune 500 companies and federal agencies.  Between 1995 and 1997, Mr. Hubregsen served as Vice President of
Western Field Operations for Peak Technologies Group after Peak purchased Innovative Products and Peripherals (“IPPC”), a company also founded by Mr. Hubregsen and his
partners.  IPPC was a provider of mobility solutions for the industrial marketplace.  Mr. Hubregsen holds an MBA from the University of Denver and BA from Saint Michael's
College.
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John E. Chis, Senior Vice President, Sales

Mr. Chis joined DecisionPoint in November 2004, as General Manager and Vice President of Sales.  He previously worked at Symbol Technologies, Inc. and Telxon (which was
acquired by Symbol) for more than 20 years in various sales, marketing and operations management positions.

Bryan Moss, Senior Vice President, Professional Services
 
Mr. Moss joined DecisionPoint upon the consummation of the CMAC acquisition on December 31, 2010.  He has 21 years of Information Technology, Logistics, Sales, and
Engineering experience.  Mr. Moss had been a principal along with being the President of CMAC Inc. for the past 13 years.  Prior to CMAC, he was Senior Manager of the Supply
Chain Practice for Accenture, responsible for Alliances and Supply Chain Execution Systems Implementations.  Mr. Moss served in a management capacity for 8 years with UPS
and Burnham Logistics in Information Technology, Engineering, and Operations.  He attended Southern Tech on a Athletics Scholarship receiving a Bachelor of Science degree in
Industrial Engineering with a Minor in Technical Sales.

Melinda Wohl, Vice President, Finance - Controller and Treasury

Ms. Wohl joined DecisionPoint in August 2004.  Ms. Wohl is responsible for DecisionPoint’s consolidated internal financial reporting, sales administration and treasury.  Prior to
working for DecisionPoint, Ms. Wohl served as Controller for an international manufacturer/distributor of electronic components and as an accountant for a lighting products
manufacturer.

Roy A. Ceccato, Vice President, Finance – SEC Reporting and Compliance

Mr. Ceccato joined DecisionPoint in July 2007.  He is responsible for Mergers and Acquisitions, contract review and external financial reporting for the SEC public reporting
requirements.  Prior to joining DecisionPoint, Mr. Ceccato was a Director and CFO of Castlton Environmental Remediation Contractors, Inc., from April 2004 to June 2007.  He
has also worked in various prior roles as Director and Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer and Director of Finance, of several public companies in service and manufacturing
industries.

David M. Rifkin, Director

Mr. Rifkin has been an investor in DecisionPoint and a Director since 2003.  Mr. Rifkin is the President and CEO and co-owner of eGlobalfares, LLC, a software and solution
provider to the travel industry.  Prior to investing in and joining eGlobalfares in 2006, Mr. Rifkin was the SVP of Corporate Sales and a member of the executive team at Adelman
Travel Group, a top 10 U.S. travel management company from 2003.  After graduating Bucknell University in 1977 with a bachelor’s degree in business administration, Mr. Rifkin
joined the family businesses in insurance, real estate and travel.  As a result, Mr. Rifkin has had experience with owning, managing and selling commercial properties and he was
licensed in personal and commercial insurance lines. Rifkin Travel was sold to the Adelman Travel Group in 2003.  Mr. Rifkin has been involved at executive board levels with
many community and not-for-profit organizations.  This includes challenging experiences of successfully executing several turn-arounds of critical community agencies and
institutions.

Jay B. Sheehy, Director

Mr. Sheehy became associated with DecisionPoint as an early investor in 2003 and became a Director concurrent with the Merger.  Mr. Sheehy has been the President and
Principal of Kamco Supply of New England, a $100 million building materials distribution business since 1996.  From 1984-1995, Mr. Sheehy was President and Principal of
Stanley Svea Building Supply until he merged the company into Kamco.  Previously, Mr. Sheehy held an internal audit position at Connecticut Bank and Trust, Budget Analyst
post with Combustion Engineering and was a Manager of Financial Analysis with PepsiCo.  After graduating Bucknell University in 1977 with a bachelor’s degree in business
administration he went on to earn an MBA from the University of Connecticut, APC from NYU and his CPA accreditation.  Mr. Sheehy is a Trustee of The Gunnery School, a
Board Member of the Connecticut Business and Industry Association (CBIA) and an officer of Churchill Casualty Insurance.
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Robert M. Chaiken, Director

Mr. Chaiken became a Director of DecisionPoint in November 2010.  Mr. Chaiken has worked for the Adelman Travel Group, a privately-held travel management company, since
1991. Since 2008, he has served as the Adelman Travel Group’s President and Chief Financial Officer.  From 1995 to 2008, he served as the Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Financial Officer and, from 1991 to 1995, he served as its Controller.  He is a Certified Public Accountant and holds a B.B.A. from the University of Wisconsin with a double
major in accounting and information systems.

Maydan Rothblum, Director

Mr. Rothblum became a Director of DecisionPoint in May 2011.  Mr. Rothblum is a Managing Director at Sigma Capital Partners - a multi-strategy, active, long-term, strategic
private equity firm.  Mr. Rothblum has over fifteen years of private equity, finance, business consulting, technology and capital markets experience both domestically and
internationally.  Prior to co-founding Sigma in 2004, Mr. Rothblum held positions at Apax Partners, Booz, Allen & Hamilton, and an equity research firm. Mr. Rothblum had
earlier experience in managing business development and fund raising engagements for Israeli high-tech companies.  In addition, he served as an engineer in the Israeli Defense
Force (IDF) where he focused on designing and implementing large logistics, ERP and inventory management projects.  Mr. Rothblum holds an MBA from Columbia Business
School and a BS in Industrial Engineering and Management from the Technion - Israel Institute of Technology.

Marc Ferland, Director

Mr. Ferland became a Director of DecisionPoint upon completion of the Merger.  Mr. Ferland had served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Copernic Inc. from March
2008 and on its Board of Directors since September 2007.  In November 2010, Copernic was sold to N. Harris Computer Corporation and he resigned his duties with Copernic and
simultaneously assumed the positions of Chairman of the Board and President/Chief Executive Officer of its successor, Comamtech.  Prior to his affiliation with Copernic and
Comamtech, Mr. Ferland worked in the venture capital industry in various capacities for 10 years with Microcell, Caisse de Dépôt et Placement du Quebec (Canada’s largest
pension fund), VantagePoint (a Silicon Valley venture capital fund) and Gen24 Capital, which he co-founded.  Mr. Ferland also worked in the Telecommunications industry
for over 10 years in senior roles with Cantel (now Rogers), Scotpage/Scotcom, Telesystem National and Microcell Telecom.  Mr. Ferland also spent almost 20 years in a variety of
management positions with Canadian General Electric.  He graduated from the University of Montreal with a B.A. honors in economics and did post graduate work at McGill
University and Harvard Business School.  Mr. Ferland is a Canadian citizen.

Lawrence Yelin, Director

Mr. Yelin became a Director of DecisionPoint upon completion of the Merger.  Mr. Yelin is an attorney, who has had his own practice since February, 2009.  From June 1980 until
January 2009, he was an attorney at the law firm of Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP.  Mr. Yelin is a Canadian citizen.

Code of Business Conduct

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all our directors, officers (including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and any person
performing similar functions) and employees.  The Code of Ethics is available on our website www.decisionpt.com.  We  review transactions with related parties using the
provisions included in the Code of Ethics.  Additionally, we have established a toll-free phone line to register employee concerns.  This service is provided by an independent third-
party company.

Committees of the Board

The Audit Committee members are Jay B. Sheehy, David M. Rifkin, Robert M. Chaiken and Maydan Rothblum.  The Audit Committee Chairman is Jay B. Sheehy.  The Audit
Committee assists our board in fulfilling its responsibility for the oversight of the quality and integrity of our accounting, auditing, and reporting practices, and such other duties as
directed by the Board.  The committee's purpose is to oversee our accounting and financial reporting processes, the audits of our financial statements, the qualifications of our
public accounting firm engaged by us as our independent auditor to prepare or issue an audit report on our financial statements.  Jay B. Sheehy is the "audit committee financial
expert" within the meaning of SEC rules and regulations.

The Compensation and Governance Committee members are Jay B. Sheehy, David M. Rifkin, Robert M. Chaiken and Maydan Rothblum.  The Compensation and Governance
Committee Chairman is David M. Rifkin.  The Compensation Committee's role is to discharge our Board’s responsibilities relating to compensation of our executives and to
oversee and advise the Board of Directors on the adoption of policies that govern our compensation and benefit programs.

When considering whether directors and nominees have the experience, qualifications, attributes and skills, the Company and the Board focused primarily on the information
discussed in each of the directors’ individual biographies set forth above.  Mr. Toms has experience as Chairman, President and CEO in growing middle market businesses
engaged in providing consultative solutions including professional services, software and equipment.  Mr. Rowley together with Mr. Toms acquired DecisionPoint in December
2003, and Mr. Rowley has experience as CFO in businesses including equipment manufacturer, software development and professional services.  In particular, with regard to
Mr. Rifkin, the Board considered his strong background in software development while providing comprehensive, problem solving solutions and significant expertise and
background as a CEO, President and director of both private companies and community groups.  With regard to Mr. Sheehy, the Board considered his position as President in
similar revenue size and entrepreneurial companies to DecisionPoint is a significant attribute, and his financial experience and general business acumen along with being a CPA
qualifies him for being the Audit Committee.  With regard to Mr. Chaiken, the Board considered his extensive experience in positions of President, Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer in growing entrepreneurial companies whereby his understanding of business operations of a growing company can be best utilized and also qualifies him
as a finance expert.  In regards to Mr. Rothblum, he has extensive experience as a principal in a successful investment firm and has demonstrated his firms’ confidence in our
Company by making a $4.0M investment.  Messer’s Ferland and Yelin were directors of our predecessor entity, Comamtech and therefore their experience in technology space
proves invaluable to the Company.
 
Except as otherwise reported above, none of our directors have held directorships in other reporting companies and registered investment companies at any time during the past
five years.
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Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

To our knowledge, during the last ten years, none of our directors and executive officers has:

 ● Had a bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within
two years prior to that time.

 ● Been convicted in a criminal proceeding or been subject to a pending criminal proceeding, excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses.

 ● Been subject to any order, judgment or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily
enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities or banking activities.

 ● Been found by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC, or the Commodities Futures Trading Commission to have violated a federal or state
securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended or vacated.

 ● Been the subject to, or a party to, any sanction or order, not subsequently reverse, suspended or vacated, of any self-regulatory organization, any registered entity, or
any equivalent exchange, association, entity or organization that has disciplinary authority over its members or persons associated with a member.  

Employment Agreements

 We have a standard three (3) year employment agreement with Mr. Bryan Moss, our Senior Vice President, as a result of the CMAC acquisition.  The agreement calls for an
annual bonus upon achieving certain results of operations at CMAC.  None of the other terms of the agreement are out of the ordinary course of business.

We also have an employment agreement with Mr. Ralph S. Hubregsen, our Chief Operating Officer.  Pursuant to the Agreement, Mr. Hubregsen will be entitled to an annual bonus
calculated pursuant to terms set forth in the Agreement attached hereto as exhibit 10.1.  Additionally, Mr. Hubregsen will be granted options to purchase 50,000 common shares of
the Company.  Such options will vest over three years.  The agreement also calls for a severance provision ranging from two months to twelve months of salary.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships between any of our directors or executive officers and any other directors or executive officers.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table summarizes all compensation recorded by DecisionPoint in each of the last two completed fiscal years for our principal executive officers and our three most
highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive officers as of the end of the last fiscal year.  Such officers are referred to herein as our “Named Officers”.

               
Non-

Equity   
Change in

Pension Value &        
         Stock   Option   Incentive   Nonqualified   All     
Name Year  Salary   Bonus   Award   Award (1)   Plan   Deferred Comp   Other   Total  
                          
Nicholas R. Toms                       
 2011  $ 446,000  $ 80,000  $ -  $ 54,700  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 580,700 
 2010   350,000   -   -   -   -   -   9,800   359,800 
                                  
Donald W. Rowley                              
 2011   421,000   80,000   -   54,700   -   -   2,200   557,900 
 2010   325,000   -   -   -   -   -   9,800   334,800 
                                  
Ralph S. Hubregsen                              
 2011   80,000   -   -   -   -   -   8,950   88,950 
 2010   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
                                  
John E. Chis                                 
 2011   225,000   25,000   -   66,000   -   -   -   316,000 
 2010   225,000   -   -   -   -   -   8,950   233,950 
                                  
Bryan E. Moss                              
 2011   230,000   -   -   -   -   -   -   230,000 
 2010   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
 
(1)  The stock option awards represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the awards granted during the year completed in accordance with ASC718 – See Note 12 to

accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
 
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to outstanding equity awards at December 31, 2011, for each of the executive officers.
 
  Option Awards   Stock Awards  
                          
Name  Number   Number   Equity   Option  Option  Number   Market   Equity   Equity  
  of   of   Incentive   Exercise  Expiration  of Shares   Value of   Incentive   Incentive  
  Securities   Securities   Plan   Price  Date  or Units   Shares or   Plan   Plan  
  Underlying   Underlying   Awards:   ($)    of Stock   Units of   Awards:   Awards:  
  Unexercised   Unexercised   Number of       That   Stock   Number of   Market or  
  Options   Options   Securities       Have   That   Unearned   Payout  
  Exercisable   Unexercisable   Underlying       Not   Have   Shares,   Value of  
  (#)   (#)   Unexercised       Vested   Not   Units or   Unearned  
        Unearned       (#)   Vested   Other   Shares,  
        Options           (#)   Rights   Units or  
          (#)               That Have   Other  
                          Not Vested   Rights  
                          (#)   That Have  

                              
Not Vested

($)  
  
                                
Nicolas R. Toms                             
   158,381   -   -  $ 1.45 1/2/2014   -   -   -  $ - 
   13,542   -   -   1.90 12/31/2016   -   -   -   - 
   -   40,096   -   2.17 6/15/2021   -   -   -   - 
                                  
Donald W. Rowley                           
   6,771   -   -   1.90 12/31/2016   -   -   -   - 
   -   40,096   -   2.17 6/15/2021   -   -   -   - 
                                  
Ralph S. Hubregsen                           
   -   -   -   -    -   -   -   - 
                                  
John E. Chis                               
   33,854   -   -   1.90 12/31/2016   -   -   -   - 
   3,386   5,078   -   2.10 2/12/2019   -   -   -   - 
   -   48,392   -   2.17 6/15/2021   -   -   -   - 
                                  
Bryan E. Moss                               
   -   -   -   -    -   -   -   - 
                                  
Melinda Wohl                               
   33,854   -   -   1.90 12/31/2016   -   -   -   - 
   -   13,827   -   2.17 6/15/2021   -   -   -   - 
                                  
Roy A. Ceccato                               
   -   13,827   -   2.17 6/15/2021   -   -   -   - 
 
Except as set forth above, no other named officer of DecisionPoint has received an equity award.

 
38



 

Director Compensation and Committees

The following table sets forth with respect to the named director, compensation information inclusive of equity awards and payments made during the year ended December 31,
2011.  Committee chair persons receive additional compensation for their service.

              Change in        
              Pension Value        
  Fees Earned            & Nonqualified        
  Earned         Non-Equity   Deferred        
  or   Stock   Option   Incentive Plan   Compensation   All Other     
Name  Paid in Cash   Awards   Awards   Compensation   Earnings   Compensation   Total  
                      
David M. Rifkin  $ 53,000  $ -  $ 7,700  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 60,700 
Jay B. Sheehy   58,000   -   6,600   -   -   -   64,600 
Robert M. Chaiken   48,000   -   3,200   -   -   -   51,200 
Maydan Rothblum   24,000   -   -   -   -   -   24,000 
Marc Ferland   26,000   -   -   -   -   -   26,000 
Lawrence Yelin   26,000   -   -   -   -   -   26,000 
 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain information, as of  March 26, 2012, with respect to the beneficial ownership of the outstanding common stock by (i) any holder of more than
five (5%) percent; (ii) each of the Company’s named executive officers and directors; and (iii) the Company’s directors and executive officers as a group.  Except as otherwise
indicated, each of the stockholders listed below has sole voting and investment power over their shares beneficially owned.
 
  Common Stock   Percentage of  

Name of Beneficial Owner (1)  Beneficially Owned   
Common Stock

(2)  
          
Nicholas R. Toms (*)   512,890   (3)   6.2%
Donald W. Rowley (*)   611,016   (4)   7.5 
Ralph S. Hubregsen (**)   -       - 
John E. Chis (**)   85,929   (5)   1.1 
Bryan E. Moss (**)   215,692   (6)   2.7 
Melinda Wohl (**)   50,684   (7)   0.6 
Roy A. Ceccato (**)   8,556   (8)   0.1 
David M. Rifkin (***)   122,809       1.5 
Jay B. Sheehy (***)   20,312       0.3 
Robert M. Chaiken (***)   49,893       0.6 
Marc Ferland (***)   17,143       0.2 
Lawrence Yelin (***)   5,571       0.1 
Maydan Rothblum (***)   -       - 
             
All Executive Officers and Directors as a group (13 people)           20.8 
             
North Star Trust Company   1,692,753   (9)   21.1 
Sigma Opportunity Fund   1,922,367   (10)   20.6 
 
(*) - Executive Officer and Director of the Company
(**) - Executive Officer of the Company
(***) - Director
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All beneficial ownership percentages as they relate to the ESOP plan are as of December 31, 2011, the latest date of the ESOP share allocation.

(1) Except as otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner is 19655 Descartes, Foothill Ranch, California 92610-2609.
(2) Applicable percentage ownership is based on 8,028,908 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2011, together with securities exercisable or

convertible into shares of common stock within 60 days of December 31, 2011, for each stockholder.  Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities.  Shares of common stock that are currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2011, are deemed to be beneficially owned by the person holding such securities for the purpose of
computing the percentage of ownership of such person, but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

(3) Includes 53,075 shares of common stock held by the ESOP.  The shareholder beneficially owns 3.1% of the ESOP.
(4) Includes 53,370 shares of common stock held by the ESOP.  The shareholder beneficially owns 3.2% of the ESOP.
(5) Includes 33,454 shares of common stock held by the ESOP.  The shareholder beneficially owns 2.0% of the ESOP.
(6) Includes 3,207 shares of common stock held by the ESOP.  The shareholder beneficially owns 0.2% of the ESOP.
(7) Includes 15,579 shares of common stock held by the ESOP.  The shareholder beneficially owns 0.9% of the ESOP.
(8) Includes 8,556 shares of common stock held by the ESOP.  The shareholder beneficially owns 0.5% of the ESOP.
(9) North Star Trust Company, the trustee of the ESOP, is deemed to have the dispositive and voting control over the shares held by the ESOP.
(10) Represents 635,700 shares of common stock and 1,286,667 of shares issuable upon conversion of the Series C Preferred Stock.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
 
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company's directors, executive officers and persons who own more than 10% of the Company's stock (collectively, "Reporting
Persons") to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and changes in ownership of the Company's common stock.  Reporting Persons are required by SEC regulations to
furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.  To the Company's knowledge, based solely on its review of the copies of such reports received or written
representations from certain Reporting Persons that no other reports were required, the Company believes that during its fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, all Reporting
Persons timely complied with all applicable filing requirements, except that Form 3’s were not timely filed for our Directors and Executive Officers after the Merger.  These
forms have since been filed.
 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

We purchase and sell certain products and services from iTEK Services, Inc. (“iTEK”), a privately held company owned by an unrelated ESOP.  iTEK is affiliated with us through
limited overlapping management and Board representation by our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”).  During the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, we purchased products and services for $402,000 and $819,000, respectively, from iTEK.  Sales to iTEK during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were
$4,000 and $436,000, respectively.  These sales to iTEK were at no incremental margin over our actual cost.  Purchases from iTEK are on similar terms that we would have
received from an unrelated third-party.

Amounts due to iTEK included in accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, are $16,000 and $116,000, respectively.

Additionally, until July 2010, we sub-leased our facility in Foothill Ranch, CA from iTEK at a monthly rental expense of $11,763 at which time we entered into a new lease with
the building’s landlord (an unrelated third party) under the same terms and conditions for a one year period expiring in July 2011.  We have renewed the lease through July 2012.

We have accounts payable to our CEO and our CFO, of $855,000 and $1,225,000 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, including accrued interest.  The outstanding
accounts payable balance accrues interest at 12% per annum, reduced from 25% in June 2011.  The balance of the accounts payable consists of purchases of products and services
made on behalf of the Company, unreimbursed company travel expenses and interest on the accounts payable.

In December 2010 we sold 27,652 shares of our Series B Preferred Stock for $2.89 per share to Mr. Robert M. Chaiken, one of our Directors.  The shares were sold at the same
price as 103,695 additional shares sold to an independent third party.
 
On June 30, 2011, the Company, Sigma Opportunity Fund II, LLC and Donald W. Rowley entered into an agreement pursuant to which Mr. Rowley converted $411,733 of the
$1,227,335 in accounts payable owed to him by the Company (the “AP Amount”) into 128,667 shares of the Company’s Series C Preferred Stock and 49,000 shares of common
stock.  Pursuant to this agreement, Mr. Rowley also agreed that the interest rate of the balance of the AP Amount not covered by the agreement shall be reduced to 12% per annum
until such time as the annual dividend rate on the Series C Preferred Stock is increased to 12% per annum (month 17) and 20% per annum (month 31), at which times the interest
rate on the AP Amount then outstanding shall be 16% and 25%, respectively.
 
Director Independence
 
The Board of Directors has determined that Messrs. Rifkin, Sheehy, Chaiken, Ferland and Yelin are each independent directors as of December 31, 2011.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

In accordance with the SEC’s definitions and rules, “audit fees” are fees for professional services for the audit and review of our annual financial statements, and can include fees
for the audit and review of our annual financial statements included in a registration statement filed under the Securities Act as well as issuance of consents and for services that are
normally provided by the independent registered public accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements except those not required by statute or
regulation.  ”Audit-related fees” are fees for assurance and related services that were reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements,
including attestation services that are not required by statute or regulation, due diligence and services related to acquisitions.  “Tax fees” are fees for tax compliance, tax advice and
tax planning, and “all other fees” are fees for any services not included in the first three categories.

Audit Fees

Audit fees billed by BDO USA, LLP for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 were $449,000, which includes approximately $189,000 relating to services provided relating to
our significant debt and equity transactions in 2011.  Audit fees billed by Crowe Horwath LLP for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 were $260,000.

All Other Fees

Other fees billed by Crowe Horwath LLP for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 were $196,000.  Fees paid were related to due diligence work on a potential acquisition that
did not materialize.

At its regularly scheduled and special meetings, the audit committee considers and pre-approves any audit and non-audit services to be performed by our independent registered
public accounting firm. The Board of Directors has the authority to grant pre-approvals of non-audit services.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1)
 
The following consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Report:
 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets - December 31, 2011 and 2010 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations - Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) - Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - December 31, 2011 and 2010 F-7

(d) Exhibits

Exhibit Number Description
3.01 Certificate of Incorporation of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. dated June 15, 2011. (1)
3.02 Bylaws*
3.03 Certificate of Designation of Preferences Rights and Limitations of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred.*
3.04 Certificate of Designation of Preferences Rights and Limitations of Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred.*
3.05 Certificate of Designation, of the Powers, Preferences and Relative Participating, Optional and Other Special Rights of Preferred Stock and Qualifications,

Limitations and Restrictions Thereof of Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock. (2)
3.06 Certificate of Corporate Domestication. (1)
10.1 Arrangement Agreement among DecisionPoint Systems, Inc., Comamtech Inc. and 2259736 Ontario Inc., dated October 20, 2010, incorporated by reference

to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 24, 2011. (1)
10.2 Amendment No. 1 to the Arrangement Agreement, dated December 23, 2010, incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March

24, 2011. (1)
10.3 Amendment No. 2 to the Arrangement Agreement, dated March 22, 2011, incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 24,

2011. (1)
10.4 Amendment No. 3 to the Arrangement Agreement, dated April 8, 2011, incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 14, 2011.

(1)
10.5 Amendment No. 4 to the Arrangement Agreement, dated April 13, 2011, incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 19,

2011. (1)
10.6 Ontario Superior court of Justice Commercial List. (1)
10.7 Exchange Agreement between DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. and Sigma Opportunity Fund II LLC. (2)
10.8 Investor Rights Agreement between DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. and Sigma Opportunity Fund II, LLC and Sigma Capital Advisors, LLC. (2)
10.9 Agreement between DecisionPoint Systems, Inc., Sigma Opportunity Fund II, LLC and Donald W. Rowley. (2)
10.10 Limited Waiver and Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement between Silicon Valley Bank, DecisionPoint Systems Group Inc., DecisionPoint Systems

and CMAC, Inc. (3)
10.11 Employment Agreement between DecisionPoint Systems Inc. and Ralph S. Hubregsen. (4)
10.12 Transfer and Payment Agreement by and among Empresario Inc., Omar Solis and the Company. (5)
10.13 2010 Stock Option Plan*
14 Code of Ethics*
21 Subsidiaries*
31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).*
31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial and Accounting Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).*
32.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.*
32.2 Certification of the Principal  Financial and Accounting Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of

2002. *
EX-101.INS XBRL INSTANCE DOCUMENT
  
EX-101.SCH XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION SCHEMA DOCUMENT
  
EX-101.CAL XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION CALCULATION LINKBASE
  
EX-101.DEF XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION DEFINITION LINKBASE
  
EX-101.LAB XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION LABELS LINKBASE
  
EX-101.PRE XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION PRESENTATION LINKBASE
 
 
(1)  Incorporated by Reference to the Current Report on form 8-K Filed by the Company on June 21, 2011.
(2)  Incorporated by Reference to the Current Report on form 8-K Filed by the Company on July 7, 2011.
(3)  Incorporated by Reference to the to the Current Report on form 8-K Filed by the Company on October 13, 2011
(4)  Incorporated by Reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K Filed by the Company on September 15, 2011
(5)  Incorporated by Reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K Filed by the Company on September 9, 2011
 
* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized on March 30, 2012.
 
 DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.  
    
 By: /s/ Nicholas R. Toms  
  Nicholas R. Toms, Chief Executive Officer  
  Principal Executive Officer  
    
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and
on the date indicated:

Name  Title  Date
     
     
/s/ Nicholas R. Toms  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  March 30, 2012
Nicholas R. Toms  Principal Executive Officer   
     
     
/s/ Donald W. Rowley  Chief Financial Officer  March 30, 2012
Donald W. Rowley  Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer   
     
     
/s/ David M. Rifkin  Director  March 30, 2012
David M. Rifkin     
     
     
/s/ Jay B. Sheehy  Director  March 30, 2012
Jay B. Sheehy     
     
     
/s/ Robert M. Chaiken  Director  March 30, 2012
Robert M. Chaiken     
     
     
/s/ Maydan Rothblum  Director  March 30, 2012
Maydan Rothblum     
     
     
/s/ Marc Ferland  Director  March 30, 2012
Marc Ferland     
     
     
/s/ Lawrence Yelin  Director  March 30, 2012
Lawrence Yelin     
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
DecisionPoint Systems, Inc.
Foothill Ranch, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. as of December 31, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for the year then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of December
31, 2011, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Costa Mesa, California
March 30, 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
DecisionPoint Systems, Inc.
Foothill Ranch, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. as of December 31, 2010, and the related consolidated statement of operations,
stockholders' deficit and cash flows for the year then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2010, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ Crowe Horwath LLP

New York, New York
March 16, 2011, except Note 2 which is dated December 22, 2011.
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DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets
 

  December 31,  
  2011   2010  
ASSETS       
Current assets       
Cash  $ 365,814  $ 315,169 
Accounts receivable, net   13,916,787   12,575,597 
Other receivable   1,476,285   - 
Inventory, net   705,757   898,465 
Deferred costs   3,468,583   3,562,654 
Deferred tax assets   -   55,000 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   408,413   457,863 

Total current assets   20,341,639   17,864,748 
         
Property and equipment, net   98,934   100,070 
Other assets, net   175,329   173,465 
Deferred costs, net of current portion   1,800,320   1,414,851 
Goodwill   5,538,466   5,508,864 
Intangible assets, net   2,214,000   2,729,000 

Total assets  $ 30,168,688  $ 27,790,998 
         
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)         
Current liabilities         
Accounts payable  $ 9,037,715  $ 9,244,255 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   2,414,288   4,881,816 
Line of credit   4,024,141   4,364,221 
Current portion of debt   1,000,000   1,000,000 
Due to related parties   871,508   1,606,357 
Unearned revenue   6,756,214   5,714,434 

Total current liabilities   24,103,866   26,811,083 
         
Long term liabilities         
Unearned revenue, net of current portion   2,509,190   1,850,440 
Debt, net of current portion and discount   970,160   1,940,000 
Deferred tax liabilities   18,000   - 
Interest payable   60,000   60,000 

Total liabilities   27,661,216   30,661,523 
         
Commitments and contingencies         
   -   - 
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)         
Cumulative Convertible Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares         

authorized, 1,816,289 and 400,955 shares issued and outstanding, including         
cumulative and imputed preferred dividends of $435,563 and $130,738, and         
with a liquidation preference of  $10,652,275 and $1,485,738, respectively   6,319,629   1,485,738 

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized,         
8,182,791 issued and 8,028,908 outstanding as of December 31, 2011,         
and 5,080,970 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2010   8,183   5,081 

Additional paid-in capital   14,513,918   8,238,995 
Treasury stock, 153,883 shares of common stock   (204,664)   - 
Accumulated deficit   (17,230,792)   (11,576,776)
Unearned ESOP shares   (898,802)   (1,023,563)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)   2,507,473   (2,870,525)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)  $ 30,168,688  $ 27,790,998 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.

 
Consolidated Statements of Operations

  Years ended December 31,  
  2011   2010  
       
Net sales  $ 58,358,906  $ 56,244,198 
         
Cost of sales   46,367,738   45,391,485 
         
Gross profit   11,991,168   10,852,713 
         
Selling, general and administrative expense   13,597,141   9,610,381 
         
Operating (loss) income   (1,605,973)   1,242,332 
         
Other expense:         

Interest expense   1,159,774   2,213,223 
Loss on debt extinguishment   2,665,157   - 
Other (income) expense, net   (363,049)   1,159,114 

Total other expense   3,461,882   3,372,337 
         
Loss before income taxes   (5,067,855)   (2,130,005)
         
Provision for income taxes   100,172   78,794 
         
Net loss   (5,168,027)   (2,208,799)
         
Cumulative and imputed preferred stock dividends   (485,989)   (79,570)
         
Net loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (5,654,016)  $ (2,288,369)
         
Net loss per share -         

Basic and diluted  $ (0.94)  $ (0.66)
         

Weighted-average shares outstanding -         
Basic and diluted   6,019,900   3,462,220 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.

 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

 

 
  Convertible         Additional      Accumu-   Unearned   Total  
  Preferred stock   Common stock   paid-in   Treasury   lated   ESOP   stockholders’ 

  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   capital   stock   deficit   shares   
equity

(deficit)  
                            
Balance at
January 1, 2010   269,608  $ 975,000   3,968,078  $ 3,968  $ 5,854,766  $ -  $ (9,237,239)  $ (1,142,101)  $ (3,545,606)
                                     
Convertible Series
B Preferred sold in
private placement   131,347   380,000   -   -   -   -   -   -   380,000 
Common shares
issued in exchange
for services   -   -   139,799   140   350,380   -   -   -   350,520 
Conversion of the
June 2009
convertible debt   -   -   57,609   57   124,943   -   -   -   125,000 
Common stock
issued upon
cashless exercise
of warrants   -   -   18,545   19   (19)   -   -   -   - 
Common stock
issued to induce
the exercise of
warrants   -   -   29,842   30   77,677   -   -   -   77,707 
Common stock
issued upon
exercise of stock
options   -   -   415,000   415   623,117   -   -   -   623,532 
Common stock
issued for
acquisition of
CMAC, Inc.   -   -   452,097   452   944,548   -   -   -   945,000 
Warrant liability   -   -   -   -   80,500   -   -   -   80,500 
Accrued dividends
on preferred stock   -   130,738   -   -   -   -   (130,738)   -   - 
Employee stock-
based
compensation   -   -   -   -   183,083   -   -   -   183,083 
Principal payment
from ESOP   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   118,538   118,538 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   -   (2,208,799)   -   (2,208,799)
                                     
Balance at
December 31,
2010   400,955   1,485,738   5,080,970   5,081   8,238,995   -   (11,576,776)   (1,023,563)   (2,870,525)
                                     
Reverse
recapitalization
transaction:                                     

Shares deemed
issued to
Comamtech                                     

stockholders in
exchange for net
assets contributed   -   -   2,186,869   2,187   3,945,500   -   -   -   3,947,687 

Expenses
related to
reverse
recapitalization   -   -   -   -   (730,324)   -   -   -   (730,324)
Issuance of
common shares
for finders fee

  -   -   153,883   154   353,777   -   -   -   353,931 
Repurchase
153,883 shares of
common stock   -   -   -   -   -   (204,664)   -   -   (204,664)
Employee stock-
based
compensation   -   -   -   -   200,024   -   -   -   200,024 
Common shares
issued in
connection with                                     

 Exchange
Agreement   1,415,334   4,529,065   695,100   695   2,348,162   -   -   -   6,877,922 



Common shares
issued in exchange
for services   -   -   65,969   66   157,784   -   -   -   157,850 
Accrued dividends
on preferred stock   -   304,826   -   -   -   -   (485,989)   -   (181,163)
Principal payment
from ESOP   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   124,761   124,761 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   -   (5,168,027)   -   (5,168,027)
                                     
Balance at
December 31,
2011   1,816,289  $ 6,319,629   8,182,791  $ 8,183  $ 14,513,918  $ (204,664)  $ (17,230,792)  $ (898,802)  $ 2,507,473 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.

 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 
 
  December 31,  
  2011   2010  
Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net loss  $ (5,168,027)  $ (2,208,799)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   560,327   31,702 
Amortization of deferred financing costs and note discount   140,181   904,708 
Employee stock-based compensation   200,024   183,082 
Non-employee stock-based compensation   283,184   428,227 
Non-cash interest expense   80,165   - 
Loss on debt extinguishment   2,268,859   - 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment   4,391   - 
ESOP compensation expense   124,761   118,538 
Other income related to collection of note receivable in excess of carrying value   (405,136)   - 
Deferred taxes, net   73,000   330,000 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of assets and liabilities acquired:      

Accounts receivable, net   (1,220,788)   (2,076,225)
Inventory, net   192,708   349,479 
Deferred costs   (291,398)   (675,778)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   79,593   (346,996)
Other assets, net   (32,848)   (13,445)
Accounts payable   (38,838)   2,562,655 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (258,027)   (2,143,350)
Due to related parties   (734,849)   64,766 
Unearned revenue   1,700,530   (46,367)

Net cash used in operating activities   (2,442,188)   (2,537,803)
Cash flows from investing activities         

Capital expenditures   (48,582)   (42,403)
Collection of note and other receivable received in reverse recapitalization   554,869   - 
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired   (2,205,000)   185,865 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (1,698,713)   143,462 
Cash flows from financing activities         

(Repayments) borrowings from line of credit, net   (340,080)   1,788,895 
Proceeds from sale of senior subordinated notes   4,000,000   - 
Cash received in reverse recapitalization, net of expenses   1,985,349   - 
Borrowing under long term debt   -   3,000,000 
Repayment of debt   (1,000,000)   (2,835,000)
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options   -   623,532 
Issuance of convertible preferred stock   -   380,000 
Purchase of treasury stock   (250,000)   - 
Cash dividends paid on Series C Preferred   (90,582)   - 
Paid financing costs   (108,639)   (159,176)
Holding share liability   (4,502)   (229,481)

Net cash provided by financing activities   4,191,546   2,568,770 
Net increase in cash   50,645   174,429 
Cash at beginning of year   315,169   140,740 
Cash at end of year  $ 365,814  $ 315,169 
         
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:         

Interest paid  $ 1,438,466  $ 1,600,767 
Income taxes paid   62,461   12,119 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:         
Preferred and common shares issued in exchange for debt and related accrued interest  $ 4,117,333  $ - 
Preferred and common shares issued in exchange for accounts         

payable and related accrued interest   411,733   - 
Common shares issued as finder's fee in reverse capitalization   353,931   - 
Cumulative and imputed dividends on preferred stock   304,826   79,570 

Conversion of  subordinated debt to common stock
  -   125,000 

Common shares issued to acquire CMAC   -   945,000 
Note discount on long term debt   -   60,000 
Accrual of consideration payable related to the CMAC acquisition   -   2,205,000 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010

 

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND THE MERGER
 
Nature of Business - DecisionPoint Systems, Inc., (“DecisionPoint”, “Company”) through its subsidiaries is an enterprise mobility systems integrator that sells and installs mobile
computing and wireless systems that are used both within a company’s facilities in conjunction with wireless networks and in the field using carrier-based wireless
networks.  These systems generally include mobile computers, mobile application software, and related data capture equipment including bar code scanners and radio frequency
identification (“RFID”) readers.  The Company also provides professional services, proprietary and third party software and software customization as an integral part of its
customized solutions for its customers. 

DecisionPoint Systems, Inc., formerly known as Comamtech, Inc. (“Comamtech”), was incorporated on August 16, 2010, in Canada under the laws of the Ontario Business
Corporations Act (“OCBA”).  On June 15, 2011, the Company entered into a Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) among the Company, its wholly owned subsidiary,
2259736 Ontario Inc., incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada (the “Purchaser”) and DecisionPoint Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Old
DecisionPoint”) incorporated on December 27, 2006, under the laws of the State of Delaware.  Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, under Section 182 of the OCBA, on June 15,
2011 (the “Effective Date”) Old DecisionPoint merged (the “Merger”) into the Purchaser and became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.  In connection with the Merger,
the Company changed its name to DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. and the Purchaser changed its name to DecisionPoint Systems International, Inc. (“DecisionPoint Systems
International”).  The Company and the DecisionPoint Systems International each reincorporated in the State of Delaware subsequent to the Merger.  Upon completion of the
Merger, the Company adopted Old DecisionPoint’s business plan.

Description of the Merger – On June 15, 2011, pursuant to the Merger, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Old DecisionPoint from its
shareholders in exchange for 4,593,660 shares of the Company’s common stock, resulting in an exchange ratio of one share for every eight shares of common stock tendered
(1:8).  The Company also acquired all of Old DecisionPoint’s issued and outstanding Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares and Series B Cumulative Convertible
Preferred Shares in exchange for 243,750 and 118,750 of the Company’s Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares, respectively.   Immediately after the Merger, there were
6,934,412 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding and 243,750 and 118,750 shares of the Company’s Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares and Series B
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares outstanding, respectively.  Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company assumed all of Old DecisionPoint’s obligations
under their outstanding stock option plans and warrant agreements.  Two of the directors of the Company retained their positions and the remaining positions were filled by the
directors and officers of Old DecisionPoint.  In connection with and upon the Effective Date of the Merger, the Company issued 153,883 additional common shares as payment for
finder’s fees.  The shares were valued at $2.30 per share, the closing share price on the Effective Date for total consideration of $353,931.  Other expenses related to the Merger
totaled $376,547.  The finder’s fees and other expenses were accounted for as costs of the reverse recapitalization in the accompanying consolidated statement of stockholders’
equity (deficit).  In November 2011, the shares issued as payment for the finder’s fee were repurchased by the Company for $250,000 in cash.
 
The estimated fair values of the financial assets received and liabilities assumed from Comamtech in the reverse recapitalization are comprised of the following as of June 15,
2011:

Cash  $ 2,361,742 
Note receivable   100,000 
Other receivables   1,488,850 
Other current assets   150,545 
Accounts payable   (153,450)
     
Net asset value  $ 3,947,687 

 
The other receivables are comprised of a $1,500,000 payment due from the sale of a business by Comamtech to a publicly traded company, and another miscellaneous receivable
of $49,732.  The $1,500,000 receivable is due May 2012.  Management estimated the fair value of this receivable on the date of the Merger by calculating the present value of the
expected cash payment using a credit risk adjusted interest rate of 4.6%, resulting in a fair value of $1,439,117.  The fair value of the receivable is $1,476,285 as of December 31,
2011, and is included in other receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011.
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DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010

 
The note receivable represented approximately $4.4 million due from the sale of a business by Comamtech to a private company (“Empresario”).  The note was secured by the
assets of Empresario and was guaranteed by its principal shareholder.  To accommodate Empresario’s inability to perform, the note was restructured several times by Comamtech
prior to the Merger.  Empresario defaulted on the amended terms on August 10, 2011, and management of the Company sent Empresario a demand for payment.  At that time,
Empresario had not been able to secure a viable path for repayment and, based on all of the information available at the time, management had assessed the financial health and
capitalization of Empresario along with its claim paying ability as being very poor.  Accordingly, management estimated the fair value of the note receivable to be $100,000 as of
June 30, 2011.

On September 2, 2011, the Company entered into a transfer and payment agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) among the Company, Empresario, and its sole
shareholder.  Pursuant to the Transfer Agreement, Empresario paid the Company $530,000, and the Company transferred to Empresario its right, title and interest in the Purchased
Assets, as defined by the Asset Purchase Agreement dated May 14, 2009 between Comamtech and Empresario (“the Purchase Agreement”).  The convertible secured debenture,
dated August 10, 2010, between Empresario and Comamtech, in the original amount of $4.4million was cancelled and terminated.  The guarantee, dated May 14, 2009, among
Comamtech, Empresario, and the sole shareholder, pursuant to which the sole shareholder guaranteed certain obligations under the Purchase Agreement, was cancelled and
terminated.  Costs incurred to complete the Transfer Agreement totaled $130,000, of which $100,000 was due to Robert Chaiken, a Director of the Company, for services related to
negotiating the Transfer Agreement.  The Company paid $42,152 in cash and on September 30, 2011, issued Mr. Chaiken 26,906 shares of common stock valued at $57,848 as
payment in full.  The remaining costs were legal and other professional services to complete the Transfer.

The difference between the estimated fair value of the note receivable of $100,000 and the payment of $530,000, reduced by $130,000 in costs to complete the Transfer,
approximated $300,000 and was recorded in other (income) expense, net, in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on or before August 25, 2011, the Company was to have an audit performed on the balance sheet of Comamtech as of June 15, 2011 (the
“Opening Balance Sheet”).  Prior to August 25, 2011, the Company prepared a statement (the “Purchase Price Statement”) setting forth its good faith computation of the
shareholders’ equity of Comamtech as of August 15, 2011.  During August 2011, both parties accepted the Purchase Price Statement and agreed to forego an audit.

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, if the final shareholders’ equity balance reflected in the Opening Balance Sheet was less than $7,233,000, then the shareholders of Old
DecisionPoint at the date of the Merger were entitled to receive, on a pro rata basis, common shares according to a schedule set forth in the Merger Agreement.  The final
shareholders’ equity balance reflected in the Opening Balance Sheet was $3,947,687 (see table above) and as a result, the Company issued the maximum number of additional
common shares of 487,310 to the Old DecisionPoint shareholders on September 30, 2011.  These shares were included in total common shares issued and outstanding as of the
Effective Date of the transaction.  This had the effect of reducing the exchange ratio from one for every eight shares tendered (1:8) to one for every seven point two three shares
tendered (1:7.23273).  The additional common shares have been accounted for as a reduction in the exchange ratio for all other securities, including the preferred stock, stock
options and warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s securities.

As a result, after the adjustment to the exchange ratio, the Company had acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Old DecisionPoint from its shareholders by
exchanging 36,749,286 of Old DecisionPoint common shares for 5,080,970 shares of the Company’s common stock and by exchanging 975 and 380 shares of Old DecisionPoint
Series A and Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares, for 269,608 and 131,347 shares of the Company’s Series A and Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred
Shares, respectively.

Accounting Treatment of the Merger; Financial Statement Presentation
 
Prior to the Merger, Comamtech was a “shell company” (as such term is defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)).  The
Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization pursuant to the guidance in “SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance Financial Reporting Manual”.  These transactions are
considered by the Securities and Exchange Commission to be capital transactions in substance, rather than business combinations.  Accordingly, the Merger has been accounted for
as a recapitalization, and, for accounting purposes, Old DecisionPoint is considered the acquirer and surviving entity in the reverse recapitalization.  Accordingly, 2,186,689 shares
were deemed issued to the Comamtech shareholders in exchange for $3,947,687 of net assets received.  The accompanying historical consolidated financial statements prior to the
Merger are those of Old DecisionPoint.
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements present the previously issued shares of Comamtech common stock as having been issued pursuant to the Merger on June 15,
2011, with the consideration received for such issuance being the net assets of Comamtech received in the Merger.  The shares of common stock of the Company issued to Old
DecisionPoint’s stockholders in the Merger are presented as having been outstanding since the original issuance of the shares.  Further, the exchange ratio, as adjusted above, has
been retroactively applied to all share, weighted average share, loss per share, and stock option and warrant disclosures.
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DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010

 
 
NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Basis of Presentation
 
The consolidated financial statements of DecisionPoint and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”).  The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary DecisionPoint Systems
International. DecisionPoint Systems International has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, DecisionPoint Systems Group, Inc. (“DPS Group”) and CMAC, Inc. (“CMAC”).   CMAC
was acquired by the Company on December 31, 2010, and as such, the operating results of CMAC have been included in the Company’s results of operations beginning January 1,
2011.  All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  The Company operates in one business segment.
 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Use of Estimates - The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Certain
accounting policies involve judgments and uncertainties to such an extent that there is reasonable likelihood that materially different amounts could have been reported under
different conditions, or if different assumptions had been used.  The Company evaluates its estimates and assumptions on a regular basis.  The Company uses historical experience
and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances to form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may materially differ from these estimates and assumptions used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
 
Purchase Accounting and Business Combinations - The Company accounts for its business combinations using the purchase method of accounting which requires that intangible
assets be recognized apart from goodwill if they are contractual in nature or separately identifiable.  Acquisitions are measured on the fair value of consideration exchanged and, if
the consideration given is not cash, measurement is based on the fair value of the consideration given or the fair value of the assets acquired, whichever is more reliably
measurable.  The excess of cost of an acquired entity over the fair value of identifiable acquired assets and liabilities assumed is allocated to goodwill.
 
The valuation and allocation process relies on significant assumptions made by management. In certain situations, the allocations of excess purchase price are based upon
preliminary estimates and assumptions.  Accordingly, the allocations are subject to revision when the Company receives updated information, including appraisals and other
analyses, which are completed within one year of the acquisition.  Revisions to the fair values, which may be significant, are recorded when pending information is finalized,
within one year from the acquisition date.
 
Accounts Receivable - Accounts receivable are stated at net realizable value, and as such, current earnings are charged with an allowance for doubtful accounts based on
management’s best estimate of the amount of probable incurred credit losses in the Company’s existing accounts receivable.  The Company determines the allowance based on
historical write-off experience and specific account information available.  Accounts receivable are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets net of a valuation
allowance of $245,500 and $215,000, as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  When internal collection efforts on accounts have been exhausted, the accounts are written
off by reducing the allowance for doubtful accounts.
 
Inventory - Inventory consists solely of finished goods and is stated at the lower of cost or market.  Cost is determined under the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.  The Company
periodically reviews its inventory and makes provisions as necessary for estimated obsolete and slow-moving goods.  The creation of such provisions results in a write down of
inventory to net realizable value and a charge to cost of sales.  Inventories are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets net of a valuation allowance of $155,000
and $145,000, as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Deferred costs – Deferred costs consist primarily of third party extended hardware and software maintenance services which the Company has paid for in advance.  The costs are
ratably amortized over the life of the contract, generally one to five years.
 
Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are recorded at cost.  Repairs and maintenance that do not improve or extend the lives of the respective assets are expensed in
the period incurred.
 
Depreciation of property and equipment is provided for by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.
 

Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Office furniture and fixtures 5 to 7 years

                                                                                
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the life of the improvements.
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets - The Company reviews its long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of assets is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.  If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.  Assets to be disposed of by sale are reflected at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less
cost to sell.  To date, the Company has not recorded any impairment charges.
 
Goodwill – Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of the net assets of the acquired business.  Goodwill is tested annually at December 31 for
impairment by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount including goodwill.  If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an
impairment loss may be recognized.  The amount of impairment loss is determined by comparing the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount.  If the
carrying amount exceeds the implied fair value then an impairment loss is recognized equal to that excess.  No impairment charges have been recorded as a result of the Company’s
annual impairment assessments.
 
Intangible assets – Purchased intangible with finite useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives (using an accelerated method for customer relationships
and trade name) to their estimated residual values, if any.  The Company’s finite-lived intangible assets consist of customer relationships, contractor and resume databases, trade
name, and internal use software and are being amortized over periods ranging from two to nine years.  Purchased intangible assets are reviewed annually to determine if facts and
circumstances indicate that the useful life is shorter than originally estimated or that the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable.  If such facts and circumstances exist,
recoverability is assessed by comparing the projected undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over their remaining lives against their
respective carrying amounts. Impairments, if any, are based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of those assets.  If the useful life is shorter than originally
estimated, the rate of amortization is accelerated and the remaining carrying value is amortized over the new shorter useful life.  No changes to estimated useful lives have been
recorded.
 
Deferred Financing Costs - Costs incurred by the Company in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and amortized to interest expense over the life of the underlying
indebtedness, adjusted to reflect any early repayments using the effective interest rate method.  Deferred financing costs net of amortization totaled approximately $89,500 and
$91,900, as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
Fair Value Measurement - Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. In determining fair value, the Company uses various methods including market, income and cost approaches.  Based on these approaches, the Company often
utilizes certain assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk and/or the risks inherent in the inputs to the
valuation technique.  These inputs can be readily observable, market-corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs.  The Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize
the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Based upon observable inputs used in the valuation techniques, the Company is required to provide
information according to the fair value hierarchy.  The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values into three broad levels
as follows:
 
Level 1: Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in active markets from readily available pricing sources for market transactions involving identical assets or

liabilities.
Level 2: Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in less active dealer or broker markets. Valuations are obtained from third-party pricing services for identical or

similar assets or liabilities.
Level 3: Valuations incorporate certain assumptions and projections in determining the fair value assigned to such assets or liabilities.
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In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within
which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.  The Company’s assessment of the
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.
 
Revenue Recognition - Revenues are generated through product sales, warranty and maintenance agreements, software customization, and professional services.  Product sales
are recognized when the following criteria are met (1) there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exits; (2) delivery has occurred and title has passed to the customer which
generally happens at the point of shipment provided that no significant obligations remain; (3) the price is fixed and determinable; and (4) collectability is reasonably assured.  The
Company generates revenues from the sale of extended warranties on wireless and mobile hardware and systems.  Revenue related to extended warranty and service contracts is
recorded as unearned revenue and is recognized over the life of the contract as the Company maintains financial risk throughout the term of these contracts and may be liable to
refund a customer for amounts paid in certain circumstances.
 
The Company also generates revenue from professional services and customer specified software customization on either a fee-for-service or fixed fee basis.  Revenue from
software customization and professional services that is contracted as fee-for-service is recognized in the period in which the services are performed or delivered.  Adjustments to
contract price and estimated labor costs are made periodically, and losses expected to be incurred on contracts in progress are charged to operations in the period such losses are
determined.  The Company records sales net of sales tax.

When a sale involves  multiple elements, revenue is allocated to each respective element at inception of an arrangement using the relative selling price method. Selling price is
determined based on a selling price hierarchy, consisting of vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE), third party evidence or estimated selling price.
 
Concentration of Risk - Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, and accounts payable.  On November 9, 2010, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) implemented section 343 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act that provides for unlimited insurance coverage of noninterest-bearing accounts.  Beginning December 31, 2010 and continuing through December
31, 2012, all noninterest-bearing accounts are fully insured regardless of the balance of the account.  This coverage is available at all FDIC member institutions.  The Company
uses Silicon Valley Bank, which is an FDIC insured institution. Based on these facts, collectability of bank balances appears to be adequate.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company had sales to one customer which were approximately 15% of total revenue.  Accounts receivable from two customers at
December 31, 2011, were approximately 14% and 10%.  For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company had sales to two customers which represented a total of 16% and
10%, of total revenues.  Accounts receivable from two customers at December 31, 2010, accounted for 11% and 21% of accounts receivable.  The loss of a significant customer
could have a material adverse impact on the Company.
 
The Company has had the same four primary vendors in both periods presented.  For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company had purchases from these four vendors that
collectively represented 76% of total purchases and 74% of the total outstanding accounts payable at December 31, 2011.  For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company
had purchases from these four vendors that collectively represented 80% of total purchases and 73% of the total outstanding accounts payable at December 31, 2010.  The same
single vendor represented 27% and 30% of the total purchases for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Loss of this certain vendor could have a material
adverse effect on our operations.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Company’s financial instruments include cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, line of credit and long term
debt.  The carrying value of the short term financial instruments approximates their fair values at December 31, 2011 and 2010, due to their short-term maturities.  The carrying
value of the Company’s long-term debt approximates its fair value, net of a discount related to a final payment to be made on the due date which is equal to two percent of the
original loan amount.
 
Stock-Based Compensation - The Company records the fair value of all stock-based compensation awards in its consolidated financial statements.  The terms and vesting
schedules for stock-based awards vary by type of grant and generally vest based on the passage of time.  The fair value of stock options and warrants is calculated using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model and the expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, net of estimated forfeitures.
 
Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) - The cost of shares issued to the ESOP, but not yet earned is shown as a reduction of equity.  Compensation expense is based on the
market price of shares as they are committed to be released to participant accounts.    As shares of common stock acquired by the ESOP are committed to be released to each
employee, the Company reports compensation expense equal to the current market price of the shares, and the shares become outstanding for earnings per share computations.
 
Comprehensive Income — Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income and accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), which includes certain changes in equity
that are excluded from net income.  Comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, is equal to the net loss reported.
 
Earnings (Loss) per Common Share - Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed by dividing the earnings (loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed similarly to basic earnings (loss) per share except that the denominator is increased to
include the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the potential common shares had been issued and if the additional common shares were
dilutive.
 
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the computation of fully diluted net loss per share as their effect is
anti-dilutive.
 
Potential dilutive securities consist of:
 
  December 31,  
  2011   2010  
       
Convertible preferred stock   1,816,289   400,955 
Warrants to purchase common stock   429,298   429,298 
Options to purchase common stock   701,963   461,253 
         
Total potentially dilutive securities   2,947,550   1,291,506 
 
The weighted average basic and diluted shares for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, exclude the ESOP shares that have not been committed to be released of 664,138
and 774,822, respectively.
 
Income Taxes - The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method.  Deferred taxes are provided on an asset and liability method whereby deferred tax
assets are recognized as deductible temporary differences and operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences.  Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax basis.  Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.
 
The Company determined that there were no material liabilities for tax benefits for past years and the current period.  The Company has determined that any future interest accrued,
related to unrecognized tax benefits, will be included in interest expense.  In the event the Company must accrue for penalties, they will be included as an operating expense.
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Reclassifications - Certain amounts in the prior period consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto have been reclassified to conform to the current period
presentation.

During 2011, the Company noted that cumulative dividends on preferred stock had not been reflected in prior years and interim periods as the effect of such dividends had been
clearly immaterial.  For the Company’s 2011 reporting periods, the Company has noted that such dividends are material to the determination of earnings per share due to additional
preferred stock issuances during the year.  To conform to the current presentation disclosure, the Company has elected to present the cumulative dividends for the year ended
December 31, 2010, as an increase to net loss in determining net loss available to common shareholders in the presentation of earnings per share in its consolidated statements of
operations to reflect the immaterial impact of such dividends.  Total cumulative preferred dividends for the year ended December 31, 2010 totaled $79,570, and had minimal
impact on the Company’s net loss per share.

Furthermore, the Company has elected to reclassify the effect of cumulative dividends on preferred stock as a credit to preferred stock and a debit to the accumulated
deficit.  Cumulative preferred dividends totaling $130,738 for the year ended December 31, 2010 were reclassified.  The Company has also elected to present preferred stock in the
equity section at its issuance value instead of par value.  The Company has reflected the issuance value of the preferred shares by reclassifying $1,354,999 from additional paid-in
capital to preferred stock as of December 31, 2010.

The effect of these reclassifications on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2010 is as follows.  For clarification purposes only, the effect of the
exchange of the shares related to the Merger have been in included in this table:

  December 31, 2010  
     Reclassification   Exchange of   As previously  
  As reclassified   Adjustments   Shares   reported  
             
Preferred stock  $ 1,485,738  $ 1,485,737  $ -  $ 1 
Common stock   5,081   -   (31,668)   36,749 
Additional paid-in capital   8,238,995   (1,354,999)   31,668   9,562,326 
Accumulated deficit   (11,576,776)   (130,738)   -   (11,446,038)
Unearned ESOP shares   (1,023,563)   -   -   (1,023,563)
                 
Total stockholders’ deficit  $ (2,870,525)  $ -  $ -  $ (2,870,525)
 
Restatements - The Company previously determined that its consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 21, 2010 contained errors related to the
classification between current and long term assets for deferred costs and current and long term liabilities for unearned revenue on the consolidated balance sheet; and the
presentation of the cash payments for an acquisition on the consolidated statement of cash flows. The Company restated these amounts in a Form 10-K/A Amendment No. 1 for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 22, 2011.
 
New Accounting Standards
 
In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new accounting guidance that provides a consistent definition of fair value and common requirements of
and disclosure about fair value between GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  The guidance states the concepts of highest and best use and valuation
premise are only relevant when measuring the fair value of nonfinancial assets.  Enhanced disclosure requirements will require companies to disclose quantitative information
about unobservable inputs used, a description of the valuation processes used, and a qualitative discussion about the sensitivity of the measurements for recurring Level 3 fair value
measurements.  For assets and liabilities not recorded at fair value but where fair value is disclosed, companies must report the level in the fair value hierarchy of assets and
liabilities.  This new guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning January 1, 2012, and the Company does not anticipate a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
 
In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Income, which requires an entity to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of
net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income, or in two separate but consecutive
statements.  ASU 2011-05 eliminates the option to present components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of equity.  In December 2011, the FASB issued
ASU 2011-12, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05, which defers specific requirements to present reclassification adjustments for each component of
accumulated other comprehensive income.  ASU 2011-05 will be retroactively effective for the Company in the first quarter of 2012.  This adoption will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial statements.
 
In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impairment, which permits an entity to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value as a basis for determining whether it is
necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test.  ASU 2011-08 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, with early adoption permitted. 
This adoption will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3 – ACQUISITION OF CMAC
 
On December 31, 2010, pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of CMAC, a
logistics consulting and systems integration provider focused on delivering operational and technical supply chain solutions, headquartered in Alpharetta, Georgia.  CMAC offers
complementary professional services in similar markets as DecisionPoint, and as such, the acquisition is expected to provide more professional services and software revenue to the
Company, consistent with the Company’s long term plan.  In addition, CMAC's strong presence in the southeast expands DecisionPoint’s presence in this important and growing
region of the United States.
 
The purchase price of $3,150,000 consisted of $2,205,000 in cash and 452,097 unregistered shares of the Company's common stock, valued at $945,000.  The shares were issued
on December 31, 2010, and the cash portion of the purchase price is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as
of December 31, 2010.  The cash was transferred on January 3, 2011.  The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and the operating results for
CMAC have been consolidated into the Company’s results of operations beginning on January 1, 2011. The Company acquired gross accounts receivable of $1,651,845 with an
allowance for doubtful accounts of $30,000 resulting in a fair value of $1,621,845.
 
The purchase price was allocated to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair market values on the acquisition date.  The following table
summarizes the fair value of the CMAC assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
 
Cash  $ 185,865 
Accounts receivable   1,621,845 
Intangible assets   2,729,000 
Goodwill   648,201 
Other assets   101,157 
     
  Total assets   5,286,068 
     
Accounts payable and other liabilities   (2,136,068)
  $ 3,150,000 
 
The fair value of the intangible assets and the estimated useful lives over which they are being amortized are:

  Fair Value  Estimated Useful life
     
Customer relationships  $ 1,670,000 9 years
Contractor and resume databases   675,000 5 years
Tradename   310,000 5 years
Internal use software   74,000 2 years
      
  $ 2,729,000  
 
The transaction resulted in a purchase price allocation of $648,201 to goodwill, representing the financial, strategic and operational value of the transaction to
DecisionPoint.  Goodwill is attributed to the premium that the Company was willing to pay to obtain the value of the CMAC business and the synergies created with the integration
of key components of a commercial infrastructure.  The total amount of the goodwill acquired is deductible for tax purposes.

Pro Forma Financial Information:
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s unaudited consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2010 as if the CMAC acquisition had occurred on
January 1, 2010 (000’s except per share data):
 
Net sales  $ 66,492 
Net loss  $ (2,260)
     
Net loss per share - basic and diluted  $ (0.58)

 
Included in the pro forma consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2010 are the following significant items: (i) amortization of intangible assets of
$579,000 (ii) depreciation of fixed assets acquired of $19,000 and (iii) a net decrease in interest expense of $105,000.
 
The unaudited pro forma financial information is not intended to represent or be indicative of the Company’s consolidated results of operations that would have been reported had
the CMAC acquisition been completed as of the beginning of the period presented, nor should it be taken as indicative of the Company’s future consolidated results of operations.
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NOTE 4 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 
Property and equipment consists of the following at:
 
  December 31,  
  2011   2010  
       
Computer equipment  $ 144,917  $ 199,192 
Office furniture and fixtures   84,097   87,018 
Leasehold improvements   44,184   27,749 

Total property and equipment   273,198   313,959 
         
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (174,264)   (213,889)
         
Property and equipment, net  $ 98,934  $ 100,070 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, totaled $45,327 and $31,702, respectively.
 
NOTE 5 – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:
 
    
Balance as of January 1, 2010  $ 4,860,663 
Acquisition of CMAC   648,201 
     
Balance as of December 31, 2010   5,508,864 
Adjustment to goodwill related to CMAC   29,602 
     
Balance as of December 31, 2011  $ 5,538,466 
     
     
 
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, the Company’s intangible assets and accumulated amortization consist of the following:
 
  2011  
     Accumulated     
  Gross   Amortization   Net  
          
Customer relationships  $ 1,670,000  $ 279,000  $ 1,391,000 
Contractor and resume databases   675,000   135,000   540,000 
Tradename   310,000   64,000   246,000 
Internal use software   74,000   37,000   37,000 
             
  $ 2,729,000  $ 515,000  $ 2,214,000 
             
   2010  
      Accumulated      
  Gross   Amortization   Net  
             
Customer relationships  $ 1,670,000  $ -  $ 1,670,000 
Contractor and resume databases   675,000   -   675,000 
Tradename   310,000   -   310,000 
Internal use software   74,000   -   74,000 
             
  $ 2,729,000  $ -  $ 2,729,000 
             
 
The intangible assets were purchased on December 31, 2010, and therefore, no amortization expense was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2010.  Amortization is
calculated over the estimated useful lives of the assets on a straight line basis for internal use software and contractor and resume databases, and on an accelerated basis for
customer relationships and trade name.
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Based on the current amount of intangibles subject to amortization, estimated amortization expense in the next five years and thereafter, is as follows:
 

Year  Amount 
    
2012  $ 620,000 
2013   563,000 
2014   454,000 
2015   356,000 
2016   109,000 
Thereafter   112,000 
     
  Total  $ 2,214,000 

 
NOTE 6 - ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

  December 31,  
  2011   2010  
       
Salaries and benefits  $ 1,633,111  $ 1,364,636 
Accrued purchase price for CMAC acquisition   -   2,205,000 
Interest payable   58,479   111,881 
Professional fees   80,490   69,788 
Vendor purchases   300,834   749,852 
Sales tax payable   229,565   176,744 
Other fees and expenses   111,809   203,915 
         
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities  $ 2,414,288  $ 4,881,816 
         
 
NOTE 7 – LINE OF CREDIT
 
The Company has a $10.0 million line of credit which provides for borrowings based upon eligible accounts receivable, as defined in the Loan Agreement (the “Loan
Agreement”).  Under the Loan Agreement as amended, the lender has also provided the Company with a term loan as discussed at Note 8.  The Loan Agreement is secured by
substantially all the assets of the Company and had an original maturity date of February 15, 2013.  As of March 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011, the Company was not in compliance
with the fixed charge ratio covenant in the Loan Agreement and the lender issued a waiver in regards to the non-compliance with such covenant for an additional charge of $62,500
plus legal fees of approximately $15,000, payable immediately.  Such amounts have been reflected as additional interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2011.  On May 20, 2011, pursuant to a Consent and Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the “Amendment”), the Loan Agreement was
amended to accelerate the maturity date to April 30, 2012.
 
On September 27, 2011, pursuant to a Limited Waiver and Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, the Loan Agreement was amended and certain covenants were replaced
or modified resulting in the Company being in full compliance at December 31, 2011.  In addition, the maturity date was extended to February 28, 2013.
 
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 the outstanding balance on the line of credit was approximately $4.0 million and $4.4 million, respectively, and the interest rate was 7.5%.  The
line of credit has a certain financial covenant and other non-financial covenants.  The line of credit allows the Company to cause the issuance of letters of credit on account of the
Company to a maximum of the borrowing base as defined in the Loan Agreement.  No letters of credit were outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.  Availability under the
line of credit based on qualified collateral was $5.0 million as of December 31, 2011.

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s interest expense, including fees paid to secure lines of credit, totaled approximately $357,000 and $370,000,
respectively.
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NOTE 8 – LONG TERM DEBT
 
Long term debt as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, consists of the following:

  Balance      Note      
Amortization

of Note   Conversion   Balance  

  January 1, 2011   Additions   Discount   Payments   Discount   to equity   
December 31,

2011  
                      
Term loan  $ 3,000,000  $ -  $ -  $ (1,000,000)  $ -  $ -  $ 2,000,000 

Note discount   (60,000)               30,160       (29,840)
Bank term loan,
net   2,940,000   -   -   (1,000,000)   30,160   -   1,970,160 

                             
Senior subordinated secured
note   -   4,000,000   -   -   -   (4,000,000)   - 
                             
Total debt  $ 2,940,000  $ 4,000,000  $ -  $ (1,000,000)  $ 30,160  $ (4,000,000)   1,970,160 
                             
Less current portion                           (1,000,000)
                             
Debt, net of current portion                          $ 970,160 
                             

  Balance       Note       
Amortization

of Note   Conversion   Balance  

  January 1, 2010   Additions   Discount   Payments   Discount   to equity   
December 31,

2010  
                             
Term loan  $ -  $ 3,000,000  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 3,000,000 

Note discount   -   -   (60,000)   -   -   -   (60,000)
Bank term loan,
net   -   3,000,000   (60,000)   -   -   -   2,940,000 

                             
Bridge notes   210,000   -   -   (210,000)   -   -   - 
                             
Subordinated convertible
debt - June 2009   250,000   -   -   (125,000)       (125,000)   - 

Note discount   (114,583)   -   -   -   114,583   -   - 
Subordinated debt, net   135,417   -   -   -   -   -   - 

                             
Senior subordinated  notes   2,500,000   -   -   (2,500,000)   -   -   - 

Note discount   (361,726)   -   -   -   361,726   -   - 
Senior subordinated
notes, net   2,138,274   -   -   -   -   -   - 

                             
Total debt  $ 2,483,691  $ 3,000,000  $ (60,000)  $ (2,835,000)  $ 476,309  $ (125,000)   2,940,000 
                             
Less current portion                           (1,000,000)
                             
Debt, net of current portion                          $ 1,940,000 
                             
 
The Company’s debt is recorded at par value adjusted for any unamortized discounts.  Discounts and costs directly related to the issuance of debt are capitalized and amortized
over the life of the debt using the effective interest rate method and is recorded in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  Unamortized
deferred financing costs of approximately $89,500 and $91,900, are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, respectively.
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Term Loan - On December 31, 2010, pursuant to an Assumption and Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the "Loan Agreement"), the Company borrowed $3.0 million
from a principal lender (the “Term Loan”).  The Term Loan was due in 36 equal monthly installments of principal plus interest beginning on February 1, 2011.  On May 20, 2011,
pursuant to a Consent and Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the “Amendment”), the maturity date was amended to April 30, 2012, with the remaining principal due on
that date to be paid as a balloon payment.  See below for amendment on September 27, 2011.  The principal amount outstanding under the Term Loan accrues interest at a fixed
rate equal to 9% per annum.  In addition, a final payment equal to 2% of the aggregate amount of the Term Loan is due on the earlier of the maturity date or the date the Term Loan
is prepaid.  This final payment of $60,000 has been recorded as a discount to the Term Loan, which is being amortized to interest expense through December 2013, using the
effective interest method.
 
The Term Loan is secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company.  The Loan Agreement includes various customary covenants, limitations and events of
default.  Pursuant to the Amendment, the Company was, among other requirements, to maintain a minimum fixed charge ratio increasing from at least 1.10 to 1.00 in the first
quarter of 2011.  This requirement was amended to a fixed charge ratio at least 1.75 to 1.00 over the life of the Term Loan.  The Loan Agreement also maintains certain additional
affirmative and negative covenants, including minimum tangible net worth and limitations on incurring additional indebtedness.  As discussed in Note 7, as of March 31, 2011 and
June 30, 2011, the Company was not in compliance with the fixed charge ratio covenant in the agreement.  On May 20, 2011, the lender issued a waiver in regards to the non-
compliance with such covenant amended the Loan Agreement for an additional charge of $62,500 plus legal fees of approximately $15,000.
 
On September 27, 2011, pursuant to a Limited Waiver and Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, the Loan Agreement was amended and certain covenants were replaced
or modified resulting in the Company being in full compliance at September 30, 2011.  In addition, the maturity date was extended to the earlier of the maturity of the line of credit
(see Note 7) or December 1, 2013, the original maturity of the Term Loan and the principal is due in equal installments with no balloon payment.
 
Senior Subordinated Secured Note - On May 18, 2011, the Company entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company
issued a $4,000,000 Senior Subordinated Secured Note (the “Note”).  Principal and interest at a rate of 12% was originally due and payable on August 31, 2011.  Pursuant to the
Purchase Agreement, on June 15, 2011, the consummation date of the Merger, the maturity date of the Note was extended to May 31, 2012, and the interest rate was increased to
24% retroactive to the issuance date.  Total cash received under the Purchase Agreement was approximately $3,700,000, net of fees.  In conjunction with and as a condition of the
Purchase Agreement, the Company and the Note holder entered into an advisory services agreement pursuant to which the Company paid $150,000 in cash on the effective date of
the agreement and $80,000 in cash upon consummation of the Merger.  Upon the consummation of the Merger on June 15, 2011, the Company issued 25,000 common shares as
settlement of the $80,000 cash payment.  The fair value of the common shares of $2.30 or $57,500 was recorded as equity, and the difference of $22,500 was included as a
reduction in the loss on debt extinguishment as described below.
 
On June 30, 2011, the Company entered into an Exchange Agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with the Note holder pursuant to which the Company issued 1,286,667 shares
of its Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series C Preferred”) with a fair value of $3.73 per share, or $4,799,268, in exchange for the surrender and cancellation of
the Note and payment of accrued interest of $117,333.  In connection with the Exchange Agreement, the Company also issued 505,000 shares of common stock on June 30, 2011,
with a closing market price of $2.30 per share, or $1,161,500, for no additional consideration.  In addition, the Note holder received protective anti-dilution rights which entitles it
to receive additional shares if at any time the Company is required, pursuant solely to the Merger Agreement as described Note 1, to issue additional shares of common stock to its
shareholders as is necessary for the Note holder to maintain the same beneficial ownership percentage, on a fully diluted basis, as they had before any such additional shares were
issued.  On September 30, 2011, pursuant to these protective anti-dilution rights, the Company issued 105,700 shares with a value of  $243,110.  The shares were valued at $2.30
per share, the closing price of the Company’s common stock on June 30, 2011.  The expense related to the issuance of the shares was recorded as a loss on debt extinguishment in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.
 
Pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, the Company has a contingent obligation to issue up to a maximum of 500,000 shares of its common stock to the Note holder.  The
contingency is dependent upon the receipt by the Company of payments on the note receivable and other receivable acquired pursuant to the Merger with Comamtech.  The
Exchange Agreement defines certain thresholds for the amounts of these payments, the receipt of which would lower the number of common shares to be contingently issued on an
incremental basis.  Based upon the probability that the threshold amount expected to be received would result in no additional shares being issued, the fair value per share is
estimated to be $0.
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In conjunction with the Exchange Agreement, the Company also entered into an agreement between the Company, the Note holder, and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer,
(“CFO”).  Pursuant to this agreement, the Company issued 128,667 shares of Series C Preferred and 49,000 shares of common stock to the CFO as settlement of $400,000 of
accrued expenses and $11,733 of accrued interest owed to the CFO.  In addition, the CFO was issued shares of common stock in an amount equal to an aggregate of ten percent
(10%) of any additional shares of common stock issued to the Note holder as described above.  The Company expensed $23,920 for the issuance of an additional 10,400 common
shares to the CFO.  The shares were valued at $2.30 per share, the closing price of the Company’s common stock on June 30, 2011.  The expense related to the issuance of the
shares was recorded as a loss on debt extinguishment in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.  In conjunction with
Exchange Agreement the interest rate on the balance of the payable to the CFO was reduced to 12% per annum (See Note 15) until such time as the annual dividend rate on the
Series C Preferred is increased to 12% and 20% per annum as defined, at which time the interest rate on the amount payable shall be increased to 16% and 25%, respectively.
 
The Exchange Agreement was accounted for as a debt extinguishment as the exchange was effected by issuance of common and preferred stock that did not represent the exercise
of a conversion right contained in the terms of the debt at issuance.  The Company determined that the loss on exchange of debt was substantial by comparing the carrying value of
the debt extinguished to the fair value of the consideration tendered, and recorded $2,665,157 as a loss on debt extinguishment.
 
The loss was the result of the difference between the fair value of the consideration given and the carrying value of the senior subordinated secured note extinguished, as follows:
 
Fair value of consideration tendered in extinguishment    
Series C Preferred  $ 5,279,195 
Common stock   1,331,700 
Expense related to issuance of anti-dilution shares   267,030 
Expenses related to senior subordinated secured note   396,298 
   7,274,223 
Carrying value of debt extinguished     
Senior subordinated secured note and related accrued interest   4,117,333 
Related party accounts payable and accrued interest   411,733 
Advisory services payable related to senior subordinated secured note   80,000 
   4,609,066 
     
Total loss on extinguishment of debt  $ 2,665,157 
 
Bridge Notes - In June 2007, the Company issued subordinated debt (“Bridge Notes”) totaling $1,000,000 to certain members of management and an outside Director. Concurrent
with the completion of the Merger, $415,000 of principal was exchanged for 114,756 shares of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock.  The remaining Bridge Notes were fully paid
in cash in 2010.
 
Subordinated Convertible Debt - June 2009 – Immediately following the completion of the Merger in June 2009, pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company
issued a convertible subordinated debenture (the “Note”) with a face value of $250,000, net of an Original Issue Discount of 10% and issuance costs of $32,500 with net proceeds
totaling $192,500.  During 2010, the holder converted $125,000 of the principal balance into 57,609 shares of the Company’s common stock.  The remaining $125,000 was paid in
cash.
 
Senior Subordinated Notes - On December 16, 2009, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (”Financing Agreement”) with four purchasers pursuant to
which it issued $2,500,000 of non-convertible senior secured promissory notes (the “Notes”).  The Notes bear interest at a rate of 15% per annum and matured on May 31,
2011.  On December 31, 2010, in conjunction with the acquisition of CMAC and the Term Loan financing, the Company paid the remaining principal and interest on the
Notes.  Prepayment penalties totaled approximately $125,000.  All unamortized deferred financing costs and note discounts were charged to interest expense at that time.
 
For years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s interest expense related to the above debt, including all extension and commitment fees, totaled $524,000 and
$1,379,000, respectively. Amounts owed to related parties have been excluded and are included in Note 15 - Related Parties.
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NOTE 9 - INCOME TAXES
 
The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows (all amounts are approximate):

  December 31,  
  2011   2010  
Current income tax expense (benefit):       
Federal  $ -  $ (257,000)
State   18,000   6,000 
   18,000   (251,000)
Deferred income tax expense (benefit):         
Federal   (294,000)   (437,000)
State   12,000   - 
   (282,000)   (437,000)
         
Valuation allowance   364,000   767,000 
         
Income tax expense  $ 100,000  $ 79,000 
 
The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

  December 31,  
  2011   2010  
       
Allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 86,000  $ 86,000 
Inventory reserve and uniform capitalization   76,000   75,000 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   170,000   373,000 
Unearned revenue   992,000   802,000 
Net operating loss carryforward   -   1,245,000 
Valuation allowance   (1,324,000)   (2,526,000)
Deferred tax assets - current   -   55,000 
         
Other assets   4,000   4,000 
Property and equipment   7,000   4,000 
Intangibles   178,000   2,000 
Net operating loss carryforward   1,671,000   - 
Valuation allowance   (1,860,000)   (10,000)
Deferred tax assets - long term   -   - 
         
Total net deferred tax asset  $ -  $ 55,000 
         
         
Goodwill   (18,000)   - 
         
Total net deferred tax liability  $ (18,000)  $ - 
 
A reconciliation of the United States statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

  December 31, 2011   December 31, 2010  
  Amount   Rate (%)   Amount   Rate (%)  
Tax at the Federal statutory rate  $ (1,723,000)   34.0  $ (724,000)   34.0 
State taxes   18,000   (0.4)   4,000   (0.2)
Permanent differences   1,426,000   (28.2)   270,000   (12.7)
Valuation allowance   364,000   (7.2)   767,000   (36.0)
Miscellaneous   15,000   (0.2)   (238,000)   11.2 
                 
Effective tax rate  $ 100,000   (2.0)  $ 79,000   (3.7)
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The Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.  These assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
 
The Company has net operating loss carryforwards available in certain jurisdictions to reduce future taxable income.  Future tax benefits for net operating loss carryforwards are
recognized to the extent that realization of these benefits is considered more likely than not.  This determination is based on the expectation that related operations will be
sufficiently profitable or various tax business and other planning strategies will enable the Company to utilize the net operating loss carryforwards.  The Company’s evaluation of
the realizability of deferred tax assets considers both positive and negative evidence.  The weight given to potential effects of positive and negative evidence is based on the extent
to which it can be objectively verified.  For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company recorded a valuation allowance related to the temporary items as it was
determined it is more likely than not that the Company will not be able to fully use the assets to reduce future tax liabilities.
 
Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 382, annual use of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards may be limited in the event a cumulative change in ownership
of more than fifty percent occurs within a three-year period.  The Company has not completed an IRC 382 analysis regarding the limitation of net operating loss carryforwards. 
When this analysis is finalized, the Company plans to update its unrecognized tax benefits accordingly.
 
At December 31, 2011, the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits recorded.  The Company does not expect the amount of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly change
within the next twelve months.  The Company will recognize any interest and penalties as a component of income tax expense.
 
Under the accounting for uncertain tax positions the Company has clarified the recognition threshold and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions
taken, or expected to be taken, on a tax return.  The impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more
likely than not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority.  An uncertain tax position will not be recognized if it has a less than fifty percent likelihood of being
sustained.
 
The Company continues to remain subject to examination by U.S. federal authority for the years 2009 through 2011 and for various state authorities for the years 2009 through
2011, with few exceptions.  For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011, there was no recognition of material uncertain tax positions required.
 
The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income taxes in various state jurisdictions.
 
NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
The Company is authorized to issue two classes of stock designated as common stock and preferred stock.  As of December 31, 2011, the Company is authorized to issue
110,000,000 total shares of stock.  Of that amount, 100,000,000 shares shall be common stock, each having a par value of $0.001.  The remaining 10,000,000 shares shall be
preferred stock, each having a par value of $0.001.  After the Merger and the issuance of the additional Merger shares (See Note 1), there were 7,421,721 shares of common stock
issued and outstanding, and 269,608 and 131,347 shares of the Company's Series A and Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock issued and outstanding,
respectively.  Subsequent to the closing, the Company designated 5,000,000 shares of Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock.

(a) Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock
 
A summary of preferred stock outstanding as of December 31, 2011 is as follows:

Description  Amount  
    
Series A Preferred, $0.001 par value per share, 500,000 shares designated,  

269,608 shares issued and outstanding, liquidation preference of $975,000  
plus cumulative dividends of $207,168  $ 1,182,168 

Series B Preferred, $0.001 par value per share, 500,000 shares designated,  
131,347 shares issued and outstanding, liquidation preference of $380,000  

plus cumulative dividends of $31,969   411,969 
Series C Preferred, $0.001 par value per share, 5,000,000 shares designated,  

1,415,334 shares issued and outstanding, liquidation preference of $9,058,114  
plus imputed dividends of $196,426   4,725,492 

     
Total convertible preferred stock  $ 6,319,629 

 
The stated value of the Series A Preferred and Series B Preferred is $4.00 per share and $3.20 per share, respectively, which approximates its fair value.  The stated value of the
Series C Preferred is $3.20 per share and the estimated fair value at the time of issuance on June 30, 2011, was $3.73 per share.  The stated value of the Series C Preferred is
included in Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock and the difference between the stated value and the estimated fair value is included in additional paid-in capital in the
accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2011.  The rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of the Series A, Series B, and Series C Preferred Stock (collectively, the
“Preferred Stock”) are set forth in the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and are summarized as follows:
 
 

F-22



 
 
 

DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010

 

Dividends - The holders of the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as, and if declared by the Board of Directors, dividends at an annual rate of
8% of the stated value. The stated value of the Series A Preferred is $4.00 per share and the stated value of the Series B Preferred is $3.20 per share.  Dividends shall be
cumulative and shall accrue on each share of the outstanding Preferred Stock from the date of its issue.  The holders of the Series C Preferred shall be entitled to receive when and
as declared by the Board of Directors, cumulative dividends payable per share in arrears, on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year in the form of cash or
preferred stock, at the election of a majority in interest of the Series C Preferred Stock.  The dividend rate, as adjusted from time to time on each share of Series C Preferred  shall
be as follows: 8% per share per annum on the stated value of $3.20 per share for the period from the date of its issue through the last day of the sixteenth (16th) month after the date
of its issue; 12% per share per annum on the stated value commencing on the first day of the seventeenth (17th) month through the last day of the thirtieth month (30th) after the
date of its issue; and 20% per share per annum on the stated value for each dividend period thereafter commencing on the first day of the thirty-first (31st) month after the date of
its issue.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time a breach event (as defined in the Company’s Articles of Incorporation) occurs, then the dividend rate shall be 20% per
annum on the stated value for each dividend period or part thereof in which a breach event has occurred or is outstanding.  The Series C Preferred shall, with respect to dividend
rights, rank senior to all classes and series of the Company’s common stock and pari passu with the Company’s Series A and Series B Preferred Stock.
 
Pursuant to the dividend rights of the holders of the Series C Preferred, the Company has accrued for cash dividends payable due as of December 31, 2011, in the amount of
$90,582.  This amount is included in accounts payable on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011.  Imputed dividends relating to the implied
discount resulting from the difference between the stepped dividend rate and the perpetual dividend rate of 20% for the Series C Preferred beginning January 1, 2014 total
$196,426 and are included as an adjustment to retained earnings and preferred stock in the accompanying financial statements.
 
Voting Rights – The holders of the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights except on matters affecting their rights or preferences.  The holders of the
Series C Preferred stock shall have full voting rights and powers equal to the voting rights and powers of holders of Common Stock.
 
Liquidation – Subject to the rights of the Series C Preferred, upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, the holders of the Series A (subject to the rights of
the Series B Preferred) and Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the stated value per share of $4.00 and $3.20, respectively, plus any accrued
and unpaid dividends before any payments shall be made to the holders of any common stock or hereinafter issued preferred stock.  The Series A Preferred has preference over the
Series B Preferred in liquidation.  The holders of Series C Preferred shall be entitled to receive payment in an amount equal to twice the stated value, or $6.40 per share, plus any
accrued and unpaid dividends, prior to and in preference of the holders of both the Series A and Series B Preferred.
 
Conversion - Each share of Series A Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at the option of the holder, at a conversion price of $4.00 per share.  Each share of Series B Preferred
Stock shall be convertible, at the option of the holder, at a conversion price of $3.20 per share.  Each share of Series C Preferred shall be convertible, at the option of the holder, at
a conversion price of $3.20 per share.  The Series C Preferred Stock provides for certain anti-dilution provisions which have the effect of reducing the conversion price for certain
dilutive events, as defined, in addition to the standard anti-dilution provisions provided by the Series A and B Preferred.
 
Issuance Activity
 
On June 30, 2011, in conjunction with the Exchange Agreement described in Note 8, the Company issued 1,286,667 shares of Series C Preferred in exchange for the surrender and
cancellation of a Senior Subordinated Secured Note in the amount of $4,000,000 and related accrued interest of $117,333.  In addition, the Company issued 128,667 shares of
Series C Preferred as payment of $400,000 of accounts payable plus related accrued interest of $11,733 to its CFO.
 
(b) Common Stock
 
On June 15, 2011, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, 2,186,869 shares of common stock were deemed issued to the Comamtech shareholders in exchange for the net assets
acquired.
 
On June 15, 2011, pursuant to a services agreement, the Company issued 39,063 common shares with a value of $100,000 to a vendor.  The shares were recorded as a prepaid
expense which is being amortized over the twelve month service period of the contract.
 
On June 30, 2011, pursuant to the Exchange Agreement described in Note 8, the Company issued 505,000 and 49,000 shares to the Note holder and the CFO, respectively.  The
shares were valued at $1,161,500 and $112,700, respectively, and are included in the loss on debt extinguishment in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2011.
 
On September 30, 2011, the Company issued 116,100 shares of common stock with a value of $267,029 in connection with the Exchange Agreement as described in Note 8.  In
addition, on September 30, 2011, the Company issued 26,906 shares of common stock with a value of $57,850 to Robert Chaiken, a Director of the Company, in exchange for
services rendered in connection with the negotiation of the Transfer Agreement with Empresario as described in Note 1.
 
In conjunction with and as a condition of the Purchase Agreement described in Note 8, the Company issued 25,000 common shares as settlement of the $80,000 to be paid in cash
as an advisory fee.  The shares were valued at $2.30 per share, or $57,500, and the difference of $22,500 was recorded as an offset to the loss on debt extinguishment in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.
 
In conjunction with the Merger, as discussed in Note 8 the Company issued 153,883 shares of common stock valued at $353,931 as a finders’ fee.  On November 8, 2011, the
Company and the finder entered into agreement pursuant to which the finder returned all of the aforementioned shares of the Company’s stock in exchange for $250,000 in
cash.  The value of the shares on the date of the agreement was $1.33 and as such, $204,664, has been recorded as treasury stock for accounting purposes.  The remaining $45,336
has been reflected as a charge in selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.
 
On June 23, 2010, the Company issued 57,609 shares of common stock upon the conversion of $125,000 of principal by the holder of the June 2009 subordinated convertible debt
(Note 8).  In addition, the holder exercised 69,130 warrants pursuant to a cashless exercise resulting in the issuance of 18,547 common shares based on the 10-day trailing average
price of the Company’s common stock.  To induce the holder to exercise the warrants, the Company issued an additional 29,844 shares of common stock to the holder.  The shares
were valued at $77,707, based on the closing price of the stock on the day prior to the transaction and are recorded in other expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2010.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company issued 139,799 shares of common stock in exchange for services provided over various contract periods.  The shares
were valued based on the share price on the date of their respective agreements.  Total cost related to these shares was $350,520.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company issued 415,002 shares of common stock upon the exercise of employee stock options.  Total cash received was $623,532.
No options were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2011.
 
On December 31, 2010, the Company issued 452,097 shares of common stock valued at $945,000 as part of the purchase price of CMAC.
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(c) Warrants
 
The following table summarizes information about the Company’s outstanding common stock warrants as of December 31, 2011:

 
        Total     Weighted
        Warrants   Total  Average
 Date  Strike   Outstanding   Exercise  Exercise
 Issued  Expiration  Price   and Exercisable   Price  Price
              
Bridge Notes Jun-07  Jun-12  $ 7.23   17,974  $ 130,000  
Preferred Stock - Class A Jun-09  Jun-12   7.23   67,402   487,500  
Preferred Stock - Class B Jun-09  Jun-12   9.04   67,402   609,375  
Senior Subordinated Notes Dec-09  Dec-14   3.62   138,260   500,000  
Senior Subordinated Notes Dec-09  Dec-14   4.34   138,260   600,000  
                 
          429,298  $ 2,326,875  $     5.42

 
NOTE 11 - ESOP PLAN
 
In December 2003, the Company formed an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the “ESOP”) and loaned the ESOP $1,950,000 (the “ESOP Note”) that the ESOP Trust (“Trust”)
used to acquire 1,128,558 shares of the of the Company’s stock from its former stockholder for $1,300,000 and 564,195 shares from the Company for $650,000.  The ESOP Note
bears interest at a rate of 5.25% with annual principal and interest payments and has a 15-year term.  The amount owed to the Company under the Note as of December 31, 2011
and 2010, was $898,802 and $1,023,563, respectively.  The ESOP Note is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as unearned ESOP shares in stockholders’
deficit.
 
The ESOP covers all non-union employees.  Employees are eligible to participate in the Plan after three months of service.  Plan participants start vesting after two years of
participation and are fully vested after six years of participation.  ESOP contributions are determined annually by the Board of Directors, and are a minimum $130,000 per year, to
repay the ESOP Note held by the Company.  The Company’s contribution expense for the year ended December 31, 2011, was $178,498 representing $124,761 for the ESOP
principal payment and $53,737 for the ESOP interest.  The Company’s contribution expense for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $178,498 representing $118,538 for the
ESOP principal payment and $59,960 for the ESOP interest.  The ESOP Note is secured by the unallocated Company stock held by the Trust.
 
ESOP shares are allocated to individual employee accounts as the loan obligation of the ESOP to the Company is reduced.  As of December 31, 2011, the ESOP held 664,138
shares of unallocated Company stock and 1,028,615 shares of allocated Company stock.  As of December 31, 2010, the ESOP held 774,788 shares of unallocated Company stock
and 917,965 shares of allocated Company stock.  Compensation costs relating to shares released are based on the fair value of shares at the time they are committed to be
released.  The unreleased shares are not considered outstanding in the computation of earnings per common share.  Dividends received on ESOP shares are allocated based on
shares held for the benefit of each participant and used to purchase additional shares of stock for each participant.  The Company has not received any dividends since the inception
of the plan.  ESOP compensation expense consisting of both cash contributions and shares committed to be released for 2011 and 2010 was approximately $236,000 and $272,000,
respectively.  For 2011 and 2010, the fair value of the shares was $2.20 and $2.46 per share, based on the average of the daily market closing share price.
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ESOP shares as of December 31, 2011and 2010 were as follows:
 
  December 31,  
  2011   2010  
       
Allocated shares   917,965   807,281 
Shares committed for allocation   110,684   110,684 
Unallocated shares   664,104   774,788 
Total ESOP shares   1,692,753   1,692,753 
 
The fair value of the unallocated shares at December 31, 2011 and 2010, was approximately $498,000 and $1,513,000, based on the closing share price of the Company’s common
stock of $0.75 and $1.95, respectively.

NOTE 12 - STOCK OPTION PLAN
 
In December 2010, the Company established the 2010 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”).  The Plan authorizes the issuance of 1,000,000 shares of common stock. Pursuant to the
terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company assumed all of Old DecisionPoint’s obligations under their outstanding stock option plans.

The Plan is administered by the Board of Directors, or a committee appointed by the Board of Directors, which determines recipients and types of awards to be granted, including
the number of shares subject to the awards, the exercise price and the vesting schedule.  The term of stock options granted under the Plans cannot exceed ten years.  Options shall
not have an exercise price less than 100% of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date, and generally vest over a period of five years.  If the
individual possesses more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company, the exercise price shall not be less than 110% of the fair market of a
share of common stock on the date of grant.
 
A summary of the status of the Plans as of December 31, 2011, and information with respect to the changes in options outstanding is as follows:

  Options      
Weighted -

Average   Aggregate  
  Available   Options   Exercise   Intrinsic  
  for Grant   Outstanding   Price   Value  
             
January 1, 2011   932,859   67,141  $ 3.57    
Granted   (224,344)   224,344   2.17    
Exercised   -   -   -    
Assumed pursuant to Merger   (461,261)   461,261   1.71    
Forfeited   50,783   (50,783)   (1.90)    
December 31, 2011   298,037   701,963  $ 2.02  $ - 
                 
Exercisable options at December 31, 2011    457,303  $ 1.94  $ - 
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2011;

      Weighted-         Weighted-     

Range of      
Average

Remaining   
Weighted-
Average      

Average
Remaining   

Weighted-
Average  

Exercise   Number   Contractual   Exercise   Number   Contractual   Exercise  
Prices   Outstanding   Life (Years)   Price   Exercisable   Life (Years)   Price  

                    
$ 1.33 - 2.03   422,728    3.36   $ 1.68    407,491    3.3   $ 1.67  
$ 2.06 - 4.34   264,949    8.36    2.28    35,526    1.57    3.03  
$ 7.00   14,286    0.98    7.00    14,286    0.98    7.00  
                           
Total    701,963    5.20   $ 2.02    457,303    3.09   $ 1.94  

The total intrinsic value of awards exercised during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $173,000.  No awards were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2011.  The
total fair value of awards vested for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $32,537 and $38,332, respectively.

Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the required service period, which is generally
equal to the vesting period.  The fair value of options granted to employees during the year ended December 31, 2011, was $287,171 (no options were granted during the year
ended December 31, 2010).  The fair values were estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Expected term  3.84 years 
Expected volatility   77.49%
Dividend yield   0%
Risk-free interest rate   1.55%
 
Due to the limited time that the Company’s common stock has been publicly traded, management estimates expected volatility based on the average expected volatilities of a
sampling of five companies with similar attributes to the Company, including: industry, size and financial leverage.  The expected term of the awards represents the period of time
that the awards are expected to be outstanding.  Management considered expectations for the future to estimate employee exercise and post-vest termination behavior.  The
Company does not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future, and therefore has assumed a dividend yield of zero.  The risk-free interest rate is the yield on zero-coupon U.S.
Treasury securities for a period that is commensurate with the expected term of the awards.
 
The Company has experienced very few forfeitures and, as such, compensation expense for stock-based awards does not include an estimate for forfeitures.
 
Employee stock-based compensation costs for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, was $71,022 and $38,437, respectively, and is included in selling, general and
administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  As of December 31, 2011, total unrecognized estimated employee compensation cost related to
stock options granted prior to that date was $256,526 which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average vesting period of 4.29 years.
 
The weighted-average fair value on the grant date of options granted to employees during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $2.17.  The Company did not grant any stock
options during 2010.
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NOTE 13 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Leases - The Company leases its office and warehouse facilities under various operating leases.   Its corporate headquarters and sales operations, including sales administration,
software development, depot operation and the financial management are located in Foothill Ranch, California where the Company leases 7,500 square feet of office space.  The
Company had sub-leased this facility from an affiliate at a monthly rental expense of $11,763, which expired in July 2011 and the Company renewed the lease on the same terms
and conditions for an additional year with the building’s landlord (an unrelated third party).
 
In addition, the Company has a lease for 4,100 square feet in Shelton, Connecticut for its East coast sales and operations which expires in April 2015.  The Company also leased
4,000 square feet in Middlesex, New Jersey for its east coast depot operation which expired in September 2011.  On August 31, 2011, the Company signed a lease for 6,800 square
feet in Edison, New Jersey, for 37 months at $5,500 per month, and moved to the new location on November 1, 2011.  The Company has a sales and administrative office located
in Alpharetta, Georgia where it leases 4,330 square feet for general office purpose.  The lease expires in April 2015.  In addition, the Company has a lease for 4,800 square feet in
Alpharetta, Georgia for its technology lab center which expires in April 2012.
 
Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, was $378,000 and $291,000, respectively.
 
The aggregate remaining future minimum payments under these leases expiring after December 31, 2011, are as follows:
 

Years ending December 31:  Amount  
    
2012  $ 236,782 
2013   222,580 
2014   219,975 
2015   58,232 
     
  $ 737,569 

 
Contingencies - The Company is not a party to any material pending legal proceedings other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business; the outcome of which the
Company believes will not have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, cash flows or results of operations.  These matters are subject to inherent
uncertainties and management’s view of these matters may change in the future.
 
The Company is subject to the possibility of various loss contingencies, including claims, suits and complaints, arising in the ordinary course of business.  The Company considers
the likelihood of loss or impairment of an asset or the incurrence of a liability, as well as its ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss, in determining loss contingencies.  An
estimated loss contingency is accrued when it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.  The
Company regularly evaluates current information available to it to determine whether such accruals should be adjusted and whether new accruals are required.
 
Under the Company’s bylaws, directors and officers have certain rights to indemnification by the Company against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or
service as directors or officers.  The Company maintains director and officer insurance, which covers certain liabilities arising from the obligation to indemnify directors and
officers and former directors in certain circumstances.  No material indemnification liabilities were accrued at December 31, 2011.
 
The Company has two employment agreements with two of our key executive officers.  The agreements do not provide for any material, out of ordinary course of business
provisions or benefits.
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NOTE 14 - PROFIT SHARING PLAN
 
The Company maintains a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (“401k Plan”).  Employees who are 21 years of age and have performed 90 days of service are eligible to participate.  Each
year, employees can make salary contributions of up to 25% of their salary.  The Company matches 100% of employee contributions up to 3% of eligible employee compensation
and 50% of employee contributions of 3% to 5% for a total of 4% of employee compensation.  Employer contributions to the 401k Plan were $259,000 and $228,000, for the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
 
NOTE 15 - RELATED PARTIES
 
The Company purchases and sells certain products and services from iTEK Services, Inc. (“iTEK”), a privately held company owned by an unrelated ESOP.  iTEK is affiliated
with the Company through limited overlapping management and Board representation by the Company's Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer
(“CFO”).  During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company purchased products and services for $402,000 and $819,000, respectively, from iTEK.  Sales to
iTEK during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, were $4,000 and $436,000, respectively.  The net amounts due to iTEK were $16,000 and $116,000 at December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively.  These sales to iTEK were at no incremental margin over the Company’s actual cost.  Purchases from iTEK are on similar terms that Company would
have received from an unrelated third-party.

The Company has accounts payable to its CEO and its CFO, of $855,000 and $1,225,000 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, including accrued interest.  The
outstanding accounts payable balance accrues interest at 12% per annum, which was reduced from 25% in June 2011. (See Note 10).  The Company incurred interest expense to
related parties totaling approximately $275,000 and $464,000, for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
 
As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company has accrued interest payable to David Rifkin, a Director of the Company, of approximately $0 and $265,000,
respectively, from a prior debt issuance which principal has been previously paid.

In December 2010, the Company sold 27,652 shares of its Series B Preferred Stock to Robert M. Chaiken, a Director of the Company.  The shares were sold at the same price as
103,695 additional shares sold to an independent third party.
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Exhibit 3.02
 

BYLAWS OF DECISIONPOINT SYSTEMS, INC.
 

(a Delaware corporation)
 

ARTICLE I
 

STOCKHOLDERS
 
1. CERTIFICATES REPRESENTING STOCK. Certificates representing stock in the corporation shall be signed by, or in the name of, the corporation by the Chairperson or
Vice-Chairperson of the Board of Directors, if any, or by the President or a Vice-President and by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer or the Secretary or an Assistant
Secretary of the corporation shall sign by, or in the name of, the corporation certificates representing stock in the corporation. Any or all the signatures on any such certificate
may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent, or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such
officer, transfer agent, or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the same effect as if such person were such officer, transfer agent, or
registrar at the date of issue.
 

Whenever the corporation shall be authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one series of any class of stock, and whenever the corporation shall
issue any shares of its stock as partly paid stock, the certificates representing shares of any such class or series or of any such partly paid stock shall set forth thereon the
statements prescribed by the General Corporation Law. Any restrictions on the transfer or registration of transfer of any shares of stock of any class or series shall be noted
conspicuously on the certificate representing such shares.
 

The corporation may issue a new certificate of stock or uncertificated shares in place of any certificate theretofore issued by it, alleged to have been lost, stolen, or
destroyed, and the Board of Directors may require the owner of the lost, stolen, or destroyed certificate, or such owner's legal representative, to give the corporation a bond
sufficient to indemnify the corporation against any claim that may be made against it on account of the alleged loss, theft, or destruction of any such certificate or the issuance of
any such new certificate or uncertificated shares.
 
 2. UNCERTIFICATED SHARES. Subject to any conditions imposed by the General Corporation Law, the Board of Directors of the corporation may provide by resolution or
resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of the stock of the corporation shall be uncertificated shares. Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of
any uncertificated shares, the corporation shall send to the registered owner thereof any written notice prescribed by the General Corporation Law.
 
3. FRACTIONAL SHARE INTERESTS. The corporation may, but shall not be required to, issue fractions of a share. If the corporation does not issue fractions of a share, it
shall (1) arrange for the disposition of fractional interests by those entitled thereto, (2) pay in cash the fair value of fractions of a share as of the time when those entitled to
receive such fractions are determined,  or (3) issue scrip or warrants in registered form (either represented by a certificate or uncertificated) or bearer form (represented by a
certificate) which shall entitle the holder to receive a full share upon the surrender of such scrip or warrants aggregating a full share. A certificate for a fractional share or an
uncertificated fractional share shall, but scrip or warrants shall not unless otherwise provided therein, entitle the holder to exercise voting rights, to receive dividends thereon, and
to participate in any of the assets of the corporation in the event of liquidation. The Board of Directors may cause scrip or warrants to be issued subject to the conditions that they
shall become void if not exchanged for certificates representing the full shares or uncertificated full shares before a specified date, or subject to the conditions that the shares for
which scrip or warrants are exchangeable may be sold by the corporation and the proceeds thereof distributed to the holders of scrip or warrants, or subject to any other
conditions which the Board of Directors may impose.
 
 4. STOCK TRANSFERS. Upon compliance with provisions restricting the transfer or registration of transfer of shares of stock, if any, transfers or registration of transfers of
shares of stock of the corporation shall be made only on the stock ledger of the corporation by the registered holder thereof, or by the registered holder's attorney thereunto
authorized by power of attorney duly executed and filed with the Secretary of the corporation or with a transfer agent or a registrar, if any, and, in the case of shares represented
by certificates, on surrender of the certificate or certificates for such shares of stock properly endorsed and the payment of all taxes due thereon.
 
5. RECORD DATE FOR STOCKHOLDERS. In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any
adjournment thereof, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the
Board of Directors, and which record date shall not be more than sixty nor less than ten days before the date of such a meeting. If no record date is fixed by the Board of
Directors, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the
day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held. A determination of stockholders of
record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new
record date for the adjourned meeting. In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, the Board
of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors, and which
date shall not be more than ten days after the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors. If no record date has been fixed by the
Board of Directors, the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, when no prior action by the Board of
Directors is required by the General Corporation Law, shall be the first date on which a signed written consent setting forth the action taken or proposed to be taken is delivered
to the corporation by delivery to its registered office in the State of Delaware, its principal place of business, or an officer or agent of the corporation having custody of the book
in which proceedings of meetings of stockholders are recorded. Delivery made to the corporation's registered office shall be by hand or by certified or registered mail, return
receipt requested. If no record date has been fixed by the Board of Directors and prior action by the Board of Directors is required by the General Corporation Law, the record
date for determining stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors
adopts the resolution taking such prior action. In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other  distribution or
allotment of any rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion, or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other lawful
action,  the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted, and which record
date shall be not more than sixty days prior to such action. If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders for any such purpose shall be at the close of
business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating thereto.
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6. MEANING OF CERTAIN TERMS. As used herein in respect of the right to notice of a meeting of stockholders or a waiver thereof or to participate or vote thereat or to
consent or dissent in writing in lieu of a meeting, as the case may be, the term "share" or "shares" or "share of stock" or "shares of stock" or "stockholder" or "stockholders" refers
to an outstanding share or shares of stock and to a holder or holders of record of outstanding shares of stock when the corporation is authorized to issue only one class of shares
of stock, and said reference is also intended to include any outstanding share or shares of stock and any holder or holders of record of outstanding shares of stock of any class
upon which or upon whom the certificate of incorporation confers such rights where there are two or more classes or series of shares of stock or upon which or upon whom the
General Corporation Law confers such rights notwithstanding that the certificate of incorporation may provide for more than one class or series of shares of stock, one or more of
which are limited or denied such rights there under; provided, however, that no such right shall vent in the event of an increase or a decrease in the authorized number of shares
of stock of any class or series which is otherwise denied voting rights under the provisions of the certificate of incorporation, except as any provision of law may otherwise
require.
 
7. STOCKHOLDER MEETINGS.
 
- TIME. The annual meeting shall be held on the date and at the time fixed, from time to time, by the directors, provided, that the first annual meeting shall be held on a date
within thirteen months after the organization of the corporation, and each successive annual meeting shall be held on a date within thirteen months after the date of the preceding
annual meeting. A special meeting shall be held on the date and at the time fixed by the directors.
 
- PLACE. Annual meetings and special meetings shall be held at such place, within or without the State of Delaware, as the directors may, from time to time, fix. Whenever the
directors shall fail to fix such place, the meeting shall be held at the registered office of the corporation in the State of Delaware.
 
- CALL. Annual meetings and special meetings may be called by the directors or by any officer instructed by the directors to call the meeting.
 
- NOTICE OR WAIVER OF NOTICE. Written notice of all meetings shall be given, stating the place, date, and hour of the meeting and stating the place within the city or other
municipality or community at which the list of stockholders of the corporation may be examined. The notice of an annual meeting shall state that the meeting is called for the
election of directors and for the transaction of other business which may properly come before the meeting, and shall (if any other action which could be taken at a special
meeting is to be taken at such annual meeting) state the purpose or purposes. The notice of a special meeting shall in all instances state the purpose or purposes for which the
meeting is called. The notice of any meeting shall also include, or be accompanied by, any additional statements, information, or documents prescribed by the General
Corporation Law. Except as otherwise provided by the General Corporation Law, a copy of the notice of any meeting shall be given, personally or by mail, not less than ten days
nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting, unless the lapse of the prescribed period of time shall have been waived, and directed to each stockholder at such
stockholder's record address or at such other address which such stockholder may have furnished by request in writing to the Secretary of the corporation. Notice by mail shall be
deemed to be given when deposited, with postage thereon prepaid, in the United States mail. If a meeting is adjourned to another time, not more than thirty days hence, and/or to
another place, and if an announcement of the adjourned time and/or place is made at the meeting, it shall not be necessary to give notice of the adjourned meeting unless the
directors, after adjournment, fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting. Notice need not be given to any stockholder who submits a written waiver of notice signed by such
stockholder before or after the time stated therein.  Attendance of a stockholder at a meeting of stockholders shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the
stockholder attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called
or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the stockholders need be specified in any written waiver of notice.
 
- STOCKHOLDER LIST. The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the corporation shall prepare and make, at least ten days before every meeting of stockholders, a
complete list of the stockholders, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each
stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten
days prior to the meeting, either at a place within the city or other municipality or community where the meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the
meeting, or if not so specified, at the place where the meeting is to be held. The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time
thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present. The stock ledger shall be the only evidence as to who are the stockholders entitled to examine the stock ledger,
the list required by this section or the books of the corporation, or to vote at any meeting of stockholders.
 
- CONDUCT OF MEETING. Meetings of the stockholders shall be presided over by one of the following officers in the order of seniority and if present and acting - the
Chairperson of the Board, if any, the Vice-Chairperson of the Board, if any, the President, a Vice-President, or, if none of the foregoing is in office and present and acting, by a
chairperson to be chosen by the stockholders. The Secretary of the corporation, or in such Secretary's absence, an Assistant Secretary, shall act as secretary of every meeting, but
if neither the Secretary nor an Assistant Secretary is present the chairperson of the meeting shall appoint a secretary of the meeting.
 
- PROXY REPRESENTATION. Every stockholder may authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder by proxy in all matters in which a stockholder is entitled
to participate, whether by waiving notice of any meeting, voting or participating at a meeting, or expressing consent or dissent without a meeting. Every proxy must be signed by
the stockholder or by such stockholder's attorney-in-fact. No proxy shall be voted or acted upon after three years from its date unless such proxy provides for a longer period. A
duly executed proxy shall be irrevocable if it states that it is irrevocable and, if, and only as long as, it is coupled with an interest sufficient in law to support an irrevocable power.
A proxy may be made irrevocable regardless of whether the interest with which it is coupled is an interest in the stock itself or an interest in the corporation generally.
 
- INSPECTORS. The directors, in advance of any meeting, may, but need not, appoint one or more inspectors of election to act at the meeting or any adjournment thereof. If an
inspector or inspectors are not appointed, the person presiding at the meeting may, but need not, appoint one or more inspectors. In case any person who may be appointed as an
inspector fails to appear or act, the vacancy may be filled by appointment made by the directors in advance of the meeting or at the meeting by the person presiding thereat. Each
inspector, if any, before entering upon the discharge of duties of inspector, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector at such meeting with strict
impartiality and according to the best of such inspector's ability. The inspectors, if any, shall determine the number of shares of stock outstanding and the voting power of each,
the shares of stock represented at the meeting, the existence of a quorum, the validity and effect of proxies, and shall receive votes, ballots, or consents, hear and determine all
challenges and questions arising in connection with the right to vote, count and tabulate all votes, ballots, or consents, determine the result, and do such acts as are proper to
conduct the election or vote with fairness to all stockholders. On request of the person presiding at the meeting, the inspector or inspectors, if any, shall make a report in writing
of any challenge, question, or matter determined by such inspector or inspectors and execute a certificate of any fact found by such inspector or inspectors. Except as may
otherwise be required by subsection (e) of Section 231 of the General Corporation Law, the provisions of that Section shall not apply to the corporation.
 
- QUORUM. The holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of stock shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of stockholders for the transaction of any business. The
stockholders present may adjourn the meeting despite the absence of a quorum.
 
- VOTING. Each share of stock shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote. Directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares present in person or represented by
proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors. Any other action shall be authorized by a majority of the votes cast except where the General Corporation
Law prescribes a different percentage of votes and/or a different exercise of voting power, and except as may otherwise prescribed by the provisions of the certificate of
incorporation and these Bylaws. In the election of directors, and for any other action, voting need not be by ballot.  8.
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8.  STOCKHOLDER ACTION WITHOUT MEETINGS. Except as any provision of the General Corporation Law may otherwise require, any action required by the General
Corporation Law to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders, or any action which may be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders, may be taken
without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not
less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted.
Prompt notice of the taking of the corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous written consent shall be given to those stockholders who have not consented in
writing. Action taken pursuant to this paragraph shall be subject to the provisions of Section 228 of the General Corporation Law.
 

ARTICLE II
DIRECTORS

 
1. FUNCTIONS AND DEFINITION. The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors of the corporation. The
Board of Directors shall have the authority to fix the compensation of the members thereof. The use of the phrase "whole board" herein refers to the total number of directors,
which the corporation would have if there were no vacancies.
 
2. QUALIFICATIONS AND NUMBER. A director need not be a stockholder, a citizen of the United States, or a resident of the State of Delaware. The initial Board of Directors
shall consist of 1 person. Thereafter the number of directors constituting the whole board shall be at least one. Subject to the foregoing limitation and except for the first Board of
Directors, such number may be fixed from time to time by action of the stockholders or of the directors, or, if the number is not fixed, the number shall be one. The number of
directors may be increased or decreased by action of the stockholders or of the directors.
 
3. ELECTION AND TERM. The first Board of Directors, unless the members thereof shall have been named in the certificate of incorporation, shall be elected by the
incorporator or incorporators and shall hold office until the first annual meeting of stockholders and until their successors are elected and qualified or until their earlier
resignation or removal. Any director may resign at any time upon written notice to the corporation. Thereafter, directors who are elected at an annual meeting of stockholders,
and directors who are elected in the interim to fill vacancies and newly created directorships, shall hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until their
successors are elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal. Except as the General Corporation Law may otherwise require, in the interim between annual
meetings of stockholders or of special meetings of stockholders called for the election of directors and/or for the removal of one or more directors and for the filling of any
vacancy in that connection,  newly created directorships and any vacancies in the Board of Directors, including unfilled vacancies resulting from the removal of directors for
cause or without cause, may be filled by the vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by the sole remaining director.
 
4. MEETINGS.
 
- TIME. Meetings shall be held at such time as the Board shall fix, except that the first meeting of a newly elected Board shall be held as soon after its election as the directors
may conveniently assemble.
 
- PLACE. Meetings shall be held at such place within or without the State of Delaware as shall be fixed by the Board.
 
- CALL. No call shall be required for regular meetings for which the time and place have been fixed. Special meetings may be called by or at the direction of the Chairperson of
the Board, if any, the Vice-Chairperson of the Board, if any, of the President, or of a majority of the directors in office.
 
- NOTICE OR ACTUAL OR CONSTRUCTIVE WAIVER. No notice shall be required for regular meetings for which the time and place have been fixed. Written, oral, or any
other mode of notice of the time and place shall be given for special meetings in sufficient time for the convenient assembly of the directors thereat. Notice need not be given to
any director or to any member of a committee of directors who submits a written waiver of notice signed by such director or member before or after the time stated therein.
Attendance of any such person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when such person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting,
at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose
of, any regular or special meeting of the directors need be specified in any written waiver of notice.
 
- QUORUM AND ACTION. A majority of the whole Board shall constitute a quorum except when a vacancy or vacancies prevents such majority, whereupon a majority of the
directors in office shall constitute a quorum, provided, that such majority shall constitute at least one-third of the whole Board. A majority of the directors present, whether or not
a quorum is present, may adjourn a meeting to another time and place. Except as herein otherwise provided, and except as otherwise provided by the General Corporation Law,
the vote of the majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board. The quorum and voting provisions herein stated shall not
be construed as conflicting with any provisions of the General Corporation Law and these Bylaws which govern a meeting of directors held to fill vacancies and newly created
directorships in the Board or action of disinterested directors.  Any member or members of the Board of Directors or of any committee designated by the Board may participate
in a meeting of the Board, or any such committee, as the case may be, by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons
participating in the meeting can hear each other.
 
- CHAIRPERSON OF THE MEETING. The Chairperson of the Board, if any and if present and acting, shall preside at all meetings.  Otherwise, the Vice-Chairperson of the
Board, if any and if present and acting, or the President, if present and acting, or any other director chosen by the Board, shall preside.
 
5. REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS. Except as may otherwise be provided by the General Corporation Law, any director or the entire Board of Directors may be removed, with or
without cause, by the holders of a majority of the shares then entitled to vote at an election of directors.
 
6. COMMITTEES. The Board of Directors may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the corporation. The Board may
designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or
disqualification of any member of any such committee or committees, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not
such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or
disqualified member. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of
Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation with the exception of any power or authority the delegation of which is prohibited by Section 141 of
the General Corporation Law, and may authorize the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it.
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7. WRITTEN ACTION. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if all
members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or
committee.
 

ARTICLE III
OFFICERS

 
The officers of the corporation shall consist of a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and, if deemed necessary, expedient, or desirable by the Board of Directors, a

Chairperson of the Board, a Vice-Chairperson of the Board, an Executive Vice-President, one or more other Vice-Presidents, one or more Assistant Secretaries, one or more
Assistant Treasurers, and such other officers with such titles as the resolution of the Board of Directors choosing them shall designate. Except as may otherwise be provided in
the resolution of the Board of Directors choosing such officer, no officer other than the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson of the Board, if any, need be a director. The same
person may hold any number of offices, as the directors may determine.
 

Unless otherwise provided in the resolution choosing such officer, each officer shall be chosen for a term which shall continue until the meeting of the Board of
Directors following the next annual meeting of stockholders and until such officer's successor shall have been chosen and qualified.
 

All officers of the corporation shall have such authority and perform such duties in the management and operation of the corporation as shall be prescribed in the
resolutions of the Board of Directors designating and choosing such officers and prescribing their authority and duties, and shall have such additional authority and duties as are
incident to their office except to the extent that such resolutions may be inconsistent therewith. The Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the corporation shall record all of the
proceedings of all meetings and actions in writing of stockholders, directors, and committees of directors, and shall exercise such additional authority and perform such additional
duties as the Board shall assign to such Secretary or Assistant Secretary. The Board of Directors may remove any officer, with or without cause. The Board of Directors may fill
any vacancy in any office.
 

ARTICLE IV
CORPORATE SEAL

 
The corporate seal shall be in such form as the Board of Directors shall prescribe.
 

ARTICLE V
FISCAL YEAR

 
 The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed, and shall be subject to change, by the Board of Directors.
 

ARTICLE VI
CONTROL OVER BYLAWS

 
Subject to the provisions of the certificate of incorporation and the provisions of the General Corporation Law, the power to amend, alter, or repeal these Bylaws and to adopt
new Bylaws may be exercised by the Board of Directors or by the stockholders.
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Exhibit 3.03

 
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION OF PREFERENCES,

RIGHTS AND LIMITATIONS
OF

SERIES A CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

TERMS OF PREFERRED STOCK

The Board of Directors (“Board of Directors”) of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. (the “Corporation”) duly adopted the following resolution on June 17, 2009:

Section 1.                      Definitions. For the purposes hereof, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Alternate Consideration” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(b).

“Bankruptcy Event” means any of the following events: (a) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary (as such term is defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X)
thereof commences a case or other proceeding under any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment of debt, relief of debtors, dissolution, insolvency or liquidation or
similar law of any jurisdiction relating to the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof; (b) there is commenced against the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary
thereof any such case or proceeding that is not dismissed within 60 days after commencement; (c) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof is adjudicated insolvent or
bankrupt or any order of relief or other order approving any such case or proceeding is entered; (d) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof suffers any appointment
of any custodian or the like for it or any substantial part of its property that is not discharged or stayed within 60 calendar days after such appointment; (e) the Corporation or any
Significant Subsidiary thereof makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (f) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof calls a meeting of its creditors with
a view to arranging a composition, adjustment or restructuring of its debts; or (g) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof, by any act or failure to act, expressly
indicates its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any of the foregoing or takes any corporate or other action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing.

“Beneficial Ownership Limitation” shall be 4.99% of the number of shares of the Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the issuance of shares
of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of Preferred Stock held by the applicable Holder.

“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday, any day which shall be a federal legal holiday in the United States or any day on which banking institutions in
the State of New York are authorized or required by law or other governmental action to close. Whenever any payment or other obligation hereunder shall be due on a day other
than a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day.
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“Common Stock” means the Corporation’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and stock of any other class of securities into which such securities may hereafter
be reclassified or changed into.

“Common Stock Equivalents” means any securities of the Corporation or the subsidiaries which would entitle the holder thereof to acquire at any time Common Stock,
including, without limitation, any debt, preferred stock, rights, options, warrants or other instrument that is at any time convertible into or exchangeable for, or otherwise entitles
the holder thereof to receive, Common Stock.

“Conversion Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(a).

“Conversion Ratio” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(b).

“Conversion Shares” means, collectively, the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the shares of Preferred Stock in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Effective Date” means the date that this Certificate of Designation is effective.

“Fundamental Transaction” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(b).
 
“Holder” shall mean the owner of the Preferred Stock.

“Liquidation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.

“Notice of Conversion” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(a).

“Preferred Stock” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.

“Share Delivery Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(d)(i).

“Stated Value” means $1,000 per share.

“Trading Day” means a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is open for business.

“Trading Market” means the following markets or exchanges on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted for trading on the date in question.

Section 2.                      Designation, Amount and Par Value. The series of preferred stock designated by this Certificate shall be designated as the Corporation’s Series A
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”) and the number of shares so designated shall be 10,000. Each share of Preferred Stock shall have a par value of
$0.001 per share.
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Section 3.                      Dividends.  The Holders shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, out of any funds and assets of the
Corporation legally available, dividends at an annual rate of 8% of the Stated Value. Dividends shall be cumulative and shall accrue on each share of the outstanding Preferred
Stock from the date of its issue.

Section 4.                      Voting Rights. Except as otherwise provided herein or as otherwise required by law, the Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights. However,
as long as any shares of Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Corporation shall not, without the affirmative vote of the Holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of the
Preferred Stock, (a) alter or change adversely the powers, preferences or rights given to the Preferred Stock or alter or amend this Certificate of Designation, (b) amend its
certificate of incorporation or other charter documents in any manner that adversely affects any rights of the Holders, (c) increase the number of authorized shares of Preferred
Stock, or (d) enter into any agreement with respect to any of the foregoing.

 
Section 5.                      Liquidation. Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation (“Liquidation”), the Holders of the Preferred Stock shall be

entitled to receive out of the assets of the Corporation, whether such assets are capital or surplus, for each share of Preferred Stock an amount equal to the Stated Value per share
plus any accrued and unpaid dividends thereon before any distribution or payment shall be made to the holders of any Common Stock or hereinafter issued preferred stock.  Upon
any Liquidation, and after full payment as provided in this Section, the remaining assets of the Corporation shall be available to be distributed to all holders of the Common Stock
and other preferred stock of the Corporation.

Section 6.                      Conversion.

a) Conversions at Option of Holder. Subject to the provisions of this Section 6, each share of Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at any time and from time to
time from and after the Effective Date, at the option of the Holder thereof.  Holders shall effect conversions by providing the Corporation with the form of conversion
notice attached hereto as Annex A (a “Notice of Conversion”). Each Notice of Conversion shall specify the number of shares of Preferred Stock to be converted, the
number of shares of Preferred Stock owned prior to the conversion at issue, the number of shares of Preferred Stock owned subsequent to the conversion at issue and the
date on which such conversion is to be effected, which date may not be prior to the date the applicable Holder delivers by facsimile such Notice of Conversion to the
Corporation (such date, the “Conversion Date”). If no Conversion Date is specified in a Notice of Conversion, the Conversion Date shall be the date that such Notice of
Conversion to the Corporation is deemed delivered hereunder. The calculations and entries set forth in the Notice of Conversion shall control in the absence of manifest
or mathematical error.  To effect conversions of shares of Preferred Stock, a Holder shall not be required to surrender the certificate(s) representing such shares of
Preferred Stock to the Corporation unless all of the shares of Preferred Stock represented thereby are so converted, in which case such Holder shall deliver the certificate
representing such shares of Preferred Stock promptly following the Conversion Date at issue.  Shares of Preferred Stock converted into Common Stock or redeemed in
accordance with the terms hereof shall be canceled and shall not be reissued.
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b) Conversion Ratio.  The conversion ratio for the Preferred Stock shall be 2,000 shares of Common Stock for 1 share of Preferred Stock (the “Conversion
Ratio”).

c) Beneficial Ownership Limitation. The Corporation shall not effect any conversion of the Preferred Stock, and a Holder shall not have the right to convert
any portion of the Preferred Stock, to the extent that, after giving effect to the conversion set forth on the applicable Notice of Conversion, such Holder (together with
such Holder’s affilitates, and any other person or entity acting as a group together with such Holder or any of such Holder’s affilitates) would beneficially own in excess
of the Beneficial Ownership Limitation (as defined below).  For purposes of the foregoing sentence, the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by such
Holder and its affilitates shall include the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Stock with respect to which such determination
is being made, but shall exclude the number of shares of Common Stock which are issuable upon (A) conversion of the remaining, unconverted Preferred Stock
beneficially owned by such Holder or any of its affilitates, and (B) exercise or conversion of the unexercised or unconverted portion of any other securities of the
Corporation  subject to a limitation on conversion or exercise analogous to the limitation contained herein (including any warrants) beneficially owned by such Holder or
any of its affilitates.  Except as set forth in the preceding sentence, for purposes of this Section 6(c), beneficial ownership shall be calculated in accordance with Section
13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  To the extent that the limitation contained in this
Section 6(c) applies, the determination of whether the Preferred Stock is convertible (in relation to other securities owned by such Holder together with any affilitates)
and of how many shares of Preferred Stock are convertible shall be in the sole discretion of such Holder, and the submission of a Notice of Conversion shall be deemed
to be such Holder’s determination of whether the shares of Preferred Stock may be converted (in relation to other securities owned by such Holder together with any
affilitates) and how many shares of the Preferred Stock are convertible, in each case subject to the Beneficial Ownership Limitation. To ensure compliance with this
restriction, each Holder will be deemed to represent to the Corporation each time it delivers a Notice of Conversion that such Notice of Conversion has not violated the
restrictions set forth in this paragraph and the Corporation shall have no obligation to verify or confirm the accuracy of such determination.  In addition, a determination
as to any group status as contemplated above shall be determined in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder.  For purposes of this Section 6(c), in determining the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock, a Holder may rely on the
number of outstanding shares of Common Stock as stated in the most recent of the following: (A) the Corporation’s most recent periodic or annual filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, as the case may be, (B) a more recent public announcement by the Corporation or (C) a more recent notice by the Corporation or
the Corporation’s transfer agent setting forth the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding.  Upon the written or oral request of a Holder, the Corporation shall
within two Trading Days confirm orally and in writing to such Holder the number of shares of Common Stock then outstanding.  In any case, the number of outstanding
shares of Common Stock shall be determined after giving effect to the conversion or exercise of securities of the Corporation, including the Preferred Stock, by such
Holder or its affilitates since the date as of which such number of outstanding shares of Common Stock was reported.  A Holder, upon not less than 61 days’ prior notice
to the Company, may increase or decrease the Beneficial Ownership Limitation applicable to its Preferred Stock.  Any such increase or decrease will not be effective
until the 61st day after such notice is delivered to the Company and shall only apply to such Holder and no other Holder.    The provisions of this paragraph shall be
construed and implemented in a manner otherwise than in strict conformity with the terms of this Section 6(c) to correct this paragraph (or any portion hereof) which may
be defective or inconsistent with the intended Beneficial Ownership Limitation herein contained or to make changes or supplements necessary or desirable to properly
give effect to such limitation. The limitations contained in this paragraph shall apply to a successor holder of Preferred Stock.
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d) Mechanics of Conversion

i. Delivery of Certificate Upon Conversion. Not later than three Trading Days after each Conversion Date (the “Share Delivery Date”), the
Corporation shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the converting Holder a certificate or certificates which, on or after the Effective Date, shall contain
appropriate restrictive legends and trading restrictions representing the number of Conversion Shares being acquired upon the conversion of shares of
Preferred Stock,. On or after the Effective Date, the Corporation shall, upon request of such Holder, use its best efforts to deliver any certificate or certificates
required to be delivered by the Corporation under this Section 6 electronically through the Depository Trust Company or another established clearing
corporation performing similar functions. If in the case of any Notice of Conversion such certificate or certificates are not delivered to or as directed by the
applicable Holder by the third Trading Day after the Conversion Date, the applicable Holder shall be entitled to elect to rescind such Conversion Notice by
written notice to the Corporation at any time on or before its receipt of such certificate or certificates, in which event the Corporation shall promptly return to
such Holder any original Preferred Stock certificate delivered to the Corporation and such Holder shall promptly return to the Corporation any Common Stock
certificates representing the shares of Preferred Stock unsuccessfully tendered for conversion to the Corporation.

 
ii. Reservation of Shares Issuable Upon Conversion. The Corporation covenants that it will at all times reserve and keep available out of its

authorized and unissued shares of Common Stock for the sole purpose of issuance upon conversion of the Preferred Stock and payment of dividends on the
Preferred Stock, each as herein provided, free from preemptive rights or any other actual contingent purchase rights of Persons other than the Holders of the
Preferred Stock, not less than such aggregate number of shares of the Common Stock as shall be issuable (taking into account the adjustments of Section 7)
upon the conversion of all outstanding shares of Preferred Stock.  The Corporation covenants that all shares of Common Stock that shall be so issuable shall,
upon issue, be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

iii. Fractional Shares. No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon the conversion of the Preferred Stock.   As to
any fraction of a share which a Holder would otherwise be entitled to purchase upon such conversion, the Corporation shall at its election, either pay a cash
adjustment in respect of such final fraction in an amount equal to such fraction multiplied by the Conversion Price or round up to the next whole share.
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iv. Transfer Taxes.  The issuance of certificates for shares of the Common Stock on conversion of this Preferred Stock shall be made without
charge to any Holder for any documentary stamp or similar taxes that may be payable in respect of the issue or delivery of such certificates, provided that the
Corporation shall not be required to pay any tax that may be payable in respect of any transfer involved in the issuance and delivery of any such certificate
upon conversion in a name other than that of the Holders of such shares of Preferred Stock and the Corporation shall not be required to issue or deliver such
certificates unless or until the Person or Persons requesting the issuance thereof shall have paid to the Corporation the amount of such tax or shall have
established to the satisfaction of the Corporation that such tax has been paid.

Section 7.                      Certain Adjustments.

a) Stock Dividends and Stock Splits.  If the Corporation, at any time while this Preferred Stock is outstanding: (A) pays a stock dividend or otherwise makes a
distribution or distributions payable in shares of Common Stock on shares of Common Stock or any other Common Stock Equivalents (which, for avoidance of doubt,
shall not include any shares of Common Stock issued by the Corporation upon conversion of, or payment of a dividend on, this Preferred Stock); (B) subdivides
outstanding shares of Common Stock into a larger number of shares; (C) combines (including by way of a reverse stock split) outstanding shares of Common Stock into
a smaller number of shares; or (D) issues, in the event of a reclassification of shares of the Common Stock, any shares of capital stock of the Corporation, then the
Conversion Price shall be multiplied by a fraction of which the numerator shall be the number of shares of Common Stock (excluding any treasury shares of the
Corporation) outstanding immediately before such event and of which the denominator shall be the number of shares of Common Stock, or in the event that clause (D) of
this Section 7(a) shall apply shares of reclassified capital stock, outstanding immediately after such event.  Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 7(a) shall
become effective immediately after the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or distribution and shall become effective
immediately after the effective date in the case of a subdivision, combination or re-classification.

 
b) Fundamental Transaction. If, at any time while this Preferred Stock is outstanding, (A) the Corporation effects any merger or consolidation of the

Corporation with or into another Person, (B) the Corporation effects any sale of all or substantially all of its assets in one transaction or a series of related transactions,
(C) any tender offer or exchange offer (whether by the Corporation or another Person) is completed pursuant to which holders of Common Stock are permitted to tender
or exchange their shares for other securities, cash or property, or (D) the Corporation effects any reclassification of the Common Stock or any compulsory share exchange
pursuant to which the Common Stock is effectively converted into or exchanged for other securities, cash or property (in any such case, a “Fundamental Transaction”),
then, upon any subsequent conversion of this Preferred Stock, the Holders shall have the right to receive, for each Conversion Share that would have been issuable upon
such conversion immediately prior to the occurrence of such Fundamental Transaction, the same kind and amount of securities, cash or property as it would have been
entitled to receive upon the occurrence of such Fundamental Transaction if it had been, immediately prior to such Fundamental Transaction, the holder of one share of
Common Stock (the “Alternate Consideration”).  For purposes of any such conversion, the determination of the Conversion Ratio shall be appropriately adjusted to
apply to such Alternate Consideration based on the amount of Alternate Consideration issuable in respect of one share of Common Stock in such Fundamental
Transaction, and the Corporation shall adjust the Conversion Ratio in a reasonable manner reflecting the relative value of any different components of the Alternate
Consideration.  If holders of Common Stock are given any choice as to the securities, cash or property to be received in a Fundamental Transaction, then the Holders shall
be given the same choice as to the Alternate Consideration it receives upon any conversion of this Preferred Stock following such Fundamental Transaction.  To the
extent necessary to effectuate the foregoing provisions, any successor to the Corporation or surviving entity in such Fundamental Transaction shall file a new Certificate
of Designation with the same terms and conditions and issue to the Holders new preferred stock consistent with the foregoing provisions and evidencing the Holders’
right to convert such preferred stock into Alternate Consideration. The terms of any agreement pursuant to which a Fundamental Transaction is effected shall include
terms requiring any such successor or surviving entity to comply with the provisions of this Section 7(b) and insuring that this Preferred Stock (or any such replacement
security) will be similarly adjusted upon any subsequent transaction analogous to a Fundamental Transaction.
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c) Calculations.  All calculations under this Section 7 shall be made to the nearest cent or the nearest 1/100th of a share, as the case may be.  For purposes of
this Section 7, the number of shares of Common Stock deemed to be issued and outstanding as of a given date shall be the sum of the number of shares of Common
Stock (excluding any treasury shares of the Corporation) issued and outstanding.

d) Notice to the Holders.

i. Adjustment to Conversion Price.  Whenever the Conversion Ratio is adjusted pursuant to any provision of this Section 7, the Corporation shall
promptly deliver to each Holder a notice setting forth the Conversion Ratio after such adjustment and setting forth a brief statement of the facts requiring such
adjustment.

 
ii. Notice to Allow Conversion by Holder.  If (A) the Corporation shall declare a dividend (or any other distribution in whatever form) on the

Common Stock, (B) the Corporation shall declare a special nonrecurring cash dividend on or a redemption of the Common Stock, (C) the Corporation shall
authorize the granting to all holders of the Common Stock of rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any
rights, (D) the approval of any stockholders of the Corporation shall be required in connection with any reclassification of the Common Stock, any
consolidation or merger to which the Corporation is a party, any sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, of any compulsory
share exchange whereby the Common Stock is converted into other securities, cash or property or (E) the Corporation shall authorize the voluntary or
involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, then, in each case, the Corporation shall cause to be filed at each office or
agency maintained for the purpose of conversion of this Preferred Stock, and shall cause to be delivered to each Holder at its last address as it shall appear
upon the stock books of the Corporation, at least 20 calendar days prior to the applicable record or effective date hereinafter specified, a notice stating (x) the
date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution, redemption, rights or warrants, or if a record is not to be taken, the date as
of which the holders of the Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distributions, redemption, rights or warrants are to be determined or (y)
the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share exchange is expected to become effective or close, and the date as of
which it is expected that holders of the Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of the Common Stock for securities, cash or other
property deliverable upon such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share exchange, provided that the failure to deliver such notice or any
defect therein or in the delivery thereof shall not affect the validity of the corporate action required to be specified in such notice.  The Holder is entitled to
convert this Preferred Stock (or any part hereof) during the 20-day period commencing on the date of such notice through the effective date of the event
triggering such notice.

 
Section 8.                      Miscellaneous.  For each share of Preferred Stock purchased by a Holder, such Holder shall receive a warrant, exercisable within three years from

the date the Preferred Stock is issued to the Holder, to purchase 500 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $1.00 per share and a warrant to purchase 500 shares of
Common Stock at $1.25 per share.

Section 9.                      Miscellaneous.

a) Notices.  Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries to be provided by the Holders hereunder including, without limitation, any Notice of
Conversion, shall be in writing and delivered personally, by facsimile, or sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier service, addressed to the Corporation, at the
address set forth above, Attention: Chief Financial Officer or address as the Corporation may specify for such purposes by notice to the Holders delivered in accordance
with this Section.  Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries to be provided by the Corporation hereunder shall be in writing and delivered personally or
sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier service addressed to each Holder at the address of such Holder appearing on the books of the Corporation, or if no such
address appears on the books of the Corporation, at the principal place of business of the Holders.  Any notice or other communication or deliveries hereunder shall be
deemed given and effective on the earliest of the Business Day following the date of mailing, if sent by nationally recognized overnight courier service, or upon actual
receipt by the party to whom such notice is required to be given.

 
 

7



 
 

b) Absolute Obligation. Except as expressly provided herein, no provision of this Certificate of Designation shall alter or impair the obligation of the Corporation,
which is absolute and unconditional, to pay liquidated damages, accrued dividends and accrued interest, as applicable, on the shares of Preferred Stock at the time, place,
and rate, and in the coin or currency, herein prescribed.

 
c) Lost or Mutilated Preferred Stock Certificate.  If a Holder’s Preferred Stock certificate shall be mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Corporation shall execute

and deliver, in exchange and substitution for and upon cancellation of a mutilated certificate, or in lieu of or in substitution for a lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, a new
certificate for the shares of Preferred Stock so mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, but only upon receipt of evidence of such loss, theft or destruction of such certificate, and
of the ownership hereof reasonably satisfactory to the Corporation.

d) Governing Law.  All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Certificate of Designation shall be governed by and
construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the principles of conflict of laws thereof.  Each party agrees that all
legal proceedings concerning the interpretation, enforcement and defense of the transactions contemplated by any of the Transaction Documents (whether brought against a
party hereto or its respective affilitates, directors, officers, shareholders, employees or agents) shall be commenced in the state and federal courts sitting in the City of New
York, Borough of Manhattan (the “New York Courts”).  Each party hereto hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the New York Courts for the
adjudication of any dispute hereunder or in connection herewith or with any transaction contemplated hereby or discussed herein (including with respect to the enforcement
of any of the Transaction Documents), and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to
the jurisdiction of such New York Courts, or such New York Courts are improper or inconvenient venue for such proceeding.  Each party hereby irrevocably waives
personal service of process and consents to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof via registered or certified mail or overnight
delivery (with evidence of delivery) to such party at the address in effect for notices to it under this Certificate of Designation and agrees that such service shall constitute
good and sufficient service of process and notice thereof.  Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in any other manner
permitted by applicable law. Each party hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all right to trial by jury in any legal
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Certificate of Designation or the transactions contemplated hereby. If either party shall commence an action or proceeding to
enforce any provisions of this Certificate of Designation, then the prevailing party in such action or proceeding shall be reimbursed by the other party for its attorneys’ fees
and other costs and expenses incurred in the investigation, preparation and prosecution of such action or proceeding
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e) Waiver.  Any waiver by the Corporation or a Holder of a breach of any provision of this Certificate of Designation shall not operate as or be construed to be a
waiver of any other breach of such provision or of any breach of any other provision of this Certificate of Designation or a waiver by any other Holders.  The failure of the
Corporation or a Holder to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this Certificate of Designation on one or more occasions shall not be considered a waiver or deprive
that party (or any other Holder) of the right thereafter to insist upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Certificate of Designation.  Any waiver by the
Corporation or a Holder must be in writing.

 
f) Severability.  If any provision of this Certificate of Designation is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the balance of this Certificate of Designation shall remain in

effect, and if any provision is inapplicable to any Person or circumstance, it shall nevertheless remain applicable to all other Persons and circumstances.  If it shall be found
that any interest or other amount deemed interest due hereunder violates the applicable law governing usury, the applicable rate of interest due hereunder shall automatically
be lowered to equal the maximum rate of interest permitted under applicable law.

g) Status of Converted Preferred Stock.  If any shares of Preferred Stock shall be converted or reacquired by the Corporation, such shares shall resume the status of
authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock and shall no longer be designated as Preferred Stock.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate of Designation this June 17, 2009 (the “Effective Date”).
 
 
/s/ Nicholas Toms 

Name: Nicholas Toms
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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ANNEX A

NOTICE OF CONVERSION

(TO BE EXECUTED BY THE REGISTERED HOLDER IN ORDER TO CONVERT SHARES OF PREFERRED STOCK)

The undersigned hereby elects to convert the number of shares of  Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock indicated below into shares of common stock, par value
$0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”), of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. (the “Corporation”), according to the conditions hereof, as of the date written below. If shares of Common
Stock are to be issued in the name of a Person other than the undersigned, the undersigned will pay all transfer taxes payable with respect thereto and is delivering herewith such
certificates and opinions as may be required by the Corporation. No fee will be charged to the Holders for any conversion, except for any such transfer taxes.

Conversion calculations:

Date to Effect Conversion: _____________________________________________
 
Number of shares of Preferred Stock owned prior to Conversion: _______________
 
Number of shares of Preferred Stock to be Converted: ________________________
 
Number of shares of Common Stock to be Issued: ___________________________
 
Applicable Conversion Price:____________________________________________
 
Number of shares of Preferred Stock subsequent to Conversion: ________________
 
Address for Delivery: ______________________
or
DWAC Instructions:
Broker no: _________
Account no: ___________
  

[HOLDER]
 
By:___________________________________
     Name:
     Title:
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Exhibit 3.04

 
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION OF PREFERENCES,

RIGHTS AND LIMITATIONS
OF

SERIES B CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

TERMS OF PREFERRED STOCK

The Board of Directors (“Board of Directors”) of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. (the “Corporation”) duly adopted the following resolution on December 7, 2010:

Section 1.Definitions. For the purposes hereof, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Alternate Consideration” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(b).

“Bankruptcy Event” means any of the following events: (a) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary (as such term is defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X)
thereof commences a case or other proceeding under any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment of debt, relief of debtors, dissolution, insolvency or liquidation or
similar law of any jurisdiction relating to the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof; (b) there is commenced against the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary
thereof any such case or proceeding that is not dismissed within 60 days after commencement; (c) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof is adjudicated insolvent or
bankrupt or any order of relief or other order approving any such case or proceeding is entered; (d) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof suffers any appointment
of any custodian or the like for it or any substantial part of its property that is not discharged or stayed within 60 calendar days after such appointment; (e) the Corporation or any
Significant Subsidiary thereof makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (f) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof calls a meeting of its creditors with
a view to arranging a composition, adjustment or restructuring of its debts; or (g) the Corporation or any Significant Subsidiary thereof, by any act or failure to act, expressly
indicates its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any of the foregoing or takes any corporate or other action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing.

“Beneficial Ownership Limitation” shall be 4.99% of the number of shares of the Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the issuance of shares
of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of Preferred Stock held by the applicable Holder.

“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday, any day which shall be a federal legal holiday in the United States or any day on which banking institutions in
the State of New York are authorized or required by law or other governmental action to close. Whenever any payment or other obligation hereunder shall be due on a day other
than a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day.
 

 “Common Stock” means the Corporation’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and stock of any other class of securities into which such securities may hereafter
be reclassified or changed into.
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“Common Stock Equivalents” means any securities of the Corporation or the subsidiaries which would entitle the holder thereof to acquire at any time Common Stock,
including, without limitation, any debt, preferred stock, rights, options, warrants or other instrument that is at any time convertible into or exchangeable for, or otherwise entitles
the holder thereof to receive, Common Stock.

“Conversion Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(a).

“Conversion Ratio” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(b).

“Conversion Shares” means, collectively, the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the shares of Preferred Stock in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Effective Date” means the date that this Certificate of Designation is effective.

“Fundamental Transaction” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(b).
 

“Holder” shall mean the owner of the Preferred Stock.

“Liquidation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.

“Notice of Conversion” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(a).

“Preferred Stock” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.

“Share Delivery Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(d)(i).

“Stated Value” means $1,000 per share.

“Trading Day” means a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is open for business.

“Trading Market” means the following markets or exchanges on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted for trading on the date in question.

Section 2.    Designation, Amount and Par Value. The series of preferred stock designated by this Certificate shall be designated as the Corporation’s Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”) and the number of shares so designated shall be 10,000. Each share of Preferred Stock shall have a par value of $0.001 per share.

Section 3.     Dividends. The Holders shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, out of any funds and assets of the Corporation legally
available, dividends at an annual rate of 8% of the Stated Value. Dividends shall be cumulative and shall accrue on each share of the outstanding Preferred Stock from the date of
its issue.

 
Section 4.     Voting Rights. Except as otherwise provided herein or as otherwise required by law, the Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights. However, as long as any

shares of Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Corporation shall not, without the affirmative vote of the Holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock,
(a) alter or change adversely the powers, preferences or rights given to the Preferred Stock or alter or amend this Certificate of Designation, (b) amend its certificate of
incorporation or other charter documents in any manner that adversely affects any rights of the Holders, (c) increase the number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock, or (d)
enter into any agreement with respect to any of the foregoing.
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Section 5.     Liquidation. Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation (“Liquidation”), the Holders of the Preferred Stock shall be entitled to
receive out of the assets of the Corporation, whether such assets are capital or surplus, for each share of Preferred Stock an amount equal to the Stated Value per share plus any
accrued and unpaid dividends thereon before any distribution or payment shall be made to the holders of any Common Stock or hereinafter issued preferred stock.  Upon any
Liquidation, and after full payment as provided in this Section, the remaining assets of the Corporation shall be available to be distributed to all holders of the Common Stock and
other preferred stock of the Corporation.

Section 6.     Conversion.

a) Conversions at Option of Holder. Subject to the provisions of this Section 6, each share of Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at any time and from time to time from
and after the Effective Date, at the option of the Holder thereof.  Holders shall effect conversions by providing the Corporation with the form of conversion notice attached hereto
as Annex A (a “Notice of Conversion”). Each Notice of Conversion shall specify the number of shares of Preferred Stock to be converted, the number of shares of Preferred
Stock owned prior to the conversion at issue, the number of shares of Preferred Stock owned subsequent to the conversion at issue and the date on which such conversion is to be
effected, which date may not be prior to the date the applicable Holder delivers by facsimile such Notice of Conversion to the Corporation (such date, the “Conversion Date”). If
no Conversion Date is specified in a Notice of Conversion, the Conversion Date shall be the date that such Notice of Conversion to the Corporation is deemed delivered hereunder.
The calculations and entries set forth in the Notice of Conversion shall control in the absence of manifest or mathematical error.  To effect conversions of shares of Preferred Stock,
a Holder shall not be required to surrender the certificate(s) representing such shares of Preferred Stock to the Corporation unless all of the shares of Preferred Stock represented
thereby are so converted, in which case such Holder shall deliver the certificate representing such shares of Preferred Stock promptly following the Conversion Date at
issue.  Shares of Preferred Stock converted into Common Stock or redeemed in accordance with the terms hereof shall be canceled and shall not be reissued.
 

b) Conversion Ratio.  The conversion ratio for the Preferred Stock shall be 2,500 shares of Common Stock for 1 share of Preferred Stock (the “Conversion Ratio”).

c) Beneficial Ownership Limitation. The Corporation shall not effect any conversion of the Preferred Stock, and a Holder shall not have the right to convert any portion of
the Preferred Stock, to the extent that, after giving effect to the conversion set forth on the applicable Notice of Conversion, such Holder (together with such Holder’s affilitates,
and any other person or entity acting as a group together with such Holder or any of such Holder’s affilitates) would beneficially own in excess of the Beneficial Ownership
Limitation (as defined below).  For purposes of the foregoing sentence, the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by such Holder and its affilitates shall include
the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Stock with respect to which such determination is being made, but shall exclude the number of
shares of Common Stock which are issuable upon (A) conversion of the remaining, unconverted Preferred Stock beneficially owned by such Holder or any of its affilitates, and (B)
exercise or conversion of the unexercised or unconverted portion of any other securities of the Corporation  subject to a limitation on conversion or exercise analogous to the
limitation contained herein (including any warrants) beneficially owned by such Holder or any of its affilitates.  Except as set forth in the preceding sentence, for purposes of this
Section 6(c), beneficial ownership shall be calculated in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder.  To the extent that the limitation contained in this Section 6(c) applies, the determination of whether the Preferred Stock is convertible (in relation to other
securities owned by such Holder together with any affilitates) and of how many shares of Preferred Stock are convertible shall be in the sole discretion of such Holder, and the
submission of a Notice of Conversion shall be deemed to be such Holder’s determination of whether the shares of Preferred Stock may be converted (in relation to other securities
owned by such Holder together with any affilitates) and how many shares of the Preferred Stock are convertible, in each case subject to the Beneficial Ownership Limitation. To
ensure compliance with this restriction, each Holder will be deemed to represent to the Corporation each time it delivers a Notice of Conversion that such Notice of Conversion has
not violated the restrictions set forth in this paragraph and the Corporation shall have no obligation to verify or confirm the accuracy of such determination.  In addition, a
determination as to any group status as contemplated above shall be determined in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  For purposes of this Section 6(c), in determining the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock, a Holder may rely on the
number of outstanding shares of Common Stock as stated in the most recent of the following: (A) the Corporation’s most recent periodic or annual filing with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, as the case may be, (B) a more recent public announcement by the Corporation or (C) a more recent notice by the Corporation or the Corporation’s transfer
agent setting forth the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding.  Upon the written or oral request of a Holder, the Corporation shall within two Trading Days confirm orally
and in writing to such Holder the number of shares of Common Stock then outstanding.  In any case, the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be determined after
giving effect to the conversion or exercise of securities of the Corporation, including the Preferred Stock, by such Holder or its affilitates since the date as of which such number of
outstanding shares of Common Stock was reported.  A Holder, upon not less than 61 days’ prior notice to the Company, may increase or decrease the Beneficial Ownership
Limitation applicable to its Preferred Stock.  Any such increase or decrease will not be effective until the 61 st day after such notice is delivered to the Company and shall only
apply to such Holder and no other Holder.    The provisions of this paragraph shall be construed and implemented in a manner otherwise than in strict conformity with the terms of
this Section 6(c) to correct this paragraph (or any portion hereof) which may be defective or inconsistent with the intended Beneficial Ownership Limitation herein contained or to
make changes or supplements necessary or desirable to properly give effect to such limitation. The limitations contained in this paragraph shall apply to a successor holder of
Preferred Stock.
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d) Mechanics of Conversion

i. Delivery of Certificate Upon Conversion. Not later than three Trading Days after each Conversion Date (the “Share Delivery Date”), the Corporation shall
deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the converting Holder a certificate or certificates which, on or after the Effective Date, shall contain appropriate restrictive legends and trading
restrictions representing the number of Conversion Shares being acquired upon the conversion of shares of Preferred Stock,. On or after the Effective Date, the Corporation shall,
upon request of such Holder, use its best efforts to deliver any certificate or certificates required to be delivered by the Corporation under this Section 6 electronically through the
Depository Trust Company or another established clearing corporation performing similar functions. If in the case of any Notice of Conversion such certificate or certificates are
not delivered to or as directed by the applicable Holder by the third Trading Day after the Conversion Date, the applicable Holder shall be entitled to elect to rescind such
Conversion Notice by written notice to the Corporation at any time on or before its receipt of such certificate or certificates, in which event the Corporation shall promptly return to
such Holder any original Preferred Stock certificate delivered to the Corporation and such Holder shall promptly return to the Corporation any Common Stock certificates
representing the shares of Preferred Stock unsuccessfully tendered for conversion to the Corporation.

ii. Reservation of Shares Issuable Upon Conversion. The Corporation covenants that it will at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized and
unissued shares of Common Stock for the sole purpose of issuance upon conversion of the Preferred Stock and payment of dividends on the Preferred Stock, each as herein
provided, free from preemptive rights or any other actual contingent purchase rights of Persons other than the Holders of the Preferred Stock, not less than such aggregate number
of shares of the Common Stock as shall be issuable (taking into account the adjustments of Section 7) upon the conversion of all outstanding shares of Preferred Stock.  The
Corporation covenants that all shares of Common Stock that shall be so issuable shall, upon issue, be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

 
iii. Fractional Shares. No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon the conversion of the Preferred Stock.   As to any fraction

of a share which a Holder would otherwise be entitled to purchase upon such conversion, the Corporation shall at its election, either pay a cash adjustment in respect of such final
fraction in an amount equal to such fraction multiplied by the Conversion Ratio or round up to the next whole share.

iv. Transfer Taxes.  The issuance of certificates for shares of the Common Stock on conversion of this Preferred Stock shall be made without charge to any
Holder for any documentary stamp or similar taxes that may be payable in respect of the issue or delivery of such certificates, provided that the Corporation shall not be required to
pay any tax that may be payable in respect of any transfer involved in the issuance and delivery of any such certificate upon conversion in a name other than that of the Holders of
such shares of Preferred Stock and the Corporation shall not be required to issue or deliver such certificates unless or until the Person or Persons requesting the issuance thereof
shall have paid to the Corporation the amount of such tax or shall have established to the satisfaction of the Corporation that such tax has been paid.
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Section 7.     Certain Adjustments.

a) Stock Dividends and Stock Splits.  If the Corporation, at any time while this Preferred Stock is outstanding: (A) pays a stock dividend or otherwise makes a distribution
or distributions payable in shares of Common Stock on shares of Common Stock or any other Common Stock Equivalents (which, for avoidance of doubt, shall not include any
shares of Common Stock issued by the Corporation upon conversion of, or payment of a dividend on, this Preferred Stock); (B) subdivides outstanding shares of Common Stock
into a larger number of shares; (C) combines (including by way of a reverse stock split) outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares; or (D) issues, in the
event of a reclassification of shares of the Common Stock, any shares of capital stock of the Corporation, then the Conversion Ratio shall be multiplied by a fraction of which the
numerator shall be the number of shares of Common Stock (excluding any treasury shares of the Corporation) outstanding immediately before such event and of which the
denominator shall be the number of shares of Common Stock, or in the event that clause (D) of this Section 7(a) shall apply shares of reclassified capital stock, outstanding
immediately after such event.  Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 7(a) shall become effective immediately after the record date for the determination of stockholders
entitled to receive such dividend or distribution and shall become effective immediately after the effective date in the case of a subdivision, combination or re-classification.

 
b) Fundamental Transaction. If, at any time while this Preferred Stock is outstanding, (A) the Corporation effects any merger or consolidation of the Corporation with or

into another Person, (B) the Corporation effects any sale of all or substantially all of its assets in one transaction or a series of related transactions, (C) any tender offer or exchange
offer (whether by the Corporation or another Person) is completed pursuant to which holders of Common Stock are permitted to tender or exchange their shares for other securities,
cash or property, or (D) the Corporation effects any reclassification of the Common Stock or any compulsory share exchange pursuant to which the Common Stock is effectively
converted into or exchanged for other securities, cash or property (in any such case, a “Fundamental Transaction”), then, upon any subsequent conversion of this Preferred Stock,
the Holders shall have the right to receive, for each Conversion Share that would have been issuable upon such conversion immediately prior to the occurrence of such
Fundamental Transaction, the same kind and amount of securities, cash or property as it would have been entitled to receive upon the occurrence of such Fundamental Transaction
if it had been, immediately prior to such Fundamental Transaction, the holder of one share of Common Stock (the “Alternate Consideration”).  For purposes of any such
conversion, the determination of the Conversion Ratio shall be appropriately adjusted to apply to such Alternate Consideration based on the amount of Alternate Consideration
issuable in respect of one share of Common Stock in such Fundamental Transaction, and the Corporation shall adjust the Conversion Ratio in a reasonable manner reflecting the
relative value of any different components of the Alternate Consideration.  If holders of Common Stock are given any choice as to the securities, cash or property to be received in
a Fundamental Transaction, then the Holders shall be given the same choice as to the Alternate Consideration it receives upon any conversion of this Preferred Stock following
such Fundamental Transaction.  To the extent necessary to effectuate the foregoing provisions, any successor to the Corporation or surviving entity in such Fundamental
Transaction shall file a new Certificate of Designation with the same terms and conditions and issue to the Holders new preferred stock consistent with the foregoing provisions and
evidencing the Holders’ right to convert such preferred stock into Alternate Consideration. The terms of any agreement pursuant to which a Fundamental Transaction is effected
shall include terms requiring any such successor or surviving entity to comply with the provisions of this Section 7(b) and insuring that this Preferred Stock (or any such
replacement security) will be similarly adjusted upon any subsequent transaction analogous to a Fundamental Transaction.

c) Calculations.  All calculations under this Section 7 shall be made to the nearest cent or the nearest 1/100th of a share, as the case may be.  For purposes of this Section
7, the number of shares of Common Stock deemed to be issued and outstanding as of a given date shall be the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock (excluding any
treasury shares of the Corporation) issued and outstanding.
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d) Notice to the Holders.

i. Adjustment to Conversion Ratio.  Whenever the Conversion Ratio is adjusted pursuant to any provision of this Section 7, the Corporation shall promptly
deliver to each Holder a notice setting forth the Conversion Ratio after such adjustment and setting forth a brief statement of the facts requiring such adjustment.

 
ii. Notice to Allow Conversion by Holder.  If (A) the Corporation shall declare a dividend (or any other distribution in whatever form) on the Common Stock,

(B) the Corporation shall declare a special nonrecurring cash dividend on or a redemption of the Common Stock, (C) the Corporation shall authorize the granting to all holders of
the Common Stock of rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any rights, (D) the approval of any stockholders of the
Corporation shall be required in connection with any reclassification of the Common Stock, any consolidation or merger to which the Corporation is a party, any sale or transfer of
all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, of any compulsory share exchange whereby the Common Stock is converted into other securities, cash or property or (E) the
Corporation shall authorize the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, then, in each case, the Corporation shall cause to be
filed at each office or agency maintained for the purpose of conversion of this Preferred Stock, and shall cause to be delivered to each Holder at its last address as it shall appear
upon the stock books of the Corporation, at least 20 calendar days prior to the applicable record or effective date hereinafter specified, a notice stating (x) the date on which a
record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution, redemption, rights or warrants, or if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of the Common
Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distributions, redemption, rights or warrants are to be determined or (y) the date on which such reclassification, consolidation,
merger, sale, transfer or share exchange is expected to become effective or close, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of the Common Stock of record shall be
entitled to exchange their shares of the Common Stock for securities, cash or other property deliverable upon such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share
exchange, provided that the failure to deliver such notice or any defect therein or in the delivery thereof shall not affect the validity of the corporate action required to be specified
in such notice.  The Holder is entitled to convert this Preferred Stock (or any part hereof) during the 20-day period commencing on the date of such notice through the effective
date of the event triggering such notice.

Section .     Miscellaneous.
 

a) Notices.  Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries to be provided by the Holders hereunder including, without limitation, any Notice of
Conversion, shall be in writing and delivered personally, by facsimile, or sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier service, addressed to the Corporation, at the address set
forth above, Attention: Chief Financial Officer or address as the Corporation may specify for such purposes by notice to the Holders delivered in accordance with this
Section.  Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries to be provided by the Corporation hereunder shall be in writing and delivered personally or sent by a nationally
recognized overnight courier service addressed to each Holder at the address of such Holder appearing on the books of the Corporation, or if no such address appears on the books
of the Corporation, at the principal place of business of the Holders.  Any notice or other communication or deliveries hereunder shall be deemed given and effective on the earliest
of the Business Day following the date of mailing, if sent by nationally recognized overnight courier service, or upon actual receipt by the party to whom such notice is required to
be given.

b ) Absolute Obligation. Except as expressly provided herein, no provision of this Certificate of Designation shall alter or impair the obligation of the
Corporation, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay liquidated damages, accrued dividends and accrued interest, as applicable, on the shares of Preferred Stock at the time,
place, and rate, and in the coin or currency, herein prescribed.
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c) Lost or Mutilated Preferred Stock Certificate.  If a Holder’s Preferred Stock certificate shall be mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Corporation shall
execute and deliver, in exchange and substitution for and upon cancellation of a mutilated certificate, or in lieu of or in substitution for a lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, a new
certificate for the shares of Preferred Stock so mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, but only upon receipt of evidence of such loss, theft or destruction of such certificate, and of the
ownership hereof reasonably satisfactory to the Corporation.

d) Governing Law.  All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Certificate of Designation shall be governed by
and construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the principles of conflict of laws thereof.  Each party agrees that all
legal proceedings concerning the interpretation, enforcement and defense of the transactions contemplated by any of the Transaction Documents (whether brought against a party
hereto or its respective affilitates, directors, officers, shareholders, employees or agents) shall be commenced in the state and federal courts sitting in the City of New York,
Borough of Manhattan (the “New York Courts”).  Each party hereto hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the New York Courts for the adjudication of any
dispute hereunder or in connection herewith or with any transaction contemplated hereby or discussed herein (including with respect to the enforcement of any of the Transaction
Documents), and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of such New
York Courts, or such New York Courts are improper or inconvenient venue for such proceeding.  Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process and consents to
process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof via registered or certified mail or overnight delivery (with evidence of delivery) to such party
at the address in effect for notices to it under this Certificate of Designation and agrees that such service shall constitute good and sufficient service of process and notice
thereof.  Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in any other manner permitted by applicable law. Each party hereto hereby
irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all right to trial by jury in any legal proceeding arising out of or relating to this Certificate of
Designation or the transactions contemplated hereby. If either party shall commence an action or proceeding to enforce any provisions of this Certificate of Designation, then the
prevailing party in such action or proceeding shall be reimbursed by the other party for its attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses incurred in the investigation, preparation
and prosecution of such action or proceeding.
 

e) Waiver.  Any waiver by the Corporation or a Holder of a breach of any provision of this Certificate of Designation shall not operate as or be construed to be a
waiver of any other breach of such provision or of any breach of any other provision of this Certificate of Designation or a waiver by any other Holders.  The failure of the
Corporation or a Holder to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this Certificate of Designation on one or more occasions shall not be considered a waiver or deprive that
party (or any other Holder) of the right thereafter to insist upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Certificate of Designation.  Any waiver by the Corporation or
a Holder must be in writing.

f) Severability.  If any provision of this Certificate of Designation is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the balance of this Certificate of Designation shall remain
in effect, and if any provision is inapplicable to any Person or circumstance, it shall nevertheless remain applicable to all other Persons and circumstances.  If it shall be found that
any interest or other amount deemed interest due hereunder violates the applicable law governing usury, the applicable rate of interest due hereunder shall automatically be lowered
to equal the maximum rate of interest permitted under applicable law.

g) Status of Converted Preferred Stock.  If any shares of Preferred Stock shall be converted or reacquired by the Corporation, such shares shall resume the status
of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock and shall no longer be designated as Preferred Stock.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate of Designation this 7th day of December 2010 (the “Effective Date”).

 /s/ Nicholas Toms  
Name: Nicholas Toms
 Title:  Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer
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Exhibit 10.13

 
 

COMAMTECH INC.
2010 STOCK OPTION PLAN

Article I - Purpose of Plan

1.1 The purpose of the Plan is to provide Executives, Employees and Consultants, where permitted under applicable legislation, of the Corporation and its Subsidiaries
compensation opportunities that will encourage share ownership and enhance the Corporation’s ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel and reward
significant performance achievements.  This Plan replaces all previous stock option plans of the Corporation and its Subsidiaries.

Article II - Defined Terms

Where used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

2.1 “Board” means the board of directors of the Corporation or, where the context permits, any committee of such board of directors to which such board of directors may
from time to time delegate its powers or responsibilities hereunder;

2.2 “Business Day” means any day, other than a Saturday or a Sunday, on which the Nasdaq Stock Market is open for trading;

2.3 “Consultant” means an individual, or a company or partnership in which the individual is an employee, shareholder or partner, as the case may be, other than an
Employee or an Executive of the Corporation or a Subsidiary, that:

 (1) is engaged to provide, on a bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Corporation or a Subsidiary under a written contract
between the Corporation or the Subsidiary and the individual or the consultant company or consultant partnership of the individual; and

 (2) in the reasonable opinion of the Corporation, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Corporation or a
Subsidiary;

2.4 “Corporation” means Comamtech Inc. and includes any successor corporation thereto;

2.5 “Eligible Person” means any Executive, Employee or Consultant who performs services for the Corporation and/or a Subsidiary on an ongoing basis or who has
provided or is expected to provide a service of value to the Corporation or a Subsidiary;

2.6 “Employee” means a full or part-time employee of the Corporation or a Subsidiary, other than an Executive, and includes, where the context permits, a trustee,
custodian or administrator acting on behalf or for the benefit of employees of the Corporation or a Subsidiary;

2.7 “Executive” means any officer or director of the Corporation or a Subsidiary;
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2.8 “Market Price” at any date in respect of Shares shall be the closing quoted price of such Shares on the Nasdaq Stock Market on the last Business Day preceding the date

on which the Option is approved or if the Shares are listed for trading on any other stock exchange, the closing trading price of the Shares on such exchange on the last
Business Day preceding the date on which the Option is approved.  In the event that such Shares did not trade on such Business Day, the Market Price shall be the
average of the bid and ask prices in respect of such shares at the close of trading on such date.  In the event that such Shares are not listed and posted for trading on any
stock exchange, the Market Price in respect thereof shall be the fair market value of such Shares as determined by the Board in its sole discretion;

2.9 “Option” means an option to purchase Shares granted under the Plan;

2.10 “Option Price” means the price per share at which Shares may be purchased under the Option, as the same may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with Article
VIII hereof;

2.11 “Optionee” means a person to whom an Option has been granted;

2.12 “Plan” means this 2010 Stock Option Plan of the Corporation as embodied herein, as the same may be amended or varied from time to time;

2.13 “Permanently Disabled” or “Permanent Disability” means the inability of an Optionee to substantially perform the duties of his or her employment as a result of illness,
accident, physical or mental disability or any other cause, either for a period of six consecutive months or for any 180 days in any 365 day period;

2.14 “Shares” means the common shares of the Corporation, or, in the event of an adjustment contemplated by Article VIII hereof, such other shares or securities to which an
Optionee may be entitled upon the exercise of an Option as a result of such adjustment; and

2.15 “Subsidiary” means any body corporate which is a subsidiary (as such term is interpreted in the Business Corporations Act (Ontario)).

Article III - Administration of the Plan

3.1 The Plan shall be administered by the Board.

3.2 The Board shall have the power, where consistent with the general purpose and intent of the Plan and subject to the specific provisions of the Plan and to applicable
securities and stock exchange regulatory requirements:

(a) to establish policies and to adopt rules and regulations for carrying out the purposes, provisions and administration of the Plan;

(b) to interpret and construe the Plan and to determine all questions arising out of the Plan and any Option granted pursuant to the Plan, and any such interpretation,
construction, or determination made by the Board shall be final, binding and conclusive for all purposes;

(c) to determine to which Eligible Persons Options are granted and to grant Options;

(d) to determine the number of Shares purchasable under each Option;

(e) to determine and fix the Option Price, which under no circumstances shall be less than the Market Price of the Shares at the date of the grant of such Options;

(f)  to determine the time or times when and the manner in which Options will be granted and exercisable;
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(g) to determine if the Shares which are subject to an Option will be subject to any restrictions upon the exercise of such Option;

(h) to grant in its discretion to the holder of an outstanding Option, in exchange for the surrender and cancellation of such Option, a new Option having an Option Price
lower than the Option Price of the surrendered and cancelled Option and containing other terms and conditions as the Board may prescribe; and

(i) to prescribe the form of the instruments relating to the grant, exercise and other terms of Options.

3.3           For greater clarity, the Board shall have the power to:

(a) grant such Options to Eligible Persons which shall not become fully vested or exercisable until the happening of an event, the attainment of an objective or the
satisfaction of certain other conditions determined by the Board at the time of the grant of such Options to the Eligible Persons;

(b) with respect to the hiring of Executives, authorize the Corporation to grant Options to such Executives as at the date of the acceptance of any offer of employment by
such Executives, subject to approval by the Board; and

(c) grant Options to a class of persons to be allocated to members of such class who are Eligible Persons from time to time as may be determined by the Board.

3.4 The Board shall have the power to delegate to a committee of the Board the power to determine to which Eligible Persons Options are to be granted and to grant such
Options, the number of Shares purchasable under each Option, the Option Price and the time or times when and the manner in which Options are exercisable, and such
committee shall make such determinations in accordance with the provisions of this Plan and with applicable securities and stock exchange regulatory requirements,
subject to final approval by the Board.

 
Article IV -  Shares Available under the Plan

4.1 Options may be granted in respect of authorized and unissued Shares provided that the aggregate number of Shares reserved for issuance under this Plan, subject to
adjustment or increase of such number pursuant to the provisions of Article IX hereof, together with any Shares reserved for issuance under any options or warrants for
services or employee stock purchase or stock option plans or any other plans, shall not exceed 1,000,000 Shares.  Shares in respect of which Options are not exercised
shall be available for subsequent Options under the Plan.  No fractional shares may be purchased or issued under the Plan.

Article V -  Eligibility, Grant and Terms of Options

5.1 In no event may the term of an Option exceed ten years from the date of the grant of the Option.

5.2 The total number of Shares reserved for issuance under Options granted to Optionees under this Plan during a financial year of the Corporation shall not exceed more
than 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares at the date of the grant or proposed grant of the Option.

5.4 The total number of Shares reserved for issuance to any one Optionee under this Plan together with any Shares reserved for issuance under options or warrants for
services and employee stock purchase plans or any other share compensation arrangements or incentive plan to such Optionee shall not exceed 5% of the issued and
outstanding Shares at the date of the grant of the Option.

5.5 An Option is personal to the Optionee and may not be assigned or transferred.  The Option may only be exercised by the Optionee, provided that where the Optionee is
an individual, then during the lifetime of such Optionee, the Option may be exercised only by him or her, his or her legal representatives or a nominee which is a
corporation wholly-owned by the Optionee.

5.6 Each Option shall be evidenced by a written agreement between the Corporation and the Optionee containing terms and conditions established with respect to such
Option and shall be consistent with the provisions of the Plan.
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Article VI - Termination of Employment, Death or Retirement

6.1 In the event that an Optionee shall cease or is deemed to cease to be employed or retained by the Corporation or any Subsidiary for any reason (other than for reason of
cause, death, retirement or circumstances equating retirement as determined by the Board) or shall receive notice from the Corporation or any Subsidiary of the
termination of such employment or engagement (the “Termination”) such Optionee may, but only within thirty days next succeeding such Termination or within such
other period as the Board in its sole discretion may determine exercise such Optionee’s Options to the  extent that such Optionee was entitled to exercise such Options at
the date of such Termination.  All Options and all rights to purchase such Optionee Shares pursuant thereto shall expire and terminate immediately on the thirtieth day
following such Termination or on such other date as the Board may in its sole discretion determine.

6.2 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if such Optionee is terminated for cause, all Options and all rights to purchase Shares pursuant thereto shall expire and
terminate immediately upon notification being given to such Optionee of such termination for cause.

6.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if any Optionee shall become Permanently Disabled or such Optionee’s legal personal representatives may at any time
within one year of the declaration of Permanent Disability or on such other date as the Board may in its sole discretion determine exercise such Optionee’s Options to
the extent that such Optionee was entitled to exercise such Options at the date of such declaration (but in no event later than the normal expiry date of said Option).  All
options and all rights to purchase Shares pursuant thereto shall expire and terminate immediately on that day which is one year from the declaration of Permanent
Disability or on such other date as the Board may in its sole discretion determine.

6.4 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if any Optionee shall die holding Options which have not been fully exercised or surrendered, such Optionee’s
executors, administrators or legal personal representatives may, at any time within three months after the date of such death or on such other date as the Board may in its
sole discretion determine (but in no event later than the normal expiry date of the said Options), exercise the Options, to the extent that the Optionee was entitled to
exercise such Options at the date of death.

6.5 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if any Optionee shall retire, or terminate such Optionee’s employment or office with the consent of the Board under
circumstances equating retirement, while holding Options which have not been fully exercised or surrendered, such Optionee may exercise the Options to the extent that
the Optionee was entitled to exercise such Options at the date of retirement within thirty days after the date of such retirement or within such other period as the Board in
its sole discretion may determine (but in no event later than the normal expiry date of such  Options).

6.6 Options shall not be affected by any change of employment of such Optionee or by such Optionee ceasing to be a director or officer of the Corporation or a Subsidiary,
except as the Board in its sole discretion may determine.
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Article VII - Exercise of Options

7.1 Subject to the provisions of the Plan, an Option may be exercised from time to time by delivery to the Corporation at its registered office of a written notice of exercise
addressed to the Secretary of the Corporation specifying the number of Shares with respect to which the Option is being exercised and accompanied by payment in full
by certified cheque of the Option Price of the Shares to be purchased or on delivery against payment in full to a financial institution acceptable to the
Corporation.  Certificates for such Shares shall be issued and delivered to such Optionee within a reasonable time following the receipt of such notice and payment.

7.2 Notwithstanding any of the provisions contained in the Plan or in any Option, the Corporation’s obligation to issue Shares to an Optionee pursuant to the exercise of an
Option shall be subject to:

(a) completion of such registration or other qualification of such Shares or obtaining approval of such governmental or other regulatory authority as the Corporation shall
determine to be necessary or advisable in connection with the authorization, issuance or sale thereof;

(b) the admission of such Shares to listing or quoting on any stock exchange on which the Shares may be then listed or quoted; and

(c) the receipt from the Optionee of such representations, agreements and undertakings, including an undertaking with respect to future dealings in such Shares, as the
Corporation or its counsel determines to be necessary or advisable in order to safeguard against the violation of the securities laws of any jurisdiction.

In this connection, the Corporation shall, to the extent necessary, take all reasonable steps to obtain such approvals, registrations and qualifications as may be necessary for the
issuance of such Shares in compliance with applicable securities laws and for the listing or quoting of such Shares on any stock exchange on which the Shares are then listed or
quoted.

Article VIII - Adjustments

8.1           Appropriate adjustments in the number of Shares subject to the Plan and, as regards to Options granted or to be granted, in the number of Shares optioned and in the
Option Price, shall be made by the Board to give effect to adjustments in the number of Shares resulting from any subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of the Shares of the
Corporation, the payment of stock dividends by the Corporation (other than dividends in the ordinary course) or other relevant changes in the capital of the Corporation.

Article IX - Mergers

9.1           Should the Corporation amalgamate or merge with any other body corporate or bodies corporate (the right to do so being hereby expressly reserved) whether by way of
amalgamation, arrangement, sale of assets and undertakings or otherwise, then the Corporation shall, as determined by the Board, either: (i) provide for the reservation and issuance
by the continuing or resulting corporation, upon the exercise by the Optionees of outstanding Options, of that number of shares of the continuing or resulting corporation to which
the outstanding Options relate at the same aggregate purchase price adjusted accordingly to reflect the increase or decrease in the number of Shares involved; or (ii) pay to the
Optionees an amount equal to the difference between the fair market value of the Shares subject to the Options, on the date that the Corporation amalgamates or merges with
another body corporate or bodies corporate as contemplated herein, and the exercise price of the Options.  For the purpose of this Section, the "fair market value" of the Shares is an
amount equal to the weighted average price per share at which the Shares have traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market during the most recent five days on which the Shares are traded
before the amalgamation or merger contemplated herein becomes effective.  The weighted average price shall be determined by dividing the aggregate sale price of all such Shares
sold on the Nasdaq during the said five trading days by the total number of such Shares so sold.
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Article X - Cancellation and Re-grant of Options

10.1           Subject to the prior written approval of any relevant securities regulation, regulatory authority or stock exchange, the Board may, with the consent of the Optionee,
cancel an existing Option and regrant the Options at an Option Price determined in the same manner as provided in Article V above.

Article XI - Amendment or Discontinuance of Plan

11.1           Subject to applicable shareholder and/or regulatory approval, the Board may amend or discontinue the Plan at any time.

Article XII - Miscellaneous Provisions

12.1           The holder of an Option shall not have any rights as a shareholder of the Corporation with respect to any of the Shares covered by such Option until such holder shall
have exercised such Option in accordance with the terms of the Plan (including tendering payment in full of the Option Price of the Shares in respect of which the Option is being
exercised) and the Corporation shall issue such Shares to the Optionee in accordance with the terms of the Plan in those circumstances.

12.2           Nothing in the Plan or any Option shall confer upon any Employee Optionee any right to continue in the employ of the Corporation or any Subsidiary of the Corporation
or affect in any way the right of the Corporation or any such Subsidiary to terminate his or her employment at any time; nor shall anything in the Plan or any Option be deemed or
construed to constitute an agreement, or an expression of intent on the part of the Corporation or any Subsidiary to extend the employment of any Employee Optionee beyond the
time which he or she would normally be retired pursuant to the provisions of the present or future retirement plan of the Corporation or any Subsidiary or beyond the time at which
he or she would otherwise be retired pursuant to the provisions of any contract of employment with the Corporation or any Subsidiary.

12.3           Nothing in the Plan or any Option shall confer on any Optionee who is not an Employee Optionee any right to continue providing ongoing services to the Corporation
or any entity controlled by the Corporation or effect in any way the right of the Corporation or any such entity to terminate his, her or its contract at any time; nor shall anything in
the Plan or any Option be deemed or construed as a agreement or an expression of intent, on the part of the Corporation or any such entity to extend the time for the performance of
the ongoing services beyond the time specified in the contract with the Corporation or any such entity.

Article XIII - Shareholder and Regulatory Approval

13.1           The Plan shall be subject to any requisite approval of securities regulators and of the shareholders of the Corporation, such shareholder approval to be given by a
resolution passed at a meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation.  The Corporation shall not grant any Options pursuant to the Plan unless and until such approval and
acceptance is given. All Options granted and approved under the Corporation’s predecessor Stock Option Plan shall continue as an obligation of the Corporation and all Shares
reserved under the prior Options shall be included in the number set forth herein subject to their terms and conditions.

Article XIV - Interpretation

14.1           The Plan shall be construed according to the laws of Ontario, Canada.

Article XV - Liability

15.1           No member of the Board or any director, officer or employee of the Corporation or a Subsidiary shall be personally liable for any act taken or omitted in good faith in
connection with the Plan.

* * * * * * * *
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Exhibit 14
 

Code of Ethics

Statement of our Core Values

Our Reason for Being

DecisionPoint Systems, Inc., (“DecisionPoint”) exists to improve productivity and create OPERATIONAL ADVANTAGES for BUSINESS LEADERS by:

·  Moving decision points closer to the customer
·  Better aligning information with user needs.

It’s what we exist to do, not what we do to exist.

The Most Valuable Outcome We Deliver

The ability to make better, faster, and more accurate business decisions.

·  We put the right information in the hands of the people who need it at the moment they need it.
·  We make our client’s business run more smoothly and more profitably.
·  We minimize customer and staff frustration for their personnel.

Build Trust and Credibility

The success of our business is dependent on the trust and confidence we earn from our employees, customers and shareholders.  We gain credibility by adhering to our
commitments, displaying honesty and integrity and reaching company goals solely through honorable conduct.  It is easy to say what we must do, but the proof is in our
actions.  Ultimately, we will be judged on what we do.

When considering an action, it is wise to ask: will this build trust and credibility for DecisionPoint?  Will it help create a working environment in which DecisionPoint can succeed
over the long term?  Is the commitment I am making one I can follow through with?  The only way we will maximize trust and credibility is by answering “yes” to those questions
and by working every day to build our trust and credibility.

Respect for the Individual

We all deserve to work in an environment where we are treated with dignity and respect.  DecisionPoint is committed to creating such an environment because it brings out the full
potential in each of us, which, in turn, contributes directly to our business success.  We cannot afford to let anyone’s talent go to waste.

DecisionPoint is an equal employment/affirmative action employer and is committed to providing a workplace that is free of discrimination of all types of abusive, offensive, or
harassing behavior.  Any employee who feels harassed or discriminated against should report the incident to his or her manager or to human resources.
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Create a Culture of Open and Honest Communication

At DecisionPoint everyone should feel comfortable to speak his or her mind, particularly with respect to ethics concerns.  Managers have a responsibility to create an open and
supportive environment where employees feel comfortable raising such questions.  We all benefit tremendously when employees exercise their power to prevent mistakes or
wrongdoing by the right questions at the right times.

DecisionPoint will investigate all reported instances of questionable or unethical behavior.  In every instance where improper behavior is found to have occurred, the company will
take appropriate action.  We will not tolerate retaliation against employees who raise genuine ethics concerns in good faith.

For your information, DecisionPoint’s whistleblower policy is as follows:

Employees are encouraged, in the first instance, to address such issues with their managers or the HR managers, as most problems can be resolved swiftly.  If for any reason that is
not possible or if an employee is not comfortable raising the issue with his or her manager or HR, DecisionPoint’s Chief Financial Officer, Donald W. Rowley and all senior
managers do operate with an open-door policy.

We have a toll free number to call for registering any concerns is 877-453-6640.

Set Tone at the Top

Management has added responsibility for demonstrating, through their actions, the importance of this Code.  In any business, ethical behavior does not simply happen; it is the
product of clear and direct communication of behavioral expectations, modeled from the top and demonstrated by example.  Again, ultimately, our actions are what matters.

To make our Code work, managers must be responsible for promptly addressing ethical questions or concerns raised by employees and for taking the appropriate steps to deal with
such issues.  Managers should not consider employees’ ethics concerns as threats or challenges to their authority, but rather as another encouraged form of business
communication.  At DecisionPoint, we want the ethics dialogue to become a natural part of daily work.

Uphold the Law

DecisionPoint’s commitment to integrity begins with complying with laws, rules, and regulations where we do business.  Further, each of us must have an understanding of the
company policies, laws, rules and regulations that are specific to our roles.  If we are unsure of whether a contemplated action is permitted by law or DecisionPoint policy, we
should seek the advice from the resource expert.  We are responsible for preventing violations of law and speaking up if we see possible violations.  Because of the nature of
business, some legal requirements warrant specific mention here.
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Competition

We are dedicated to ethical, fair and vigorous competition.  We will sell DecisionPoint products and services based on their merit, superior quality, functionality and competitive
pricing.  We will make independent pricing and marketing decisions and will not improperly cooperate or coordinate our activities with our competitors.  We will not offer or
solicit improper payments or gratuities in connections with the purchase of goods or services for DecisionPoint or the sales of its products or services, nor will we engage or assist
in unlawful boycotts of particular customers.

Proprietary Information

It is important that we respect the property rights of others.  We will not acquire or seek to acquire by improper means of a competitor’s trade secrets or other proprietary or
confidential information.  We will not engage in unauthorized use, copying, distribution or alteration of software or other intellectual property.

Selective Disclosure

We will not selectively disclose (whether in one-on-one or small discussions, meeting, presentations, proposals or otherwise) any material nonpublic information with respect to
DecisionPoint, its securities, business operations, plans, financial condition, results of operations or any development plan.  We should be particularly vigilant when making
presentations or proposals to customers to ensure that our presentations do not contain material nonpublic information.

Avoid Conflicts of Interest

Conflicts of Interest

We must avoid a relationship or activity that might impair, or even appear to impair, our ability to make objective and fair decisions when performing our jobs.  At times, we may
be faced with situations where the business actions we take on behalf of DecisionPoint may conflict with our own personal or family interests because of action that is best for us
personally may not be the best course of action for DecisionPoint.  We owe a duty to DecisionPoint to advance its legitimate interests when the opportunity to do so arises.  We
must never use DecisionPoint property of information for personal gain or personally take for ourselves any opportunity that is discovered through our position with DecisionPoint.
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Here are some other ways in which conflicts of interest could arise

1. Being employed (you or a close family member) by, or acting as a consultant to, a competitor or potential competitor, supplier or contractor, regardless of the nature of the
employment, while you are employed with DecisionPoint

2. Hiring or supervising family members or closely related persons.

3. Serving as a board member for an outside commercial company or organization.

4. Owning or having a substantial interest in a competitor, supplier, or contractor.

5. Having a personal interest, financial interest or potential gain in any DecisionPoint transaction.

6. Placing company business with a firm owned or controlled by a DecisionPoint employee or his or her family.

7. Accepting gifts, discounts, favors or services from a customer/potential customer, competitor or supplier, unless equally available to all DecisionPoint employees.

Determining whether a conflict of interest exists is not always easy to do.  Employees with a conflict of interest question should seek advice from management.  Before engaging in
any activity, transaction or relationship that might give rise to a conflict of interest, employees must seek review from their managers or the HR department.

Gifts, Gratuities and Business Courtesies

DecisionPoint is committed to competing solely on merit of our products and services.  We should avoid any actions that create a perception that favorable treatment of outside
entities by DecisionPoint was sought, received or given in exchange for personal business courtesies.  Business courtesies include gifts, gratuities, meals, refreshments,
entertainment or other benefits from persons or companies with whom DecisionPoint does or may do business.  We will neither give nor accept business courtesies that constitute,
or could reasonably be perceived as constituting, unfair business inducements that would violate law, regulation or policies of DecisionPoint or customers, or would cause
embarrassment or reflect negatively on DecisionPoint’s reputation.

Most business courtesies offered to us in the course of our employment are offered because of our positions at DecisionPoint Systems. Inc.  We should not feel entitlement to
accept and keep a business courtesy.  Although we may not use our position at DecisionPoint to obtain business courtesies, and we must never ask for them, we may accept
unsolicited business courtesies that promote successful working relationships and goodwill with the firms that DecisionPoint maintains or may establish a business relationship
with.
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Employees who award contracts or who can influence the allocation of business, who create specifications that in the placement of business or who participate in negotiation of
contracts must be particularly careful to avoid actions that create the appearance of favoritism or that may adversely affect the company’s reputation for impartiality and fair
dealing.

Gifts

Employees may accept unsolicited gifts, other than money, that conform to the reasonable ethical practices of the marketplace.

Generally, employees may not accept compensation, honoraria or money of any amount form entities with whom DecisionPoint does or may do business.  Tangible gifts that have
a market value greater than $100 may not be accepted unless approval is obtained by management.

Employees with questions about accepting business courtesies should talk to their managers of the HR department.

Offering Business Courtesies

Any Employee who offers a business courtesy must assure that it cannot reasonably be interpreted as an attempt to gain an unfair business advantage or otherwise reflect
negatively upon DecisionPoint.  An employee may never use personal funds or resources to do something that cannot be done with DecisionPoint resources.  Accounting for
business courtesies must be done in accordance with approved company procedures.

Other than to our government customers, for whom special rules apply, we may provide nonmonetary gifts (i.e., company logo apparel or similar promotional items) to our
customers.  Further, management may approve other courtesies, including meals, refreshments or entertainment of reasonable value provided that:

·  The practice does not violate any law or regulation or the standards of conduct of the recipient’s organization.
·  The business courtesy is consistent with industry practice, is infrequent in nature and is not lavish.
·  The business courtesy is properly reflected on the books and records of DecisionPoint

Set Metrics and Report Results Accurately

Accurate Public Disclosures

We will make certain that all disclosures made in financial reports and public documents are full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable.  This obligation applies to all
employees, including all financial executives, with any responsibility for the preparation for such reports, including drafting, reviewing and signing or certifying the information
contained therein.  No business goal of any kind is ever an excuse for misrepresenting facts or falsifying records.
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Employees should inform Executive Management and the HR department if they learn that information in any filing or public communication was untrue or misleading at the time
it was made or if subsequent information would affect a similar future filing or public communication.

Corporate Recordkeeping

We create, retain and dispose of our company records as part of our normal course of business in compliance with all DecisionPoint policies and guidelines, as well as all
regulatory and legal requirements.

All corporate records must be true, accurate and complete, and company data must be promptly and accurately entered in our books in accordance with DecisionPoint’s and other
applicable accounting principles.

We must not improperly influence, manipulate or mislead any unauthorized audit, nor interfere with any auditor engaged to perform an internal independent audit of DecisionPoint
books, records, processes or internal controls.

Doing the Right Thing

At DecisionPoint, we must have the courage to tackle the tough decisions and make difficult choices; secure in the knowledge that DecisionPoint is committed to doing the right
thing.  At times this will mean doing more than simply what the law requires.  Merely because we can pursue a course of action does not mean we should do so.

Although DecisionPoint’s guiding principles cannot address every issue or provide answers to every dilemma, they can define the spirit in which we intend to do business and
should guide us in our daily conduct.

Several key questions can help identify situations that may be unethical, inappropriate or illegal.  Ask yourself:

·  Does what I am doing comply with the DecisionPoint guiding principles, Code of Conduct and company policies?
·  Have I been asked to misrepresent information or deviate from normal procedure?
·  Would I feel comfortable describing my decision at a staff meeting?
·  Am I being loyal to my family, my company and myself?
·  Is it the right thing to do?
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Accountability

Each of us is responsible for knowing and adhering to the values and standards set forth in the Code and for raising questions if we are uncertain about company policy.  If we are
concerned whether the standards are being met or are aware of violations of the Code, we must contact the HR department.

DecisionPoint takes seriously the standards set forth in the Code, and violations are cause for disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

Confidential and Proprietary Information

Integral to DecisionPoint’s business success is our protection of confidential company information, as well as nonpublic information entrusted to us by employees, customers and
other business partners.  Confidential and proprietary information includes such things as pricing and financial data, customer names/addresses or nonpublic information about
other companies, including current or potential supplier and vendors.  We will not disclose confidential and nonpublic information without a valid business purpose and proper
authorization.

Use of Company Resources

Company resources, including time, material, equipment and information, are provided for company business use.  Nonetheless, occasional personal use is permissible as long as it
does not affect job performances or cause a disruption to the workplace.

Employees and those who represent DecisionPoint are trusted to behave responsibly and use good judgment to conserve company resources.  Managers are responsible for the
resources assigned to their departments and are empowered to resolve issues concerning their proper use.

We will not use company equipment such as computers, copiers and fax machines in the conduct of an outside business or in support of any religious, political or other outside
daily activity, except for company-requested support to nonprofit organizations.  We will not solicit contributions nor distribute non-work related materials during work hours.

In order to protect the interests of the DecisionPoint network and our fellow employees, DecisionPoint reserves the right to monitor or review all data and information contained on
an employee’s company issued computer or electronic device, the use of the Internet.  We will not tolerate the use of company resources to create, access, store, print, solicit or
send any materials that are harassing, threatening, abusive, sexually explicit or otherwise offensive or inappropriate.

Questions about the proper use of company resources should be directed to your manager.
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Information and Resources

CEO
Nicholas R. Toms
973-489-1425

CFO
Donald W. Rowley
917-854-5417

VP Finance, Corporate Controller
Melinda Wohl
949-465-0065 ext.101

VP Finance, Compliance
Roy Ceccato
973-632-1361

Human Resources
Nancy Lee
949-465-0065 ext. 116
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Exhibit 21
 

Subsidiaries

DecisionPoint Systems International, Inc. (Delaware)
DecisionPoint Systems Group, Inc. (Delaware)
CMAC, Inc. (Georgia)
DecisionPoint Systems CA, Inc. (California)
DecisionPoint Systems CT, Inc. (Connecticut)



Exhibit 31.1
 

Certifications
 
I, Nicholas R. Toms, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: March 30, 2012
 
  
/s/ Nicholas R. Toms  
Nicholas R. Toms  
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Principal

Executive Officer
 



Exhibit 31.2
 

Certifications
 
I, Donald W. Rowley, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: March 30, 2012
 
  
/s/ Donald W. Rowley  
Donald W. Rowley  
Chief Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer and

Principal Financial Officer
 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2011, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Nicholas R. Toms, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

Date: March 30, 2012  
  

/s/ Nicholas R. Toms  
Nicholas R. Toms  
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed
form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. and will be retained by DecisionPoint
Systems, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

 



Exhibit 32.2
 

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
In connection with the Annual Report of DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2011, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Donald W. Rowley, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant
to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: March 30, 2012  
  
/s/ Donald W. Rowley  
Donald W. Rowley  
Chief Financial Officer  
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed
form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to DecisionPoint Systems, Inc. and will be retained by DecisionPoint
Systems, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

 


